# DecadeWatch

Roma Activists
Assess the Progress
of the Decade of
Roma Inclusion

2005-2006



# DecadeWatch

Roma Activists
Assess the Progress
of the Decade of
Roma Inclusion

2005-2006

Publication coordinated by Andy Haupert Reports edited by Mona Nicoara Copyediting and proofreading by Tom Popper Design and layout Judit Kovacs, Createch Ltd. Printed in Hungary by Createch Ltd. 2007

## Country Report Authors

#### **BULGARIA**

#### **Authors**

Toni Tashev (Regional Policy Development Centre)
<toni.tashev@yahoo.com>

Tano Bechev (Regional Policy Development Centre)
<tanobechev@yahoo.com>

#### **CROATIA**

#### **Authors**

Katarina Ivce (Forum for Freedom in Education) <a href="mailto:katarinaivce@yahoo.com">katarinaivce@yahoo.com</a> Eugen Vukovic (Forum for Freedom in Education) <a href="mailto:katarinaivce@yahoo.com">katarinaivce@yahoo.com</a>

#### Contributors

Kasum Cana Veljko Kajtazi

#### **CZECH REPUBLIC**

#### **Authors**

Gabriela Hrabanova (Athinganoi) <hrabanova@athinganoi.cz> Ivan Vesely (Dzeno Association) <vesely.ivan@wo.cz>

#### Contributors

Michal Miko

Laura Laubeova

Lucie Horvathova

#### **HUNGARY**

#### Author

Agnes Osztolykan (independent) <oszolykanagnes@gmail.com>

#### Contributor

Ana Orsos

#### **MACEDONIA**

#### **Authors**

Nadir Redzepi (Sonce) <khamnrp@mt.net.mk> Alexandra Bojadzieva (Sonce) <alexandraboja@mt.net.mk>

#### Contributors

Representatives of NGO members of the Roma 2002 Network

#### **MONTENEGRO**

#### Author

Sinisa Nadazdin (Philia Ministries) <nadazdin@cg.yu>

#### Contributors

Samir Jaha

Senad Sejdovic

#### **ROMANIA**

#### **Authors**

Costel Bercus (Roma Civic Alliance) <costel@romanicriss.org> Georgel Radulescu (Roma Civic Alliance) <george\_radulescu@yahoo.com>

#### Contributors

Representatives of NGO members of the Roma Civic Alliance

#### **SERBIA**

#### **Authors**

#### Contributors

Representatives of NGO members of the League for the Decade

#### **SLOVAKIA**

#### **Authors**

Andrea Buckova (New Roma Generation) <andrea.buckova@vlada.gov.sk>
Stefan Sarkozy (New Roma Generation) <stefansarkozy@chello.sk>
Peter Pollak (New Roma Generation) <peterpollak@azet.sk>
Zuzana Polackova (independent) <zuzana.polackova@vlada.gov.sk>
Vlado Rafael (independent) <vlado@osf.sk>
Marek Hojsik (independent) <nms@nadaciams.sk>
Stanislav Daniel (independent) <stanko.daniel@gmail.com>

#### Contributors

Lydia Bariova Eduard Conka Maria Sarkozyova

DecadeWatch is supported by the Open Society Institute and the World Bank.

## Contents

OVERVIEW	11
DecadeWatch—Background	13
The Decade of Roma Inclusion	13
DecadeWatch	13
Methodology and Process	14
DecadeWatch—A Progress Assessment for the Decade of	
Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 by Roma Activists	17
What Is DecadeWatch?	17
What Has Been Accomplished So Far?	18
Looking Ahead: The Decade Agenda for Governments for 2008–2009	19
Comparative Country Performance	21
Summary Findings by Priority Area	23
Country Summaries	30
Bulgaria	30
Croatia	32
Czech Republic	34
Hungary	36
Macedonia	38
Montenegro	40
Romania	42
Serbia	44
Slovakia	46
DecadeWatch Monitoring Framework	48

COUNTRY REPORTS	55
Bulgaria	57
Croatia	67
Czech Republic	77
Hungary	85
Macedonia	95
Montenegro	103
Romania	111
Serbia	119
Slovakia	127
SOURCES	135
General	137
Bulgaria	138
Croatia	140
Czech Republic	142
Hungary	144
Macedonia	146
Montenegro	147
Romania	148
Serbia	150
Slovakia	151

# Overview

### DecadeWatch—Background

#### The Decade of Roma Inclusion

In February 2005, heads of governments from Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Macedonia, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia and Slovakia launched the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 by signing the following declaration:

"Building on the momentum of the 2003 conference, 'Roma in an Expanding Europe: Challenges for the Future,' we pledge that our governments will work toward eliminating discrimination and closing the unacceptable gaps between Roma and the rest of society, as identified in our Decade Action Plans. We declare the years 2005–2015 to be the Decade of Roma Inclusion, and we commit to support the full participation and involvement of national Roma communities in achieving the Decade's objectives and to demonstrate progress by measuring outcomes and reviewing experiences in the implementation of the Decade's Action Plans. We invite other states to join our effort."

In addition, all countries drafted Decade Action Plans in the priority areas of education, employment, health and housing and created institutional arrangements for implementing the Decade commitments. The Decade promoted the participation of Roma civil society in drafting action plans and their implementation, including in monitoring implementation.

#### DecadeWatch

Building on the principle of Roma participation in the Decade, DecadeWatch is an initiative of a group of Roma activists and researchers to assess progress under the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 since its launch in February 2005. DecadeWatch is supported by the Open Society Institute and the World Bank. This support included training and mentoring the research teams, as well as developing the methodology for, providing editorial support to and printing this series of reports.

#### Methodology and Process

These reports were prepared by Roma activists from Roma civic alliances—Roma NGO networks—in most of the countries, while in the case of Croatia and Montenegro the reporting was conducted jointly by mainstream NGOs and Roma activists. The reporting period for this first round of DecadeWatch is 2005–2006, and the information presented is based on research conducted between autumn 2006 and early 2007. While the focus is on developments in 2005 and 2006, the analysis also often comprises measures and policies that had been introduced before the launch of the Decade and remain in place. The members of the DecadeWatch team also reflected their own experience, often spanning many years, in reviewing policies for Roma in their countries.

The research involved the review of documents—policies, legislation, and independent reports and surveys—as well as interviews with officials and civil society. The research followed a detailed questionnaire that collects information about critical inputs necessary to make the Decade a success:

- availability and quality of action plans with indicators and targets and associated tracking and reporting mechanisms;
- *institutional arrangements* for Decade implementation, including Roma participation; and
- government measures in the four priority areas of education, employment, health and housing, including on data availability and collection as well as the availability of EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation.

DecadeWatch is the result of a team effort and a process of intensive and frequent interaction. As a first step, the entire team came together for a briefing and methodology development workshop in September 2006. In the following months, each country team conducted its research and prepared a detailed background report to present its findings. All reports were then edited into shorter, approximately 10page country chapters following a standardized comparative structure. The shorter country chapters were shared with the governments' Decade coordination offices for comments and they reflect the feedback received from each government. The final report, including country chapters, the overall messages and the scoring of country performance, was discussed at an editorial team meeting in Budapest in April 2007. The overview chapter of this report summarizes that discussion and was prepared by a sub-group of the DecadeWatch team. The scoring included a review of every indicator and a joint comparison by the entire team of country performance across each indicator, based on the information from the country reports. Country teams were asked to propose a scoring, which was then subject to discussion by the entire team.

DecadeWatch aims to compare countries' performance across a host of indicators—to track progress and to identify the areas where each country can benefit from the experience of another. For this purpose, DecadeWatch has developed a scoring mechanism with scores between 0 and 4. The top score is 4, awarded to best practice performance, while 0 measures no government input. The intermediate scores differentiate between the various degrees of government involvement in putting Roma inclusion policies in place. It is worth noting that the score of 4 is not necessarily four times better than 1—but that 4 reflects the standard of what is achievable. The difference between 0 and 1—reflecting the difference between no action and some initial steps—is more relevant, in particular at the start of the Decade, than the difference between 3 and 4, which captures the difference between an advanced government program and an integrated, comprehensive policy.

Table 1: Defining DecadeWatch Scores

SCORE	SUMMARY DEFINITIONS
0	No action by the government
1	Sporadic measures, initial steps taken, but not regular and systematic action
2	Regular measures, but not systematic or amounting to a programmatic approach
3	Government program, advanced action, but not integrated policy
4	Integrated policy, setting the standard for government action and ownership

The DecadeWatch scores present a simple average across the indicators—without a weighting of individual indicators. Where countries had the same scores, they were ranked the same. Attaching different weights could result in minor changes to the overall ranking of countries, but would not change the country groupings as listed in the report. The detailed DecadeWatch scorecard methodology is presented at the end of the overview chapter.

DecadeWatch is a first contribution to measuring progress under the Decade, and the DecadeWatch team recognizes the limitations of its methodology. First, DecadeWatch deliberately only captures whether there are government measures in place. Owing to outcome data limitations—there is little, if any, disaggregated, nationally representative and regularly collected data on Roma in any country reviewed—it does not analyze whether these measures are having an effect yet. That said, DecadeWatch argues that measuring outcomes, e.g., in terms of increased enrolment and attendance rates for Roma children, after the first two years of Decade implementation may be premature, as many of the policies are expected to have a long- to medium-term, rather than a short-term, impact. Getting an assessment of whether measures are in place or not may be sufficient as a first stocktaking after two years, but for the longer term DecadeWatch argues strongly for the collection of disaggregated data on Roma to allow for outcome monitoring in the future.

A second limitation lies in the fact that the choice of indicators could be subject to debate. However, DecadeWatch has chosen a set of indicators that are deemed critical to the Decade's success in achieving its aims: DecadeWatch argues that success

in Decade implementation relies on the availability and quality of action plans, on the right institutional framework, on the policies put in place by governments in the four priority areas, and on how systematically these policies are designed and implemented.

Third, DecadeWatch recognizes that countries are different in their size, in the size of their Roma populations, and in their economic and policy-making capacities. By defining the score 4, DecadeWatch attempts to define the best achievable performance against which each country can measure its own action on any given indicator against best practices. Moreover, there are gaps in every country. By identifying such gaps in one country compared to another, DecadeWatch highlights the areas for further progress in any given country.

This is just the first step. The DecadeWatch team will work—together with governments and partner agencies and institutions of the Decade—to further develop this methodology and make a contribution to establishing mechanisms to measure the Decade's success. The Decade of Roma Inclusion, an unprecedented initiative to promote inclusion of Roma, deserves an effective monitoring mechanism.

# DecadeWatch—A Progress Assessment for the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 by Roma Activists

#### What Is DecadeWatch?

DecadeWatch is the first assessment of government action on implementing the commitments expressed under the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015. It is a contribution by Roma activists to making the Decade a success. Since the Decade aims at giving Roma a voice in the process of inclusion, this assessment has been conducted by coalitions of Roma NGOs and activists from all countries participating in the Decade. This first round of DecadeWatch reviews the period from the launch of the Decade in early 2005 until the end of 2006.

The first DecadeWatch report assesses government action, not the changed situation for Roma on the ground. Given the absence of consistent and systematic outcome indicators and data, this first exercise focuses only on inputs: What have governments done since the launch of the Decade? DecadeWatch summarizes a range of indicators measuring (i) the existence and quality of Decade Action Plans including the availability of data to report on progress, (ii) the institutional arrangements for Decade implementation, and whether measures have been put in place across the four Decade priority areas. This first round of DecadeWatch does not measure impacts and change in outcomes for the Roma. Systematic outcome monitoring, in particular monitoring comparable across countries, is currently impossible because of significant data gaps. Moreover, the Decade has just had two years of implementation, and it may be premature to assess outcomes.

DecadeWatch is a progress review of the Decade and a contribution by Roma activists to making the Decade a success...

...which assesses government inputs, not effectiveness of policies for Roma...

...identifies and maps good experience...

In identifying government action across all countries, DecadeWatch country reports aim to **identify good experience** and highlight achievements that countries can learn from. DecadeWatch also includes in its analysis government measures, programs and policies that were introduced before the Decade and continue to exist.

...and makes cross-country comparisons

DecadeWatch is an attempt to compare government action across countries and to provide a snapshot of whether and to what extent governments have acted on their Decade promise. It recognizes that countries differ in size—and also in the size of their Roma populations—and level of economic development, and therefore may require differences in scale of effort. However, it is important to get some measure of political will and proactivity as well as to identify good practice and gaps across countries and priority areas.

#### What Has Been Accomplished So Far?

The last two years have seen notable progress...

This assessment finds significant progress across all countries, though more in some than in others, and, within countries, more in some areas of action that in others:

- Overall, Decade Action Plans and relevant institutions are in place and activities
  have been initiated, to various degrees, in all countries. In particular, there are
  Decade coordination offices in all countries; these offices have built up important experience over the last two years.
- The Decade has become the *framework for discussing Roma inclusion both for the governments and for Roma civil society* in all participating countries, although Decade Action Plans have largely not been understood by governments as policy implementation tools.
- Since the launch of the Decade in February 2005, Romania and then Bulgaria
  have taken over the *Decade Presidency* from Hungary. Most countries have been
  consistently represented at the Decade's International Steering Committee
  meetings. With the exception of Montenegro and Serbia, all countries have
  contributed to the Decade Trust Fund, which finances joint technical assistance and capacity building in support of Decade implementation.
- The Decade process aims at *giving Roma a voice* in the countries' efforts at promoting inclusion, and Roma report that they are being heard more than before the launch of the Decade.

....often in the form of sporadic measures that have not yet developed into systemic Roma inclusion policies... However, despite some progress, the Decade has not reached the critical point that would guarantee success. Most governments think about Roma inclusion in terms of projects and sporadic measures but not in terms of programs or integrated policies. While Decade Action Plans have been adopted in most countries, they do not appear to inform government decision-making and policy planning as much as they could. The institutional home of Decade coordination in many countries is often insufficiently integrated with policy directorates in line ministries and lacks

real agenda-setting and implementation power and capacity. Lastly, governments increasingly mention the Decade in the context of their action on Roma inclusion, but could do more to use the Decade and the action plans as a vehicle to systematically report on progress.

So far, the perhaps biggest gap in Decade implementation has been the lack of data on Roma—covering education, employment, health and housing. Data collection is sparse, irregular and not nationally representative. Many countries collect data on the ethnicity of individuals enroled in programs or recipients of services, e.g., employment services. That allows tracking absolute numbers of individuals covered, but does not allow relating it to the entire population. It is, therefore, only of limited use. As a result of past survey work supported by international partners such as the World Bank, the Open Society Institute, UNDP and UNICEF, much more is known now about the exclusion of Roma across countries than a few years ago. However, what is lacking two years into the Decade is systematic and regular data collection to allow tracking of progress on Roma inclusion over time. Nationally representative surveys should deliver such information. Only the systematic and regular collection of disaggregated and nationally representative data will allow governments to report on the outcomes of their efforts under the Decade in 2015. The Czech government stands out among its peers for admitting current limitations and for committing to developing a monitoring and reporting framework by the end of 2007.

...and reporting on their impact Roma inclusion will only become possible if governments generate nationally representative disaggregated data on the situation of Roma

#### Looking Ahead: The Decade Agenda for Governments for 2008–2009

The lack of systematic data collection and the failure to identify a credible reporting system on outcomes under the Decade suggest the urgent need to set binding outcome targets for 2015. The DecadeWatch team will work with governments and partners to identify and propose a set of indicators and targets covering the priority areas under the Decade.

This progress assessment shows that, while certain government inputs are in place, the Decade agenda has not yet been consistently and systematically translated into actions on the ground. The connection between the Prime Ministers' commitment and the delivery responsibility of line central ministries and the local level needs to be strengthened. It is essential that the Decade be embedded in what local governments as well as local branches of line ministries do. While national governments carry the prime accountability for progress under the Decade, they need to involve municipalities in the Decade and decentralize to the local level their political commitment expressed in the Decade pledge. In most countries municipalities are the key education, health and employment service providers, and need to lead the outreach and communication with the Roma communities. Unless there is recognition of the special role and responsibility of municipalities in delivering the outcomes under the Decade, the process will fail.

Set targets for 2015...

...decentralize the Decade...

...adopt two-year operational plans...

This assessment finds that the Decade Action Plans in most countries remain underutilized as documents that inform policymaking and government action. Some countries, however, have developed short-term operational plans. In the interest of supporting concrete action, it is important that this practice be used across all Decade countries. Governments are thus advised to approve, as a next step, twoyear operational plans backed up with concrete financing and credible implementation commitment and capacity.

...strengthen the Decade coordination offices and build on their experience...

The Decade coordination offices in all countries have developed substantial experience in the last two years and have been the main beneficiaries of the international dimension of the Decade. Through International Steering Committee meetings and other Decade workshops and activities, they have built contacts across countries that have promoted the exchange of good practices. It is important that the experience of Decade coordination offices be utilized at the domestic level and in coordination with the line ministries.

...move from projects to policy change...

Government action too often is limited to sporadic measures, often financed or co-financed by international partners. Only the front-runners in the Decade have begun tackling the Decade challenge by developing programs or even integrated policies. It is important that all countries move away from a fragmented project approach to developing systematic policies. At the same time, governments need to do more to make their programs and policies effective tools for Roma inclusion. The success of such policies largely relates to the degree Roma themselves are involved in advising on their design and implementation, in particular where programs cater to the population at large and do not have specific Roma targeting. Governments also need to ensure that results under the Decade become visible for Roma and non-Roma populations to show that the process is real.

...make use of EU accession and integration...

The Decade is a pan-European initiative to foster the integration of the Roma—the largest minority in Europe—and *the* vehicle for a European solution to the challenge of Roma exclusion. Countries should place their Decade commitments into the process of European accession and integration and use available mechanisms. This relates first of all to the use of EU Structural and Pre-Accession Funds for Roma integration, but also implies the effective partnering with (other) EU Member States, the European Commission and other EU institutions in developing policies for Roma inclusion.

...and show political leadership

Being seen as promoting Roma inclusion often appears to be perceived by governments as a potential electoral liability. It is important that this attitude make way for bolder political leadership on inclusion and equal opportunities, and for innovative ways to change public opinion. Governments should present the Decade agenda as what it is—an investment in the national interest and into the future prosperity of society as a whole within a wider European and world economy. It is worth recognizing that in most Decade countries governments have changed since the launch, and some countries have been more successful than others in keeping the momentum. Yet the strength of the Decade is its long-term nature that lasts beyond individual government terms.

#### **Comparative Country Performance**

The comparative progress assessment reveals that, while there is progress across all countries, it is uneven, and no country performs consistently well across all indicators. This suggests that, despite the fact that some countries are ahead of others in their efforts to implement the Decade, there is room for all Decade countries to learn from one another.

The differences in performance as measured in this report relate mainly to the varying degrees of government ownership and government effort to move from sporadic measures, often co-financed by donors, to systematic policies backed up by budgetary resources. The DecadeWatch progress assessment finds that countries fall into five groups:

- Hungary is the most advanced country participating in the Decade. Its overall score is lowered only by the fact that by the end of 2006 it had not yet approved a long-term action plan for the Decade. However, Hungary is the most advanced on implementation progress across most of the priority areas.
- Following at a substantial distance from Hungary is the main group consisting of Bulgaria, Slovakia, the Czech Republic, Romania and Croatia. Their scores are very similar, and the five countries show mixed performances with examples of both systematic and limited government action across the priorities.
- Macedonia and Serbia lag slightly behind mainly because of their reliance on donor-financed measures as opposed to the governments' own leadership in implementing the Decade.
- 4. **Montenegro** remains in a pre-Decade stage of commitment and action.

Table 2: Comparative Performance

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE
1	Hungary	2.29
2	Bulgaria	1.84
3	Slovakia	1.82
4	Czech Republic	1.76
5	Romania	1.72
6	Croatia	1.70
7	Macedonia	1.37
8	Serbia	1.24
9	Montenegro	0.63

Note: Scores presented in this table are averaged across all indicators. Scores vary from 0 (lowest) to 4 (highest).

No country performs consistently well across all areas...

...and differences are explained by the degree to which governments have rolled out systematic policies The DecadeWatch methodology has limitations...

It is obvious that any assessment of progress based only on the review of whether governments have put measures in place has limitations, as by definition it does not capture whether these measures are having an effect. A further limitation lies in the fact that the choice of indicators can be subject to debate. However, DecadeWatch has chosen a set of indicators that are key to the Decade's success in achieving its aims.

...but is based on indicators that capture necessary inputs to make the Decade a success DecadeWatch argues that success in Decade implementation relies both on the right institutional framework and on the policies put in place by governments in the four priority areas. The ranking presented in Table 2 is, therefore, based on a range of indicators covering:

- availability of action plans with indicators and targets and associated tracking and reporting mechanisms;
- institutional arrangements for Decade implementation; and
- government measures across the four priority areas of education, employment, health and housing, including on data availability and collection, as well as the availability of EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation.

The top score is 4, awarded to best practice performance, while 0 measures no government input. As Table 3 explains, the intermediate scores differentiate between the various degrees of government involvement. It is worth noting that the score of 4 is not necessarily 4 times better than 1—but that 4 reflects the standard of what is achievable. The difference between 0 and 1 is therefore more relevant than the difference between 3 and 4.

Table 3: Defining DecadeWatch Scores

SCORE	SUMMARY DEFINITIONS
0	No action by the government
1	Sporadic measures, initial steps taken, but not regular and systematic action
2	Regular measures, but not systematic or amounting to a programmatic approach
3	Government program, advanced action, but not integrated policy
4	Integrated policy, setting the standard for government action and ownership

The DecadeWatch scores present an average across the indicators—without a weighting of individual indicators. Where countries had the same scores, they were ranked the same. Attaching different weights could result in slight changes to the ranking, but would not change the rankings as listed above. The detailed DecadeWatch scorecard methodology is presented at the end of this overview chapter.

The country scoring reveals that, overall, progress on Decade implementation falls between the scores of 1 and 2—suggesting that sporadic measures and some initial steps dominate, but they do not yet amount to systematic programs or integrated policies. Most countries show a mixture of strengths and weaknesses. For example, Hungary is more advanced than other countries in terms of putting policies in place across most of the four priority areas, and would be closer to the score of 3—had the government approved a long-term Decade Action Plan before the end of 2006. The same is true for Romania, which is to adopt its Decade Action Plans only in 2007. Macedonia is more advanced than most countries in terms of the institutional arrangements for the Decade and scores high on such indicators, but this has yet to be translated into systematic government action. The following sections explain the ranking by providing an overview across the Decade priority areas and the individual country developments.

The overall picture: a dominance of sporadic measures and initial steps and the challenge to develop them into policies

#### Summary Findings by Priority Area

Decade Action Plans with clear indicators and targets are a key added value of the Decade, as these action plans typically provide a greater implementation focus than previous national strategies or programs for Roma integration, including by allowing for a clear reporting framework for implementation. If they do not foresee a year-by-year structuring, such plans should be ideally complemented by shorter-term (annual or biannual) priority operational plans for government action. With respect to the Action Plans, DecadeWatch assesses whether countries have adopted Decade Action Plans (1.1 in the scorecard) or short-term operational plans (1.2), whether there is any formal reporting mechanism (1.3), whether the Decade Action Plans include baseline data (1.4) and whether there have been any efforts to develop municipal or regional action plans (1.5).

Table 4: Action Plans

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	1.1	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.5
1	Czech Republic	2.30	3	4	4	1	0
2	Croatia	1.60	2	2	0	2	2
2	Macedonia	1.60	1	4	0	0	3
4	Slovakia	1.30	2	1	2	0	2
5	Serbia	1.20	3	2	0	0	1
6	Bulgaria	1.10	3	1	0	0	2
7	Hungary	0.60	0	0	0	0	3
7	Montenegro	0.60	3	0	0	0	0
9	Romania	0.00	0	0	0	0	0

By the end of 2006, most countries, with the exception of *Hungary* and *Romania*, had approved 10-year Decade Action Plans—the quality of which, however, varies. Clear indicators and data sources as well as credible deadlines and targets

Action Plans

have been identified only in a few areas of a few Decade Action Plans and there are therefore doubts as to how effective they are in guiding government policy. In many countries, there is still some confusion as to how the Decade Action Plans relate to earlier national strategies or programs on Roma integration. Often the authorities choose not to use the action plans as they were intended—as plans with targets, timelines and reporting frameworks. At the same time, some countries have translated the broad 10-year plans into priority action or operational plans, in some cases even backed up with financing. Others have worked to engage municipalities in the Decade. With the exception of the *Czech Republic* and *Slovakia*, governments had not yet issued formal and regular public progress reports on Decade implementation by the end of 2006, although *Serbia* issued a progress report in April 2007 and *Croatia* is expected to do so later in 2007.

Good practice: The *Czech* government's annual priority plans backed up with budget allocations and regular reporting on their implementation, *Macedonia*'s 2005 operational plan and its outreach work at the municipal level, development of local action plans by municipalities in *Serbia*.

Institutional arrangements for the Decade

The Decade introduced a process of collaboration between governmental bodies and Roma civil society on the drafting of action plans and on the supervision of their implementation, managed by a National Decade Coordinator, as well as international cooperation among the Decade countries. With respect to institutional arrangements for the Decade, DecadeWatch assesses whether there is a National Coordinator (2.1), what is her/his level of seniority (2.2), and whether she/he is assisted by a support office with designated staff (2.3). It also reviews whether there is Roma representation at senior levels of government (2.4) and whether there is a standing formal consultation body involving Roma civil society (2.5). It also assesses whether line ministries have special inclusion and access units (2.6), whether the government has been represented at International Decade Steering Committee meetings (2.7), and whether it has contributed to the Decade Trust Fund (2.8).

Table 5: Institutional

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	2.1	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.7	2.8
1	Hungary	3.13	3	3	4	2	2	3	4	4
2	Slovakia	2.94	3	4	3	3	0	3	4	4
3	Macedonia	2.88	3	3	1	3	4	1	4	4
4	Croatia	2.75	3	4	2	0	4	2	3	4
4	Czech Republic	2.75	3	2	2	1	3	3	4	4
6	Bulgaria	2.63	1	2	2	3	3	2	4	4
6	Romania	2.63	3	2	2	3	0	3	4	4
8	Serbia	1.25	1	1	2	0	4	1	1	0
9	Montenegro	0.50	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0

In 2005 all Decade countries appointed national Decade coordinators, often at ministerial level, and the position has remained filled without disruptions since the launch of the Decade in most countries. Only in Bulgaria, Montenegro and Serbia have there been some disruptions. Day-to-day coordination has mostly been delegated to senior government officials who typically head offices with support staff who handle Decade and related issues. The Decade coordination offices have built up substantial experience over the last years and are essential to their countries' Decade implementation capability. However, in some cases there are doubts among Roma activists as to Decade coordination bodies' real power and their ability to effect change by influencing and supporting line ministries in developing and financing policies that will work for Roma inclusion. At the same time, in a few cases line ministries are reported to have designated units focusing on access and inclusion issues with the capacity to develop and implement policy, so far mostly in the ministries in charge of education. Formal consultation bodies involving Roma civil society meet most regularly in Croatia, Macedonia and Serbia, but their influence on ministerial policy-making varies.

Good practice: *Hungary*'s and *Slovakia*'s Decade coordination office with close links to line ministries, *Macedonia*'s process of involving Roma civil society.

In the priority area of education, Decade Watch assesses progress by looking at the availability of data on Roma education (3.1), of measures to support access of Roma children to preschool (3.2), primary and secondary school, (3.3) and tertiary education (3.4), as well as at the availability of desegregation measures (3.5).

Table 6: Education

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	3.1	3.2	3.3	3.4	3.5
1	Hungary	3.80	3	4	4	4	4
2	Romania	2.40	2	1	3	4	2
3	Serbia	1.80	2	2	2	2	1
4	Bulgaria	1.60	2	2	3	0	1
4	Slovakia	1.60	0	3	3	2	0
6	Croatia	1.40	1	1	3	2	0
7	Montenegro	1.30	2	1	2	0	2
8	Czech Republic	1.00	0	2	3	0	0
9	Macedonia	0.80	1	2	1	0	0

Education is the area where Decade Action Plans are most developed and convincing, and it is also the area where governments have made the most substantial progress in putting measures and policies in place to improve education outcomes for Roma. As opposed to the other priority areas, in education many countries have moved from sporadic measures to some degree of program or policy. The assessment

Education

reveals that the Roma Education Fund has played a key role in advancing the development of policies and programs, through financing or co-financing activities in many countries. Some form of preschool program is in place in every country, mostly in the form of free-of-charge provision or one year of preschool, and sometimes associated with measures that specifically promote access of Roma to kindergarten and/or early childhood programs. All countries pursue, to varying degrees, measures to promote access to primary and secondary education, including teaching assistants. *Croatia, Hungary, Romania* and *Slovakia* also finance or co-finance scholarship programs for Roma students in higher education. However, explicit and implicit access barriers for Roma remain in many countries, and they likely will only be overcome if governments move to integrate and to better coordinate measures, as well as to involve Roma more and more systematically in policy design and service delivery.

There are wide differences in the degree to which governments have acknowledged segregation between Roma and non-Roma children in schools and developed measures or policies to deal with this problem. *Hungary*'s example can show the other Decade countries how to move beyond externally financed or co-financed pilot projects towards the strategic development of government policies on desegregation.

**Good practice:** *Hungary*'s wide-ranging and integrated policy framework to advance Roma access to integrated education.

**Employment** 

In the priority area of employment, DecadeWatch assesses progress by looking at the availability of data on Roma employment and unemployment (4.1), measures to promote access of Roma to training and retraining programs (4.2), active employment programs, excluding public works, (4.3) and self-employment programs (4.4).

Table 7: Employment

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.4
1	Hungary	3.00	1	4	4	3
2	Croatia	1.75	1	3	3	0
2	Serbia	1.75	2	2	0	3
2	Slovakia	1.75	0	2	2	3
5	Bulgaria	1.25	2	2	1	0
5	Czech Republic	1.25	2	1	1	1
5	Romania	1.25	2	2	1	0
8	Macedonia	0.75	3	0	0	0
8	Montenegro	0.75	2	1	0	0

The picture on employment measures and policies for Roma varies widely across Decade countries. Hungary is most advanced in having developed a comprehensive

set of employment promotion programs for those excluded from the labor market—policies accessible to and actually designed for Roma. The other countries finance, on a regular or irregular basis, individual measures, but often not amounting to a program or an integrated policy. Even with institutions and measures in place, their outreach into Roma communities often remains limited. There is skepticism among Roma activists whether existing mainstream employment and training programs offered through the public employment services work for Roma. And in the absence of adequate data in many countries, it is often difficult to assess the effectiveness of programs that are not specifically targeting Roma. Self-employment programs are in place in *Hungary*, *Serbia* and *Slovakia*, while in many countries employment measures for Roma focus on public works activities. As public works typically are temporary measures not aimed at promoting stable employment, the DecadeWatch scoring methodology does not take such measures into account.

Good practice: *Hungary*'s employment and training programs, *Slovakia*'s and *Serbia*'s self-employment programs, *Macedonia*'s employment data collection.

In the priority area of health, DecadeWatch assesses progress by looking at the availability of data on Roma health (5.1), the existence of measures to provide access to healthcare for Roma (5.2, e.g., mechanisms of health protection for the un-insured), of special health programs for Roma (5.3, e.g., information outreach and health awareness programs or vaccination programs), and of Roma health mediators (5.4).

Table 8: Health

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	5.1	5.2	5.3	5.4
1	Romania	2.75	3	1	3	4
2	Bulgaria	1.50	2	2	1	1
3	Serbia	1.25	2	1	2	0
4	Slovakia	1.00	0	2	1	1
4	Hungary	1.00	1	1	1	1
4	Montenegro	1.00	1	1	2	0
7	Czech Republic	0.75	1	0	1	1
8	Croatia	0.50	1	0	1	0
8	Macedonia	0.50	0	1	1	0

Progress on providing access to quality healthcare for Roma is less advanced than on education, with most countries relying on sporadic and externally co-financed measures. *Romania* stands out due to its systematic scaling up of the Roma health mediators program. Some countries have free access to a minimum healthcare package, including for the uninsured. In the case of *Slovakia*, there is the legal possibility for promoting Roma access to health insurance, but there is anecdotal evidence that

Health

in practice access barriers remain. This is particularly true in cases when Roma do not have all the necessary citizenship and residency papers, which is observed most notably in former Yugoslav countries and among the displaced and refugee Roma population. Community outreach is often not yet pursued as a formal program. The Global Fund to Fight Aids, Tuberculosis and Malaria is becoming an important tool for Roma health: Often vaccination and prevention campaigns have been conducted as a result of Global Fund programs with a Roma component.

**Good practice:** The systematic scaling-up of health mediators as well as health awareness and outreach programs in *Romania*.

Housing

In the priority area of housing, DecadeWatch assesses progress by looking at the availability of data on Roma housing (6.1), of measures to overcome non-registration and illegal settlements (6.2), of access to communal services (6.3), and of access to quality social housing (6.4).

Table 9: Housing

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE	6.1	6.2	6.3	6.4
1	Hungary	1.75	1	3	2	1
2	Croatia	1.50	2	2	1	1
3	Bulgaria	1.25	2	1	1	1
3	Slovakia	1.25	2	0	3	0
5	Czech Republic	1.00	1	1	1	1
6	Romania	0.75	2	0	1	0
7	Macedonia	0.50	0	1	1	0
7	Montenegro	0.50	1	0	0	1
7	Serbia	0.50	2	0	0	0

Countries participating in the Decade pursue widely different approaches to improving the housing situation for Roma. Slovakia, for example, has introduced a housing program that risks retaining and deepening segregation, for example by constructing "houses to a lower standard" in segregated settlements. In contrast, Hungary has been trying to approach the housing challenge in a wider context by linking housing and infrastructure improvements to employment programs for Roma. Croatia has developed systematic physical mapping of Roma settlements and has begun legalization. With the exception of Hungary, countries rely on sporadic and/or externally co-financed measures. Illegal housing and unresolved ownership patterns, as well as the lack of residential registration and citizenship documents remain towering obstacles to improving the housing situation for Roma in most countries. In Serbia, for example, select individual municipalities have taken issues into their own hands, while central authorities have yet to find a solution for Roma without citizenship and residency papers.

Good practice: *Hungary*'s housing and social integration program, systematic physical mapping of settlements in *Croatia*, *Bulgaria*'s housing action plan.

Decade Watch also assesses the availability of anti-discrimination legislation across Decade countries (7.1). Unsurprisingly, the effort to improve and adopt EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation is most advanced in those countries that joined the EU in 2004 and 2007. Candidate countries are trailing behind. There are also wide differences in the extent to which anti-discrimination legislation has been used for Roma, with most cases in the areas of access to employment and access to public accommodations.

Table 10: Anti-discrimination

RANK	COUNTRY	SCORE
1	Hungary	4.00
2	Bulgaria	3.50
2	Romania	3.50
4	Slovakia	2.00
5	Croatia	1.00
5	Czech Republic	1.00
5	Serbia	1.00
8	Macedonia	0.00
8	Montenegro	0.00

Good practice: *Hungary's*, *Bulgaria's* and *Romania's* anti-discrimination laws.

For reasons of scope, this first volume of DecadeWatch did not assess government activities on gender, as well as specific government activities on poverty reduction and the other cross-cutting agendas under the Decade, but there are plans to do so in the next round.

Anti-discrimination legislation

## **Country Summaries**

#### **BULGARIA**

Bulgaria's challenge: Use the Decade as a policy instrument and commitment as well as a reporting framework Bulgaria has twice received substantial international attention—as host of the Decade launch in February 2005 and when it took over the Presidency from Romania in 2006. However, the Decade as a domestic policy instrument remains underutilized across all line ministries. While a substantial number of measures adopted in recent years promote the Roma inclusion agenda, they often do not follow the systematic approach intended for the Decade. Bulgaria's challenge in implementation is to use the Decade as a tool to develop integrated policies, and to effectively mainstream Roma inclusion in public policy, including by using European Structural Funds.

Action plans

Bulgaria has detailed Decade Action Plans that are not effectively used by policy-makers as a commitment and reporting tool for supporting Bulgaria's social inclusion agenda. Relevant national strategic documents often make reference to the Decade, but not to the details of the action plan. The recent national education strategy does not make any reference to the Decade Action Plan. Bulgaria also has not adopted priority action plans or short-term operational plans, with the exception of a comprehensive housing program that mentions the Decade commitment.

Education

Bulgaria has a range of measures in place that can help improve educational outcomes for Roma, but they do not yet amount to a comprehensive and integrated policy. The Ministry of Education has established a Center for Educational Integration, although with some delay, which resulted in the loss of budgetary resources for Roma education. While mainstream education programs could be utilized in the interest of Roma education, such opportunities sometimes go lost: For example, school buses provided through a nationwide Ministry of Education program are not known to have been used to assist desegregation. Bulgaria has a compulsory year of preschool, but anecdotal evidence suggests that it often remains not implemented for Roma, and there are no specific government-financed measures that would promote access of Roma to preschool. Meanwhile, the Ministry of Labor has become active in promoting access to education by supporting training for Roma teaching assistants, adult literacy programs and free school breakfasts. The receipt of the child allowance benefit is tied to school attendance, and its monitoring and enforcement has recently been tightened. There is no government policy on desegregation, and any efforts in this direction remain externally financed and of a pilot nature. However, Bulgaria's 2006 National Report on Strategies for Social Protection and Social Inclusion mentions education desegregation as a goal and sets concrete targets for 2008. As yet, there are also no government programs aimed at promoting access of Roma to higher education.

Over the past two years, the Ministry of Labor has implemented a series of employment programs involving Roma, although the programs were not necessarily conceived or tailored for Roma. Specific pilot programs were funded by EU PHARE, while the larger mainstream programs remain funded from the state budget. A notable exception to mainstream programs is a targeted literacy program for Roma that was introduced in 2006. But these activities have yet to solidify into a coherent policy tailored to the specific situation of the Roma community.

So far, Bulgaria's approach to Roma health has consisted largely of sporadic measures, although important recent policy changes may have a positive impact on Roma health. Based on the results of a 2003 EU PHARE-financed study, the Ministry of Health has developed 15 pilot programs aimed at providing training to healthcare professionals working with Roma and setting up informal Roma mediators to facilitate communication between Roma communities and healthcare institutions. With the support of the Open Society Institute, 87 health mediators have been trained in recent years, although health mediators are not yet incorporated into the Bulgarian health system. It is expected that in 2007 at least 60 of the trained mediators will be permanently employed by local municipalities through a subsidy provided by the Ministry of Finance. Moreover, in 2005, the Ministry of Labor established a budget line to finance health expenditures for marginalized individuals without health insurance. Access to this financing is limited to uninsured people and subject to a strict means test. The Ministry of Health has also enacted a number of national programs targeted to disadvantaged groups, including Roma, such as a program for HIV-infection prevention and AIDS control, funded by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Malaria and Tuberculosis.

The Bulgarian government adopted a National Program for Roma in 2006, which is a result of a joint effort of experts from various ministries and agencies and civil society. Covering the same time span as the Decade, the National Program for Roma calls for investing in infrastructure developments in Roma neighborhoods, finding alternative locations for some settlements, building new low-income housing from the state budget, and changing the spatial development of segregated Roma areas. The program envisages clear measures, indicators and budget lines, as well as a solid financial commitment from the state budget. Forty percent of the program is to be funded by the state. However, there is as yet little evidence on implementation and actual budgeting.

In 2003, Bulgaria adopted a comprehensive anti-discrimination law based on EU directives in the field. The law offers extensive protections against discrimination on a wide array of grounds, and allows victims to use regular courts as well as an equality body, called the Anti-Discrimination Commission, to seek remedies. The Anti-Discrimination Commission, set up in 2005, has yet to begin working as an effective equality body.

Bulgaria's comprehensive and EU-compatible Anti-discrimination Law and measures to promote access to general primary education.

**Employment** 

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

Key achievement

#### **CROATIA**

Croatia's challenge:
Develop sporadic measures
into systemic social inclusion
policies for Roma

Although Croatia only has a small Roma minority, it recognizes the Decade as an instrument to promote Roma inclusion. The authorities have introduced a range of measures, predominantly in education. These measures are often sporadic—which explains Croatia's relatively lower score compared to its peers in Central Europe—and the next step is to integrate them into more systemic and interlinked policies. Croatia has the institutional and policy-making capacities as well as financial resources needed to turn sporadic measures into systemic solutions and make a leap towards effective Roma integration.

**Action Plans** 

The government has approved Decade Action Plans in all four priority areas. Being rather limited in scope, the action plans perform some guiding function in implementation and reporting, notably in the case of the Croatian Employment Bureau, which reports on some actions in the frame of the Decade Action Plan. The authorities approved an annual plan with priority measures for 2005, which was, however, little more than a copy-paste version of the long-term plan. Overall the government has not yet publicly reported on the Decade, although a comprehensive report is expected to be published later in 2007.

Education

Croatia has a range of measures in place that aim at ensuring access to quality education for Roma children, but not yet an integrated policy. For instance, Croatia has a free preparatory program of approximately 250 hours as part of its preschool education system with a warm meal a day and some transportation. However, only a relatively small number of Roma children participate in it and it is substantially shorter than similar programs in other countries, which typically last one year. In addition, some Roma minority education preschools receive government, Roma Education Fund and Open Society Institute funding. While there is no detailed strategy to prevent drop-outs, the government has announced a free textbook program for all children in primary education beginning with the 2006-2007 school year. Funding for transportation and school transfers is also available. In addition, the Ministry of Education finances Roma teaching assistants, although there is neither a legal framework for their work nor specific training, and they are consequently employed only for short-term one-year contracts. Affirmative action measures in secondary schools include preferential scoring upon admission and more intensive vocational guidance for Roma. However, the Croatian authorities have yet to act to overcome educational segregation, which has been reported in a number of cases. Lastly, the Ministry of Education provides scholarships for Roma as well as free accommodation in dormitories in secondary and higher education.

**Employment** 

Key elements of Croatia's Decade Action Plan have been translated into coherent and well elaborated measures including activities of vocational training, subsidized employment and short-term public works. The Croatian Employment Bureau regularly reports about the number of users of these measures. However, while the planned number of beneficiaries was originally set very low, the number of persons actually served was even smaller, indicating problems with outreach among Roma. There is a complex set of regular activities of the employment services that are

obviously open for Roma as well, but it is not clear whether any specific adjustment in service delivery and outreach are being made to make these mainstream activities work for Roma.

Croatia does not have a systematic policy to deal with the challenges of improving the health status among the Roma population, particularly those residing in compact settlements. Activities, if any, remain at the level of sporadic measures. For example, there is no policy to promote access to healthcare for those without health insurance. Most of the activities undertaken to improve the health situation of Roma to date consist of locally conducted surveys and studies, as well as information drives in particular localities. There have been immunization efforts in some areas with higher Roma populations and in Roma settlements. There is no system of health mediators yet.

The Croatian authorities have made notable progress regarding the legalization of settlements. According to the Office of National Minorities, nine out of 13 settlements in Medimurje County have been legalized. Moreover, a total of 12 counties (out of the 14 that were required to do so) have developed plans for improving conditions in Roma communities, which include spatial mappings, detailed financing estimates and potential sources of funding. The Ministry of Environment has been co-financing the development plans for Roma settlements. Some measures to improve the housing situation of Roma are already in place: For instance, an EU PHARE program co-funded and administered by the government in 2005 and 2006 invested in the infrastructure reconstruction of settlements in Medimurje County. No social housing measures are in place for Roma.

Amendments to Croatian labor law introduced in 2004 included some antidiscrimination protections in line with the European Union standards on employment, but a comprehensive anti-discrimination law that would protect against racial discrimination in all sectoral areas has yet to be adopted in Croatia. An antidiscrimination strategy has been in the works since 2004, but, as of this writing, the document had not been adopted by the government.

The systematic physical mapping of settlements in 12 counties and the legalization of settlements in Medimurje County.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

Key achievement

#### **CZECH REPUBLIC**

The Czech Republic's challenge:
Develop sporadic measures
into systematic Roma inclusion
policies

The Czech Republic has created an advanced strategic framework for Roma inclusion, through the Decade Action Plans and other documents. The Czech government has been developing and reporting on annual action plans that spell out its Roma inclusion measures. However, its relatively weak performance in comparison to its peers is explained by the fact that the Czech Republic has not been utilizing its mechanisms for systematic action. With some exceptions in education, government action has so far been limited to sporadic measures. As a next step, the Czech government should develop sporadic measures into systemic Roma inclusion policies across the four priority areas, including by using European Structural Funds that have already been successfully accessed for Roma inclusion measures.

**Action Plans** 

The Czech Decade Action Plan is based on an earlier government Concept for Roma Integration in the Czech Republic from 2000. It enumerates a series of general directions for action, followed by a list of more detailed areas of activity. Clear, specific deadlines are set for most of the listed actions. Most of the specific deadlines set in the Decade Action Plan appear realistic, as they are based on timeline estimations for government activities that are already ongoing. However, in most cases, the formulations of activities in the Decade Action Plan, as well as the assignment of responsibilities, are vague enough to leave plenty of room for inaction by central, regional and local authorities.

Education

The Czech authorities continue to rely largely on externally co-funded, sporadic measures to advance Roma education but have also put a number of more systemic policy measures in place. For example, there are programs aimed at drop-out prevention and support of disadvantaged pupils, as well as supporting integration of minority students in mainstream education. Moreover, Roma teaching assistants have been a longstanding institution in the Czech Republic. At the same time, measures to advance access of Roma to higher education remain limited to external or NGO-funding. However, although a court case alleging discrimination and segregation in the country's education system is currently before the European Court of Human Rights in Strasbourg, the Czech government has yet to acknowledge the dimensions of the segregation of Roma in the national educational system.

**Employment** 

Roma are included among vulnerable groups for which broad policies are designed, and some Roma-specific programs are supported through local NGOs from the state budget or from the European Social Fund. Rather than promising that comprehensive policies for employing Roma will be designed by the Czech government within the framework of the Decade, the Decade Action Plan indicates that the government will address the employment situation of Roma by supporting NGOs that are developing targeted programs. Although most Roma are registered with employment offices for the purpose of receiving unemployment and other social assistance benefits, few Roma actually take part in job training courses. A host of government or donor-funded active employment programs, which have been developed by NGOs and are run on a local level, have been more successful in build-

ing relationships with Roma clients. Overall, outside of short-term employment in public works projects, few other opportunities for employment are available to Roma. Microfinance and small business loans are in practice not available to Roma, as they often require collateral guarantees that impoverished Roma cannot offer.

The Czech health agenda under the Decade focuses mostly on the development of a system of Roma health mediators. The Ministry of Health financed a pilot health mediators' program to be developed though an NGO resulting in a training module and 18 trained health mediators. The project ends in May 2007, but two local governments and one municipal government have expressed an interest in keeping health mediators employed until the end of 2007. There are no government programs to provide healthcare coverage to the uninsured, although, under the Czech healthcare system, all those employed or registered with unemployment offices, as well as children younger than 18 and mothers of children up to the age of six, have their health insurance covered. NGOs estimate that the number of people left without health insurance coverage is very small. Similarly, there are no government-financed outreach activities, such as vaccination drives or health education campaigns, in Roma communities. Some NGOs conduct small-scale outreach activities on a local level, as do the health mediators mentioned above, but these sporadic efforts fall far short of addressing the needs of Roma across the Czech Republic

Following much negative publicity around the ghettoization of Roma in the Czech Republic, the government has recognized the need for a comprehensive approach to housing and has committed to adopting an integrated social housing concept by 2008. At the moment, social housing is usually made available only on the condition that applicants are employed and have no debts, which means most Roma are virtually excluded from accessing social housing. The Ministry of Regional Development currently finances a program for constructing subsidized flats, sometimes referred to as "plain flats" in reference to the pared down finishes and utilities they offer to tenants, but it is not clear how many of these flats are actually given to Roma. The government progress reports under the Decade recognize that this program, just like many other housing measures and policies, lacks an adequate implementation monitoring mechanism to assess its impact on Roma. There are currently only sporadic measures in the areas of access to communal services or overcoming non-registration and illegal settlements.

Czech law has incorporated some anti-discrimination provisions relating to employment, but has yet to transpose the Race Directive of the European Council of the European Union, which offers protections against racial discrimination in employment, education, housing and the provision of public services. A draft of a comprehensive anti-discrimination law has been rejected by the Czech Senate, despite the fact that both domestic organizations and international groups have repeatedly called for the speedy transposition of European Union protections against discrimination.

The government's annual priority plans, including budget allocations and regular systematic reporting on their implementation.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

Key achievement

#### **HUNGARY**

Hungary's challenge: Make comprehensive Roma inclusion policies work Having held the Decade Presidency in the crucial run-up to the launch of the Decade in 2005, the Hungarian government has been instrumental in making the Decade a reality. Today, Hungary also stands out among other Decade countries as having advanced furthest in setting in place programs and policies to promote Roma inclusion in most priority areas. Most notably in education, a host of tools and programs are in place to promote educational integration. However, there is plenty of anecdotal evidence that these programs have yet to have an impact. Hungary's challenge, therefore, is to continue fine-tuning and building on its policies to ensure they work towards Roma inclusion. This entails continued and sustained outreach and efforts to change minds, train and convince local officials and service providers. Moreover, Hungary needs to ensure that its health system, currently under major reform, works for socially excluded Roma, for example through Roma health mediators.

**Action Plans** 

Hungary's overall score is lowered by the fact that within the first two years of the Decade it had not approved a long-term strategy for the Decade. However, it has initiated plenty of policies and programs that are in direct relation to the draft Decade Action Plan. A draft long-term Decade Action Plan and a two-year priority operational plan have been in the works since the launch of the Decade, and these have been consulted extensively, including at the local level. In the meantime, government action was guided by a Program to Promote the Social Inclusion of Roma that was adopted in 2004. The government has not yet reported publicly and systematically on progress in Hungary under the Decade since its launch.

Education

While non-enrolment and drop-out rates among Roma in Hungary appear to be lower than in other Decade countries, independent reports in recent years have pointed to a host of other problems that Roma face in the educational system, most notably multiple forms of segregation. The primary objective of reforms to the Hungarian educational system since 2002 has consequently been the elimination of segregation in mainstream schools. Inclusive education is supported on a systemic level through the development of governmental integration programs and the adoption and enforcement of anti-discrimination legislation that explicitly bans segregation. Preschool education in Hungary is available to children as young as three and is compulsory for children in their preparatory year. There are no tuition fees for public preschools, and children whose families receive regular child support benefits are entitled to free meals. Preschools cannot refuse enrolment of disadvantaged children, including Roma, beginning with the age of three. But in practice this provision is rarely followed, as in many areas there is a shortage of preschools. Hungary also has programs to promote access to primary, secondary and higher education for Roma.

**Employment** 

Hungary has a host of employment and training programs run by the labor centers, including programs for those excluded from the workforce. Most of these **programs** are accessible to—and actually designed for—Roma, even though equal opportunities policies often prevent government officials from saying so explicitly. There are

no official data on how such policies affect Roma in practice, but anecdotal evidence suggests that Roma are indeed among the primary beneficiaries of many of these programs.

Health is the weak spot in Hungary's Roma inclusion agenda. Hungary's draft Decade Action Plan does not mention any measures to expand healthcare services to those who do not have access to health insurance. Health insurance in Hungary is currently tied to employment or registration with labor and unemployment offices. Moreover, health insurance is dependent on residence registration, which in practice means that long-term unemployed Roma living in illegal housing, as well as the homeless, cannot access the country's healthcare system. On the other hand, the Ministry of Health has been financing coordinated health education, awareness and information campaigns. Some pilot outreach programs have been conducted in cooperation with mainstream and Roma media. Training programs for health mediators in Hungary were initiated five years ago, and some of the graduates were assigned to work in some counties. But the mediators were not permanently employed at the end of the program, and no nation-wide health mediator programs have been implemented since. The draft Decade Action Plan presented by the Hungarian government does list the training of Roma healthcare providers as a goal, but no details as to how the policy will be designed and/or implemented are available yet.

The government launched a comprehensive program, the pilot Housing and Social Integration Program, which aims to support Roma integration by addressing the living situation of Roma throughout the country. The program deals not only with housing-related issues, such as the clarification of property rights, infrastructure improvement and access to public utilities, but also with issues like employment and public health. To help address these areas, the program brings in local employment offices and health institutions as partners. While the ambitious substantive scope and integrated approach of the program has limited the program to a relatively small number of locations at the outset, the program is expected to grow in coming years. Other Hungarian government measures for improving Roma housing include a program for the legalization of unregistered settlements initiated in 2006. Social housing, on the other hand, is not part of a centrally designed strategy but left to municipalities.

Hungary's anti-discrimination law offers strong protections, in particular through the Equal Treatment Act and the Education Act and some newly adopted amendments to the Civil Code. The Equal Treatment Authority has taken an active role in the prevention of discrimination, while courts have sanctioned violations not only consistently, but also strategically. Still, for example, these protections too often do not act as sufficient disincentives for potential employers, and Roma job-seekers usually know too little about the protection mechanisms available to them.

The government's wide-ranging and integrated policy framework to advance Roma access to integrated education. The design of comprehensive integrated programs to improve living conditions for Roma in segregated settlements.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

#### **MACEDONIA**

Macedonia's challenge: Translate government commitment into government action While the government remains committed to the Decade, evident in Macedonia's advanced institutional arrangements for the Decade and outreach to the municipal level, this commitment has yet to be translated into systemic government-financed action. Macedonia's lower score relative to its partner countries results directly from the limited actual involvement of the government and the limited use of budgetary resources for Roma inclusion measures and programs. But Macedonia compares favorably with its peers with regard to the institutional structures it has put in place for Decade implementation. A renewed effort by the government is needed in building on the established and experienced coordinating structures and getting all ministries to consistently put resources and expertise into the Roma inclusion agenda and to rely less on foreign and donor-financed efforts.

**Action Plans** 

Macedonia has action plans for all the Decade priority areas, but with some weaknesses in terms of content as well as targets and monitoring indicators. However, the main priority for the Macedonian government is progress on implementation, and any adjustments of the plans could be done along the way or, even better, through the approval of more detailed operational plans with financial backing. Led by the Decade coordination office in the Ministry of Labor and Social Policy and involving Roma civil society, the Decade coordination body conducted an exemplary process of drafting priority operational plans for the Decade in 2005—which, however, have so far not been utilized for implementation.

Education

Education is the Decade priority area where implementation is most advanced, although strongly driven by external financing. While the Ministry of Labor and Social Policy is providing some financing, most activities rely on co-funding by the Roma Education Fund and other donors. Some general policies are in accordance with the Action Plans, for example the introduction of a compulsory preparatory year for primary school in 2006. In 2007, the authorities have introduced measures to promote access of Roma children to preschool, although again with Roma Education Fund support. There is some support available for Roma students in secondary education through a joint scholarship program of the Ministry of Education and the Foundation Open Society Institute Macedonia, with Roma Education Fund support. However, this is not accompanied by other measures to systematically encourage school participation, such as subsidized transportation, free school lunches, Roma teaching assistants or school mediators.

**Employment** 

Macedonia suffers from chronically high unemployment across all groups in society, making progress in promoting employment among Roma a significant challenge. In principle, Macedonia has the ingredients to promote access to employment for Roma. It even has relatively good data collected by the State Statistical Office. While there are employment programs in place for the population as a whole, specific measures to promote access of Roma to such programs have not yet been developed. However, there are models to build on: For example, a Council of Europe Development Bank and Open Society Institute-funded microfinance organization

is providing training and loans to Roma entrepreneurs. While no similar programs have been initiated by the government to date, the Ministry of Labor, is expected to develop a microcredit and self-employment scheme in 2007.

Health is Macedonia's weakest spot in Decade implementation, and the health section of the Decade Action Plan remains the least developed part of the document. The overall problems of Macedonian health system in terms of quality of service and access have had an impact on the implementation of the Decade. There are no governmental programs specifically targeting Roma health, but some of the mainstream programs developed by the Ministry of Health have reached out to Roma beneficiaries, including, for instance through programs financed by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. Vaccination campaigns have also included Roma communities, and they appear to have been largely effective. There are no health mediators in Macedonia. But by far the biggest obstacles Roma face have to do with registering for heath insurance, due to missing legal residence and employment status.

Except for sporadic actions to promote access to utilities and social housing, mostly funded by external donors and not by the government, Roma housing remains an underdeveloped area. Moreover, despite Macedonia's Decade commitments, there remain cases of evictions of Roma. However, there are recent moves that suggest a possible expansion in government activities in the area of housing. The government has recently initiated the drafting of strategic and legal documents aimed at housing, including legalization of illegal buildings, which may be used to promote improvements in Roma housing. Moreover, the authorities have initiated the development of urban plans for some Roma settlements. The Ministry of Transportation indicated that it would support the building of social housing that would have Roma, among others, as potential beneficiaries, and it will fund the construction of a sewage system in the mainly Roma municipality of Shuto Orizari.

Macedonia recently drafted an anti-discrimination law, but it focuses on genderand disability-based discrimination only, and, as of this writing, it had not yet been adopted.

The 2005 operational plan for the Decade elaborated by the Decade coordination body with the involvement of Roma civil society and outreach work at the municipal level.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

#### **MONTENEGRO**

Montenegro's challenge: Embrace the Decade as a policy framework Although it joined the Decade together with its peers in 2005, Montenegro remains in many ways in a pre-Decade launch mode. Decade coordination is handled at the level of a senior civil servant with unclear high-level backing. Line ministries do not appear to relate action on Roma inclusion to the Decade framework. Overall, Montenegro continues to rely mostly on external donors to initiate and finance measures aimed at the inclusion of Roma, Ashkalia and Egyptians (RAE), and has yet to embrace responsibility for developing integrated programs or policies backed up with budget financing. Government representatives have stated that the government expects 80 percent of the financing for Decade activities to come from foreign donors. Crucially, the Decade Action Plan fails to take into account the most disadvantaged communities, the RAE displaced from elsewhere in the former Yugoslavia and the returned asylum seekers who face many and deep additional barriers to accessing public services. The government has yet to develop a policy for these groups.

**Action Plans** 

Montenegro's Decade Action Plan appears to be designed as a pro forma document, rather than a comprehensive, detailed policy that the government is actually committed to implement. It often does not set clear responsibilities for specific line items. There have been no attempts to improve the Decade Action Plan since its adoption, and no operational or shorter-term priority action plans have been adopted. Having had little impact on central government policymaking, the Decade also remains absent from the local level: The government has not yet made any systemic effort to include local authorities in mechanisms to implement the Decade.

Education

There are few systemic government policies to promote access of Roma to school at any level, and most measures that are in place are of a pilot nature and have been (co-)financed by external donors. Preschool education is not mandatory in Montenegro, and, although some sporadic incentives aimed at increasing the number of RAE children in preschools are currently in place, substantial barriers remain. Segregation is another problem that RAE children face in the Montenegrin educational system, particularly in areas with large numbers of internally displaced persons from Kosovo. The Ministry of Education has yet to develop desegregation plans for such situations. Free schoolbooks began to be distributed as part of a government initiative in 2005. In 2006, a larger-scale two-year project, the Roma Education Initiative, was introduced by Ministry of Education with financing from the Roma Education Fund. It aims to facilitate the development of models for comprehensive integrated education programs in schools and preschools in five locations in the country. It also seeks to provide RAE students with support and incentives to succeed in school, while supporting schools themselves, and their teaching staff, to develop the tools for successful integration. Any measures to promote access to higher education for RAE are entirely externally financed.

**Employment** 

Montenegro's efforts to develop employment promotion programs for RAE remain in an early phase. The Employment Agency of Montenegro is organizing regular anti-bias training sessions for its personnel, as well as developing special applications

forms tailored to the specific situation and needs of Roma job-seekers. It has also set up a working group that aims to develop services for persons with special difficulties in accessing employment, including Roma. There are no programs promoting self-employment that are specifically designed for RAE; regular self-employment programs are available only to those who can fulfil standard requirements, and many RAE applicants cannot access them. Displaced and refugee RAE face legislative barriers to employment.

There is no integrated policy on improving health outcomes for RAE in Montenegro, including for those without residential or citizenship registration. Although there are no government healthcare policies targeting RAE, and no health mediator program has been initiated by the government, healthcare professionals in Montenegro regularly conduct vaccination drives and awareness-raising activities in Roma neighbourhoods. No additional funds are available for most of these activities, and healthcare professionals often participate in them on a voluntary basis. As a consequence, Roma activists estimate that over 90 percent of RAE children have actually been vaccinated in the past five years. Moreover, for those who do not have identity cards or healthcare records, the Red Cross and other agencies facilitate access to subsidized medical care. There are also no government-funded reproductive health programs specifically targeting Roma, but NGOs and international agencies have filled this gap through short-term projects.

The Montenegrin government has approved housing policy documents which include reference to RAE needs, but action has in practice been limited to very sporadic measures. Social housing, for example, has yet to become available to RAE on an as-needed basis. The criteria and procedures for allocating social housing in Montenegro are not clear, and therefore it is difficult to evaluate how many such housing units are in practice available to Roma. However, housing policy documents, even if still only declarative for the most part, have registered some effects with local authorities, which have halted evacuation plans for residents of illegal settlements over the past two years. Moreover, in some cases local authorities have taken steps to provide alternate accommodations to Roma residents who found themselves homeless.

Montenegro has yet to adopt comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation in line with current international standards in the field.

Government support for the Roma Education Initiative to facilitate the development of models for comprehensive integrated education programs in schools and preschools in five locations.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

#### **ROMANIA**

Romania's challenge: Achieve consistent progress across all priorities and use the Decade as a strategic instrument Romania's progress in implementing Decade commitments is mixed, explaining its medium-ranking score. On the one hand, at the end of 2006, Romania had still not approved a Decade Action Plan and did not appear to use the Decade as a tool to promote policies on Roma inclusion. On the other hand, Romania held the Decade Presidency in 2005-2006. Moreover, Romania has advanced substantially in the areas of education and health and has put a range of programs and policies in place in these two areas. However, progress is less visible in housing and in employment, where it has yet to move towards more systemic policies and the development of effective programs that work for Roma.

**Action Plans** 

Romania has yet to approve a Decade Action Plan—expected for mid-2007—which would provide a frame for the further development of its Roma inclusion policies. The government has also not approved any intermediate priority action plans or public progress reports under the Decade, except for a report on its Decade Presidency. Although Romania was an early leader in the Decade, having assumed the Presidency from Hungary in mid-2005, it appears that the Decade has yet to be introduced as a process and instrument domestically. However, the Decade Action Plans, when in place, are set to make an important contribution. In the coordination body for Roma inclusion policies, the National Agency for Roma, there appears to be a sense of competition between the Decade Action Plans and associated implementation mechanisms, on the one hand, and those set up for the National Strategy on Roma, on the other hand, suggesting that the Decade is not yet seen as a tool to reinforce the implementation of the Strategy.

Education

Romania has developed a number of substantive policy instruments aimed at promoting educational outcomes for Roma, most notably through affirmative action in higher education, vocational training institutions and high schools throughout the country. There are also some sporadic measures to improve preschool attendance, and more systematic programs to promote primary school attendance for disadvantaged groups by providing free school meals, subsidized school supplies and free transportation. The provision of child allowances was also tied to school attendance until recently, again with the idea of motivating low-income families, not only Roma, to send their children to school. An adult literacy program called "Second Chance" is now underway, and it is reportedly mostly attended by young mothers and Roma who dropped out of school at an early age. The position of Roma school mediators was created to improve school enrolment and attendance and to prevent school abandonment for Roma children, but the number of qualified school mediators is still very low. By the government's own admission, educational segregation is a systemic problem in Romania. The Ministry of Education has adopted a notification that mandates desegregation in the Romanian school system, and, through the ministry, EU PHARE funding was dedicated to desegregation projects.

The advanced policy mix in Roma education in Romania is not mirrored by similar achievements in the area of employment. The Ministry of Labor, which not only coordinates employment policy, but also often serves as a conduit for outside funding, has yet to develop consistent policies for Roma. Job fairs for Roma are not only the sole source of limited information on the employment of Roma—they appear to be the only functioning active employment measures specifically targeting Roma in Romania to date. The success of these fairs is felt on a very small scale, as they are not properly publicized and are therefore attended by only small samples of both potential employers and actual job-seekers. NGOs have additionally pointed out that the program is not adequately tailored to the needs of Roma as beneficiaries, because the majority of jobs on offer at the fairs require qualifications higher than those usually attained by Roma. There are no self-employment programs targeted at Roma, and mainstream programs in effect maintain implicit barriers for Roma.

**Employment** 

Romania has made substantial progress in the area of Roma health in recent years.

For example, the Ministry of Health has a functioning Ministerial Commission for Roma. The commission is chaired by a state secretary who is charged specifically with oversight of Roma policies. The Ministry of Health is also the only ministry to have a specific budget line for Roma allocated in the annual state budget. Romania is also the leading country in the area of health mediators. The institution of the health mediators in Romania was initiated by the NGO Romani CRISS in a pilot project, and was then officially recognized and taken over by the Ministry of Health in 2003. Health mediators have gradually been accepted as a necessary part of the healthcare system, and their numbers are set to increase over the coming years. National campaigns against tuberculosis, including funded by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, have reached some Roma communities. In recent years, the Ministry of Health's vaccination drives that have included Roma communities have usually been organized in cooperation with the National Agency for Roma.

Health

As part of the National Strategy on Roma, a number of measures to directly improve the living conditions of Roma have been developed at the central government level. The Ministry of Transportation, Constructions, and Tourism created a four-year emergency-measures plan to rehabilitate houses and areas inhabited by a significant number of Roma. The ministry also developed a program for building social housing and a funding system for partnership between private or public companies and NGOs that intend to improve access to public utilities in locations with large numbers of Roma.

Housing

Romania has had an anti-discrimination law in place since 2000, and successive packages of amendments have brought the law closer to alignment with EU legislation.

Anti-discrimination legislation

The systematic scaling-up of health mediators as well as health awareness and outreach programs. The development of desegregation and affirmative action mechanisms in education.

#### **SERBIA**

Serbia's challenge: Show central government ownership of the Decade and develop systemic and government-financed policies The extent of central government commitment to the Decade in Serbia remains unclear. There are a number of activities reflecting the Decade agenda, but, as pilot measures, they are often instigated and financed by external sources. There have been some disruptions in Decade coordination after the previous coordinator, a deputy minister at the Serbia and Montenegro Union level, resigned in the wake of the disintegration of the union. Recently a Secretariat for the Decade was put in place in the Agency for Human and Minority Rights, but its staff remains externally financed, such as by the European Agency for Reconstruction (EAR) and through the OSCE Mission. Serbia, like Montenegro, faces a substantial challenge in ensuring access to services for its many Roma without residential or citizenship registration—and has not yet found a solution. In order to make progress on the implementation of the Decade goals, Serbia needs to show greater central government involvement evident in the development of systemic policies and financed by budgetary resources.

**Action Plans** 

So far, there appears to have been little coordination on Decade implementation between the various responsible line ministries. However, the Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy, the Ministry of Health, and the Ministry for Capital Investment recently took independent decisions to set up working groups on the implementation of the Decade Action Plan. While action plans on education, employment, housing and healthcare were adopted by the government in January 2005, they do not appear to have served as reference documents for government action. To this date, the government did not adopt any priority action plans based on the Decade Action Plan, although in the summer of 2005 the OSCE financed an effort under the auspices of the then-Decade coordinator to develop such plans, including costings of proposed measures.

Education

The government has not engaged in the development of a longer-term policy on Roma education, but, with few exceptions, continues to rely on individual, sometimes donor (co-)financed measures such as through the Roma Education Fund or the EAR. The Ministry of Education and the National Roma Council have been using affirmative action to support enrolment of Roma in secondary and tertiary education and are providing textbooks for Roma children in primary education. A compulsory year of preschool has been introduced, and the Ministry of Education has received funding from the Roma Education Fund for piloting measures to promote access of Roma to preschool. Likewise, a pilot project to train and place 20 Roma teaching assistants has been funded by the EAR and is implemented in cooperation with the OSCE in 2006-2007.

**Employment** 

Serbia has a well-established network of public employment services that offer a host of employment and training programs. Unlike other countries, there is recognition that such mainstream programs may require additional supportive measures to promote Roma access. Reflecting this, Serbia is organizing access of Roma to training and retraining programs as well as programs to promote self-employment

by using affirmative action. However, participation in such programs remains low. There remain serious access barriers for those Roma residing in informal settlements and without residential and citizenship registration.

The Serbian authorities have taken a **proactive role in implementing some of the health goals of the Decade Action Plan**, openly cooperating with civil society and local authorities in order to facilitate proper implementation. The Ministry of Health is financing special Roma health programs focusing on health education, reproductive health and women's health activities, which are to be implemented in cooperation with NGOs in about 45 municipalities in Serbia. However, information on health status of the Roma remains thin, and the government has not yet moved towards introducing a system of Roma health mediators.

Roma housing policy is problematic in Serbia, with most action initiated locally by a number of willing municipalities in the absence of an overall national policy. The government has allocated some funds for public works in Roma settlements, but no progress has been achieved in resolving the challenge of exclusion from public services of those without residential or citizenship registration. The government has merely approved operational guidelines for local self-government for the legalization of Roma settlements.

Serbia has not yet developed EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation.

Development of local action plans by municipalities and Ministry of Health-financed Roma health programs focusing on health education, reproductive health and women's health activities, to be implemented in cooperation with NGOs in about 45 municipalities.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

#### **SLOVAKIA**

Slovakia's challenge: Elaborate on policy initiatives and make them work for integration Slovakia has advanced institutional capacities that should enable it to deliver on its Decade pledge, and it has put a range of programs and policies in place to improve the welfare of Roma. However, these activities appear often not driven by an integration policy, but appear to tolerate, if not deepen, segregation of Roma. Slovakia is also more advanced in its education and employment measures than in the areas of health and housing.

**Action Plans** 

Slovakia has action plans for all the Decade priority areas, but with weaknesses in terms of content and targets and monitoring indicators. The Decade Action Plan lists state institutions which are responsible to monitor progress on particular measures, but it does not clarify whether it is these same institutions or other institutions that are directly responsible for implementing the measures. The text of the Slovak Decade Action Plan also exhibits many of the reflexes of recent Slovak policies for Roma: It includes problematic formulations such as "native predispositions" in relation to the health situation of Roma. Slovakia has not adopted priority action plans, but there are internal short-term strategies which guide the work of individual line ministries in the four focus areas of the Decade, and ministries write annual reports on progress under the Decade.

Education

The Slovak government has a number of programs in place at all levels of the education system. The authorities developed so-called "zero classes," which typically consist of a preparatory preschool program affiliated with an elementary school. However, there are also preschool programs in segregated Roma communities that face typical deficiencies associated with segregation. The authorities have also developed some programs aimed at increasing school attendance for Roma. For instance, social assistance for families with children is tied to attendance of compulsory primary education institutions; subsidies for school supplies and school lunches are offered; and a one-year drop-out reduction pilot program was implemented until May 2006. Slovakia also adopted the "Roma teaching assistants" model, which was implemented in some preschools, primary schools and special schools, although teaching assistants are typically hired on short-term, one-year contracts which may or many not be renewed depending on the availability of funding. Other measures include the development of vocational education and second chance programs for students who did not complete primary education, and the provision of higher education scholarships through the office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities. The major challenge in Slovakia remains school segregation, although the Slovak government has shown itself more willing to deal with segregation in recent years and has initiated the implementation of a series of measures aimed at promoting integration.

**Employment** 

Recent Slovak governmental policies in employment have not, for the most part, addressed the situation of Roma directly. Instead, they have focused on the broader category of vulnerable groups, which includes people with disabilities, the elderly and recent university graduates, and their effect on Roma has not been tracked. The Social Development Fund, a state-funded grant-making agency, estimates that about one-third of its funding has gone to programs targeting Roma, but it is not clear whether this estimate measures funding directly reaching Roma or funding

reaching broader categories which also include Roma. National employment programs have been developed by the Ministry of Labor and have included vocational training, subsidized employment, and public works projects, funded both from the state budget and from the European Social Fund. However, vocational training, re-training and qualification courses are often not tailored to the specific needs of Roma. Smaller NGO-run projects have explicitly targeted Roma, but they remain limited in scope. The same holds for self-employment measures targeted to Roma, which are regularly provided by the government.

The Slovak government has initiated a range of programs and measures aimed at improving the health status among the Roma population. The office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities adopted a project aimed at dealing with illegal waste dumps in 50 settlements, and the Ministry of Labor is funding the building of personal hygiene and laundry facilities in some Roma communities. Some progress has also been registered in the area of health insurance. Until September 2006, most Roma, as well as other disadvantaged people, were indirectly excluded from accessing the Slovak system of universal heathcare because of relatively high minimal fees perceived for medical services and medicine and because a permanent living address was required for registration. Many of these obstacles have now been removed through a series of legislative amendments which left in place only a small fee for emergency care. Health mediators and mobile health units, as well as eight small health centers in areas with limited access to healthcare facilities, were established as part of an EU PHARE-funded pilot project which is now slated to continue and expand, with health mediators working under the regional offices for public health.

Housing policy is an issue of concern in Slovakia, given the extent of segregation of Roma communities. Slovakia has adopted a number of programs aiming to improve housing conditions for Roma, but their implementation, in particular by local authorities, has been at best limited and problematic. The Office of the Plenipotentiary of the Slovak Government for Roma Communities designed and financed a sociographic mapping of Roma communities that is being used by the relevant ministries in designing policies for Roma communities. Some new housing for Roma was built in recent years, but there are concerns as to the quality of such buildings, also indicated by the name of the government program "Housing to a Lower Standard". This program also has been criticized for increasing segregation by creating new Roma ghettos far away from the majority population. The Decade Action Plan mentions the legalization of settlements and the clarification of property issues, but it fails to provide any funding for these. However, some movement in this area has been registered—a few settlements have been legalized, mostly at the initiative of the Office of the Plenipotentiary.

In 2004, Slovakia passed anti-discrimination legislation that was intended to harmonize domestic regulations with European Union directives in the field. The adopted legislation largely follows the requirements of the European directives, but it is still largely unknown and has yet to be tested.

Measures to promote access of Roma to preschool and general primary and secondary education.

Health

Housing

Anti-discrimination legislation

# Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005-2015 DecadeWatch Monitoring Framework

	Category			Scores		
		0	1	2	3	4
I.	Cross-cutting/ institutional					
1.	Action Plans					
1.1	Is there an approved detailed Decade Action Plan with clear targets, deadlines and measurable indicators?	Plans do not cover all focus areas and have no targets and/or deadlines	Plans cover all focus areas but without targets and/or deadlines	Plans cover all focus areas but have targets and/or deadlines only for some measures	Plans cover all focus areas and have targets and/or deadlines for most measures	Plans cover all four focus areas and have a complete list of targets and/or deadlines
1.2	Has the government approved any annual or biannual priority action plan with cost estimates and a financing plan?	Government has not approved any priority operational plan	Government has approved at least one priority operational plan but not in all Decade focus areas and without cost estimates or a financing plan	Government has approved at least one priority operational plan in all Decade focus areas but without cost estimates or a financing plan	Government has approved at least one priority operational plan in all Decade focus areas with cost estimates and a financing plan	Government has approved more than one detailed annual priority operational plan in all Decade priority areas with full cost estimates or a financing plan for their implementation
1.3	Is there a formal government progress reporting mechanism with public progress reports?	Government has not reported publicly on progress under the Decade since its launch	Government has reported only once publicly on progress under the Decade since its launch	Government has reported once a year on progress under the Decade since its launch	Government has been reporting regularly and publicly, but not linked to actual action plan targets	Government has been reporting regularly, publicly and comprehensively, with clear link to action plan targets
1.4	Does the Action Plan include baseline data to measure implementation progress?	There is no baseline data	There is baseline and follow-up data for less than 10 percent of identified outcomes	There is baseline and follow-up data for up to 50 percent of identified outcomes	There is baseline and follow-up data for up to 75 percent of identified outcomes	There is baseline and follow-up data for all key identified outcomes
1.5	Are there efforts to develop regional or municipal action plans and/or engage municipalities in the Decade (e.g., to develop local level action plans)?	There has been no outreach and involvement of municipalities	There are donor-financed pilot activities to engage municipalities	Central government has selectively involved municipalities and/or conducted outreach activities	Municipalities have been engaged formally at least once by central government since the launch of the Decade	There is proactive and country-wide government strategy of involving municipalities in partnership with association of municipalities; availability of municipal or regional Decade action plans

	Category			Scores		
		0	1	2	3	4
2.	Institutional					
2.1	Is there a government Decade Coordinator?	No national coordinator has been appointed or the position is vacant	There has been a national coordinator for most of the time, but there have been disruptions and/or the coordinator was not officially appointed	A national coordinator has been appointed but has appeared publicly in this capacity only once since the Decade launch.	A national coordinator has been appointed and has made a number of public appearances in this capacity since the Decade launch.	A national coordinator has been appointed and has made frequent public appearances in this capacity to give the Decade visibility.
2.2	What is the level of seniority of the current Decade Coordinator?	No national coordinator	Civil Servant	Deputy or Assistant Minister	Minister	Deputy Prime Minister or above
2.3	Is there a Decade coordination office or support office for the national coordinator?	There is no Decade coordination/support office for the national coordinator	There is a Decade coordination office/support office for the national coordinator with 1 staff actually working on Decade issues	There is a Decade coordination office/support office for the national coordinator with 2–5 staff actually working on Decade issues	There is a Decade coordination office/support office for the national coordinator with 6-10 staff actually working on Decade issues	There is a Decade coordination office/support office for the national coordinator with more than 10 staff actually working on Decade issues
2.4	Is there Roma representation at senior level within government (permanently employed civil servants or with a political mandate)?	There is no Roma in central government or civil service	There are Roma in junior civil service or appointed positions in central government (below Head of Directorate)	There are Roma in senior civil service or appointed positions in central government (Head of Directorate and above)	There is at least one Roma in an assistant/deputy minister position in the central government	There is at least one Roma Minister in the central government
2.5	Is there a standing formal consultation body to involve Roma civil society in national Decade implementation and monitoring?	There have been no formal Decade-related consultations between government and Roma civil society since the Decade launch	There has been one consultation meeting with Roma civil society since the Decade launch	There have been irregular consultations with Roma civil society	There is a formal standing consultation body which has met less than once a year since the Decade launch	There is a formal standing consultation body which has convened at least twice per year since the Decade launch
2.6	Do line ministries have special inclusion and access units also in charge of Roma inclusion?	No line ministry has designated staff or units on access and integration of national minorities	Some ministries have designated individual staff working on access and integration issues, but no designated units	One line ministry has designated units on access and integration	More than one line ministry has designated units on access and integration	All line ministries have designated units on access and integration

	Category			Scores		
		0	1	2	3	4
2.7	Has the government been represented at the International Steering Committee meetings since the launch?	Government has not been represented at any meeting since the launch	Government has been represented at 1 of the last 3 meetings since the launch	Government has been represented at 2 of the last 3 meetings since the launch	Government has been represented at all the meetings held since the launch	Government has been represented at all the meetings held since the launch as well as thematic workshops
2.8	Has the government contributed to the Decade Trust Fund?	Government has not agreed to contribute to the Decade Trust Fund		Government has agreed, but not yet contributed to the Decade Trust Fund		Government has contributed to the Decade Trust Fund
II.	Decade Priority Areas					
3.	Education					
3.1	Monitoring and evaluation (availability of regularly collected, nationally representative data on outcomes, collected within the last five years)	There is no enrolment and attainment data for Roma	There is some enrolment data for Roma for some years, but there is no regular updating process and the data is not nationally representative	There is nationally representative enrolment and attainment data for Roma for some years, but there is no regular updating process	There is nationally representative enrolment and attainment data for Roma for some years which is regularly updated	There is annual nationally representative enrolment and attainment data for Roma
	Programs					
3.2	Promotion of access of Roma children to pre- schooling and early child care services (e.g., access to daycare programs and kindergartens, parent support work, out of school activities, etc)	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/or externally financed measures endorsed by the government	There is a free preparatory year	There is a free preparatory year and sporadic government-financed measures to promote access to such programs and other early childhood education activities	There is an integrated government policy on early childhood education for Roma with substantial financial backing
3.3	Promotion of access of Roma children to primary and secondary education (e.g., teacher assistant/ mediators, special after class tutorials for Roma children, support during exams and material incentives such as free textbooks, support for transportation costs, meals in school, scholarship programs, etc)	There are no government-supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/or externally financed measures endorsed by the government	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing

	Category			Scores		
		0	1	2	3	4
3.4	Promotion of access of Roma to higher education (e.g., scholarships programs, etc)	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/or externally financed measures endorsed by the government	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
3.5	Desegregation policy	There are no government- supported school desegregation activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/or externally financed school desegregation measures endorsed by the government	There are regular government-financed school desegregation measures in place but not a program	There is an official government school desegregation program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government school desegregation policy with substantial financial backing
4.	Employment					
4.1	Monitoring and evaluation (availability of regularly collected, nationally representative data on outcomes, collected within the last five years)	There is no data on employment outcomes for Roma	There is some employment data for Roma for some years, but there is no regular updating process and the data is not nationally representative	There is nationally representative data on Roma employment outcomes for some years but it is not regularly updated	There is nationally representative data on Roma employment outcomes for some years which is regularly updated	There is annual nationally representative data on Roma employment outcomes
	Programs					
4.2	Promotion of access of Roma to training and retraining programs	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
4.3	Promotion of access of Roma active employment promotion programs	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
4.4	Promotion of access of Roma to self-employment or microfinance programs	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing

	Category			Scores		
		0	1	2	3	4
5.	Health					
5.1	Monitoring and evaluation (availability of regularly collected, nationally representative data on outcomes, collected within the last five years)	There are currently no surveys or other activities aimed at improving information base on Roma health	There is some health status data for Roma for some years, but there is no regular updating process and the data is not nationally representative	There is nationally representative health status data for Roma for some years but it is not regularly updated	There is nationally representative health status data for Roma for some years which is regularly updated	There are annual nationally representative health status data for Roma
	Programs					
5.2	Promotion of access to healthcare for excluded groups, including Roma (e.g., mechanism of health protection for the uninsured)	There are no government- supported activities to promote access to healthcare	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy promote access to healthcare with substantial financial backing
5.3	Special health programs for vulnerable groups that can benefit Roma (e.g., information outreach and health awareness activities, vaccination activities, etc)	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
5.4	Employment of Roma healthcare providers (e.g., Roma health mediators)	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
6.	Housing					
6.1	Monitoring and evaluation (availability of regularly collected, nationally representative data on outcomes, collected within the last five years)	There is no data on housing conditions for Roma	There is data on Roma housing conditions for some years, but there is no regular updating process and the data is not nationally representative	There is nationally representative data on Roma housing conditions for some years, but not regularly updated	There is nationally representative data on Roma housing conditions for some years which is regularly updated	There is annual nationally representative data on Roma housing conditions

	Category			Scores		
		0	-	2	3	4
	Programs					
6.2	Overcoming non-registration and illegal settlements (e.g., provision of tenancy or rental contracts, measures to prevent evictions, development of physical mappings/plans)	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
6.3	Access to communal services	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
6.4	Access to quality social housing	There are no government- supported activities	There are sporadic government-financed and/ or externally co-financed measures	There are regular government-financed measures in place but not a program	There is an official government program in place with some financing	There is an integrated government policy with substantial financial backing
7.	Anti-discrimination					
7.1	Is EU compatible antidiscrimination legislation in place and adequately enforced?	There is no EU compatible anti-discrimination legislation	The government is developing EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation	There is EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation in place but there are no cases of application for Roma	There is EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation in place and there are some cases of application for Roma	There is EU-compatible anti-discrimination legislation in place and it is systematically applied for Roma

# Country Reports

# Bulgaria

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

After the June 30–July 1, 2003, Budapest conference on "Roma in an Expanding Europe," the Bulgarian Prime Minister appointed the Minister of Disaster Management Policy as national coordinator of the Decade of Roma Inclusion. The National Action Plan for the Realization of the Decade of Roma Inclusion (hereinafter, DAP) was developed by a national working group that had been created by the Minister of Disaster Management for this specific purpose.

The national working group included officials from governmental institutions; representatives from the Bulgarian offices of the World Bank, the United Nations Development Program, and the Open Society Institute; and 17 Roma activists, including the Roma members of the delegation that participated in the original conference in Budapest. The working group was further divided into sub-groups, each tasked to develop specific sections of the DAP. Each of these sub-groups included representatives from every relevant ministry, as well as nongovernmental organizations.

Following the official launch of the Decade in Bulgaria in early February 2005, the DAP was approved by the Council of Ministers on April 14, 2005.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

The Bulgarian DAP is mostly based on the Framework Program for Equal Integration of Roma in Bulgarian Society (hereinafter, the Framework Program for Roma), a national strategy on Roma. The DAP also incorporates elements from other policies, such as the Strategy for the Educational Integration of Children and Students from Ethnic Minorities, the Health Strategy for Disadvantaged Groups and Ethnic Minorities, or the National Program for the Improvement of Living Conditions of Roma in the Republic of Bulgaria.

On the surface, the Bulgarian DAP appears to address Roma issues under the Decade thoroughly: The DAP lists objectives, tasks, activities, indicators, responsible institutions, timelines, and amounts and sources of financing under each major heading. Moreover, the DAP contains a separate section that highlights activities aimed at combating discrimination. This indicates the Bulgarian government's commitment to focusing on anti-discrimination as a cross-cutting priority—even if other cross-cutting issues, like gender equality and poverty elimination, do not receive a similarly detailed treatment in the DAP.

But, despite the DAP's apparent thoroughness, a closer look reveals that it is conceived more as a pro forma, bureaucratic document which acts as a catchall for existing policies that affect either Roma specifically or all disadvantaged groups, including Roma. Thus, the DAP lists both activities aimed at fostering Roma inclusion, such as establishing a Center for the

Educational Integration of Children and Students from Ethnic Minorities, and activities that target Roma but do not necessarily promote inclusion, such as general encouragement for Roma children to learn the Romani language or a call for organization of Roma folklore events (Amalipe, *The Roma Strategies*).

Moreover, the indicators for assessing progress in achieving the objectives of the DAP are not clear, and indicators are not even listed at all alongside a number of activities. When indicators are listed, they are formulated as absolute figures relating to the number of Roma beneficiaries or activities carried out, instead of using a comparison with the same indicators among non-Roma. There are no global indicators—such as, for instance, the total number of secondary school or university graduates—against which the degree of Roma inclusion can be measured. Sometimes indicators are very difficult to quantify, as in the case of the indicator identified simply as "improved quality of education." To make progress assessment even more complicated, few data-generating activities are listed in the DAP, and those that are listed are formulated so vaguely that they seem unlikely to produce comprehensive, nationally representative figures that can be used to measure progress.

The limited financial engagement of Bulgarian authorities for the Decade deepens the perception that the DAP is conceived as a pro forma document. All activities listed in the action plan are supposed to be financed from the general budget of each responsible institution. This approach closely follows the scheme for the implementation of the Framework Program for Roma—for which no special funding was allocated outside of the ordinary budgets of various state agencies and ministries, and PHARE funding, which is provided by the European Commission. In the case of the Framework Program for Roma, this approach proved to be an insurmountable obstacle for proper implementation, as state agencies and ministries were reluctant to allocate adequate funding for realizing the program (Amalipe).

In the case of the DAP, similar obstacles are looming. For example, in 2005-2006, the contribution from the state budget to Roma-related activities as estimated in the DAP was about BGN 1,745,550 (around EUR 900,000). Out of this, the share financed from the state budget proper is only BGN 1,230,000. An additional

BGN 270,000 is expected to come from "state budget and donors," presumably as matching funds, while another BGN 145,000 is listed either as contributions from external donors or as coming from unspecified sources. The only special financing earmarked for the Decade of Roma Inclusion consists of BGN 128,000 (approximately EUR 64,000) allocated by the government to cover expenses related to the Bulgarian Presidency of the Decade between July 2006 and June 2007 (Amalipe). In addition, the Bulgarian Ministry of Labor and Social Policy (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor) allocated close to BGN 1,400,000 for literacy courses targeted to Roma, and it finances a range of other mainstream measures which are open for, but not targeted to, Roma. By far the largest contribution to the activities listed under the DAP is that of foreign donors: EUR 3,446,659, mostly coming from two PHARE projects (2003 and 2004–2006).

Even with the outside contributions, the funding listed under the Decade is insufficient to tackle the severe problems that Bulgaria's more than 800,000 Roma face. A closer look reveals that the DAP does not even try to claim that it actually does anything to solve these problems. Of the 129 actions listed for 2005-2006, for instance, only 29 have specific budgets quoted in the DAP. For the other 100 actions, the budget column is empty or it notes that "no additional financing is necessary." Yet it is not clear how many of the existing activities would actually be made to work for Roma, and whether, indeed, no additional resources are needed to ensure that these activities help Roma. The reasons for the lack of budgets differ: Some of the 100 measures with no budget line attached are routine activities, and others are mere theoretical ideas, with no concrete parameters. Either way, the result is that entire focus areas, such as employment or housing, have no financing specified in the DAP.

## 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

After the DAP was adopted in April 2005, Bulgaria entered a period of political discontinuity. Parliamentary elections held in June 2005 were followed by a long period of negotiation between political parties. A government was eventually formed, following months

of wrangling. As a result, no Decade coordinator was in place for a period of almost one year, until Bulgaria took over the Presidency of the Decade in June 2006 and the Council of Ministers appointed Deputy Minister of Labor Yavor Dimitrov to be the Decade coordinator. While the Directorate for Ethnic and Demographic Issues (hereinafter, the Directorate) represented Bulgaria at international Decade events, it appears that, until the appointment of Deputy Minister Dimitrov, there was no coordination of substantive Decade-related activities at the level of the central government. Further disruption was caused when Deputy Minister Dimitrov left his position in November 2006. In 2006, the Ministry of Labor created a Council for the Integration of Roma whose main task is to advise the Ministry on Roma inclusion issues. It consists of representatives of Roma NGOs and is chaired by the minister and the Decade coordinator. Administrative support to the Decade coordinator is provided by the Demographic Policy and Equal Opportunities Directorate within the Ministry of Labor.

Coordinating the implementation of the DAP is the responsibility of the office of the national Decade coordinator, while oversight of the implementation of the Framework Program for Roma is the responsibility of the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Demographic Issues (hereinafter, the National Council) and its subordinate body, the Directorate for Ethnic and Demographic Issues. It appears that there is little synchronization between the office of the Decade coordinator and the National Council, even though many of the activities they are supposed to oversee overlap in practice.

The National Council is an unwieldy, inefficient structure, made up of 55 representatives of state institutions as well as NGOs. It held its first meeting on March 1, 2006. A meeting of the Sub-Commission on Roma Integration was held in April 2006. No other meeting of the National Council as a whole was held between January and July 2006, although the National Council's regulations envisage that meetings be held at least once every three months. But even with regular meetings, the National Council's power would be limited: The Council only has consulting and coordinating functions. It can advise state institutions on their activities for Roma integration, and it can request information from various agencies. But it can-

not mandate them to take specific measures and it cannot undertake actions on its own. For these reasons, some Roma NGOs have decided not to be part of the National Council, and have expressed doubts about the very need to establish such a council (Amalipe). Even the 16 Roma NGOs who are represented in the Sub-Commission for Roma Integration within the National Council do not actively participate in the council's work.

The Directorate for Ethnic and Demographic Issues is a very new institution. Although a director was appointed in July 2005, other key staff positions were filled as late as February 2006. As a result, the Directorate still has limited administrative capacity. It is made up of 17 staff members, five of whom work specifically on Roma integration. The Directorate has launched a series of training sessions aimed at improving capacity in the spheres of public administration and project management. Its staff has worked on clarifying the policy for integration of Roma, organizing training and presenting strategies and plans for action, and analyzed information regarding housing issues and administrative capacity at the regional and local levels. Also, the Directorate has been coordinating the technical implementation of PHARE projects.

The implementation of the DAP is supposed to follow its own action plan, different from the implementation plan for the Framework Program for Roma. But this mechanism is far from consistent. For instance, in 2005, when the DAP was first enacted, no action plan for the implementation of the Framework Program for Roma was developed. The next year, the implementation of the Framework Program fared only marginally better: An action plan was indeed developed by a consortium of NGOs, but this plan was approved only half way through the year, at the end of June 2006. It would seem these differences hardly matter, as the two documents are similar enough that one and the same action could be formally reported as an implementation measure for both policies. Because neither policy has any earmarked funding allocated from the state budget, what gets reported as implementation consists of various activities undertaken by state institutions from their general budget, and these actions are reported both under the Decade and under the Framework Program

No priority action plans have been developed

by the Bulgarian government, but the Decade coordinator has started engaging some municipalities in Decade implementation. Additionally, some municipalities report developing local action plans under the Decade, but it is not clear whether these developments are the result of central government action or more local initiatives.

As of this writing, the Bulgarian government had not made public any report on progress under the framework of the Decade.

#### 2. FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

Because most governmental efforts with respect to education have been geared toward modernizing the Bulgarian educational system as a whole, Roma education has been a rather low policy priority. As a result, the available data from the National Statistics Institute, which is nationally representative but not regularly updated, reveals sharp discrepancies in the education levels of Roma and non-Roma. For example, according to National Statistics Institute data from 2001, about 63 percent of Roma do not have a basic education degree, while only 16 percent of ethnic Bulgarians lack a basic degree. Furthermore, just 0.2 percent of Roma hold a university degree, but 16 percent of ethnic Bulgarians have such a degree. The illiteracy rate of Roma is 15 times higher than that of non-Roma (Amalipe). Moreover, Roma in Bulgaria are often placed in segregated schools, and sometimes in special schools set up for students with intellectual disabilities (European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata). Often called "ghetto schools," these educational institutions, overwhelmingly attended by Roma, offer very low-quality education in dismal teaching conditions (Nounev, "Analysis"). Such schools serve to instill in Roma students low expectations and a sense of inferiority in relation to non-Roma.

To address the educational discrepancies between Roma and non-Roma, the Bulgarian government has developed a number of policy initiatives over the past two years. It is too early to assess the effectiveness of these programs. Still, the documents on which they are based reveal a number of worrying trends with respect to the government's position on Roma education. First, in June 2004, the Ministry of Education and Science (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education) issued a Strategy for the Educational Integration of Children and Students from Ethnic Minorities (hereinafter, Strategy for Educational Integration). This Strategy for Educational Integration is based on specific sections of the Framework Program for Roma, which it develops in more detail, setting specific measures and goals for ensuring equal access to quality education, school desegregation and intercultural education. A five-year action plan for the implementation of the Strategy for Educational Integration was developed one year after the strategy was issued, in June 2005, followed closely by implementation plans developed through local strategies. But the approach to the implementation of the Strategy for Educational Integration did not seek to mainstream integration into other educational policies. Instead, it treated integration as a separate, supplementary burden. For instance, none of the school buses provided through a nationwide Ministry of Education program were used to assist desegregation, so that busing as a component of integration was left to be funded entirely by NGOs.

As mentioned in the DAP, the implementation of the Strategy for Educational Integration will be financed through a Center for Educational Integration, which reports directly to the Ministry of Education. Though its very establishment is a welcome development, the mechanism governing the Center for Educational Integration's relationship to implementers on the ground appears to have significant built-in flaws: It leaves integration to the good will of local authorities and school administrators, who can apply for project funding as they see fit-or can decide not to desegregate at all. Moreover, the mechanism denies NGOs the opportunity to develop projects independently. This seems to effectively leave Roma integration stillborn, given that, in recent years, NGOs have been the main, and, indeed, only, motor for desegregation.

The Center for Educational Integration is set up to fundraise from foreign donors and receive only supplementary funding from the state. The Operational Program "Human Resource Development" for the programming period 2007–2013 will be co-financed by

the European Social Fund and will support three main areas of intervention under the priority "Improvement in Access to Education and Trainings." The Center for Educational Integration is one of the potential beneficiaries. The supplementary funding from the state budget envisaged for 2005, a total of BGN 1,000,000 (approximately EUR 500,000), could not be absorbed in 2005, because the internal regulations of the Center were not approved by the Council of Ministers until much later, and the Center began functioning only after that. Consequently, for 2006, financing from the state budget was cut in half.

The reduction of the already meager funding allocated for integration is only a symptom of a larger pattern in which the commitment of the Bulgarian government to desegregation and inclusive schooling seems to go no deeper than the level of pro forma declarations. This pattern seems even more evident after the appointment of the new government in September 2005, when the word "desegregation" entirely disappeared from the public statements of various officials.

This attitude is also reflected in the National Program for the Development of School Education and Pre-School Upbringing and Instruction 2006-2015 (hereinafter, the Program for School Education), which was adopted by the new government as its major educational policy document. Approved by the Bulgarian Parliament, the Program for School Education has greater force as a policy than the Strategy for Educational Integration, which was adopted by a simple decision of the Ministry of Education. The Program for School Education, which is backed by financial resources from the state budget and provides for changes in Bulgarian legislation, makes no provisions for desegregation or intercultural education, which are the main objectives of the Strategy for Educational Integration.

The Program for School Education does not treat education for members of minorities as a significant policy area. When it does refer to minority issues, the Program places them under the heading "Socialization of children whose mother tongue is not Bulgarian," which suggests that the authors of the Program of School Education not only take the view that minority children are "unsocialized," but they also falsely believe that most minority students are not familiar with the Bulgarian language and that all their problems

can be addressed by bridging the presumed language gap. The measures listed under this heading include the improvement of the children's Bulgarian language skills. This section of the Program of School Education also includes a set of social and administrative measures—like free textbooks, free meals, the provision of social benefits though schools, etc.—aimed at ensuring school attendance for Roma, regardless of whether the schools they attend are integrated or not. Moreover, the Program includes a series of policies that might actually worsen the overall educational status of Roma: For example, there is a decision to end basic education with the seventh, rather than the eighth grade, but NGOs say this measure would leave about 7,000 more Roma children per year outside of the educational system altogether (Amalipe).

Despite the apparent lack of interest in the matter, educational integration is still formally on the government's agenda, and it features prominently in the DAP. When the new government took over in September 2005, educational integration was made the responsibility of a deputy minister, the highest ranking official to deal with educational integration in recent Bulgarian history. But at the time integration was focused on the deinstitutionalization and mainstreaming of students with intellectual disabilities. There is strong political commitment to this process, and the government is reporting progress in this area. The numbers of students with intellectual disabilities in mainstream schools is increasing, while the number of special education programs is decreasing. Regional education inspectorates have appointed experts in integrated education, all of whom deal exclusively with the mainstreaming of children who were previously in special schools (EUMAP, Rights of People).

By contrast, there is no similar administrative support at the local level for the integration of minority students. So far, this process has been implemented mainly by NGOs, with little or no support from the Ministry of Education. The deputy minister in charge of integration has promised to build the capacity of regional inspectorates to deal with the integration of minority students, but little action has materialized from those promises, except for sporadic training sessions on multicultural education. In the course of 2006, some experts were appointed to oversee the implementation of the Strategy for Educational Integration at a regional level.

But the main responsibilities of these experts—elementary education, arts, history, mainstreaming of students with disabilities, etc.—still lie outside the area of Roma educational integration. For most of these experts, the implementation of the Strategy for Educational Integration is merely an additional task on top of an already lengthy job description.

According to officials interviewed for the purpose of this report, one other relevant action by the Ministry of Education is its cooperating with UNICEF to develop a study on what causes students to drop out of school. Discussions are underway to prepare an action plan aimed at reducing the numbers of drop-outs and non-enroled students in compulsory primary education between 2007 and 2009.

Meanwhile, the Ministry of Labor has become active in promoting access to education by supporting training for Roma teaching assistants, adult literacy programs, free school breakfasts, etc. In addition, access to the monthly child allowance benefit program is conditional on school attendance, and monitoring has recently been tightened. Some of these programs appear to have improved school attendance, just like the Ministry of Education's introduction of one year of compulsory preschool in 2003. But the programs still do not address the root causes of school drop-out or ensure proper evaluation of educational outcomes. Overall, there appears to be little coordination between the Ministry of Labor and the Ministry of Education on the issue of Roma education.

Other institutions, such as the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Demographic Issues and the Directorate for Ethnic and Demographic Issues, also implemented projects with educational components, including two PHARE programs for the support of ethnically mixed schools (2003 and 2004–2006).

As of 2006, there were more than 10 desegregation projects unfolding in Bulgaria, according to the Ministry of Education's own estimates. Most of these projects were developed by NGOs, with little or no support from the Bulgarian government. But, despite their leading role in promoting progressive educational policies, Roma NGOs have been called upon less and less as a resource. The Consultative Council for Education of Children and Students from Ethnic Minorities, set up in 2003, included several NGOs

with expertise in the field of education. The Ministry of Education has recently committed to re-establish the Council, but in a new reduced formula.

A reform of the educational law and school financing system is currently underway, and it is expected to bring about more financial stability and independence for the schools. Per-capita financing and delegated budgets have been piloted in recent years in several municipalities, and they are to be expanded nationwide in 2007 and beyond. This new, decentralized system is expected to create strong incentives for increasing Roma enrolment and preventing school drop-out. However, effective monitoring and enforcement needs to be in place to prevent the reporting of "ghost" students who are officially enroled but do not regularly attend school in practice.

#### 2.2 Employment

The Ministry of Labor only became engaged in Roma issues in 2005. Prior to that date, the ministry did not act as an implementing agency for the Framework Program for Roma, nor did it have its own strategy with respect to Roma. It did not even participate in the drafting process for the DAP. No Roma experts used to work in the Ministry of Labor, even though the vast majority of the beneficiaries for all of the ministry's social assistance programs are Roma.

However, in 2005, a Roma expert on employment was named deputy minister of the Ministry of Labor, an appointment that indicated greater openness toward this area. This deputy minister was later appointed Decade coordinator. As of this writing, the Ministry of Labor had also taken on preparing the Operational Program for Human Resource Development, Bulgaria's programming document for the use of European Social Fund financing. The document will regulate most of the areas covered by the Framework Program for Roma. Roma NGOs participated actively in the development process of the Operational Program "Human Resource Development." As a result of this, Roma issues are included in a separate chapter, which should ensure that this horizontal policy will find adequate reflection in financing of projects and programs.

Over the past two years, the Ministry of Labor began implementing a series of programs involving Roma communities, though the programs were not necessarily conceived or tailored for Roma. Most of the pilot programs were funded by the EU, while the larger mainstream programs are funded from the state budget. But these programs have yet to solidify into a coherent long-term strategy tailored to the specific situation of the Roma community. Part of the problem might be the lack of reliable data concerning the employment situation of Roma, a lack that obscures any analytical effort. Another problem might be the lack of coordination between various actions—for example pilot programs, on the one hand, and mainstream, nationwide policies, on the other.

Thus, while the adoption of the National Employment Plan in 2006 represents a major milestone for sectoral policies in Bulgaria, for Roma the event went virtually unnoticed. Roma are not even explicitly mentioned in the list of target groups, which includes a series of disadvantaged populations. At best, Roma are presumed to be served by the various provisions the plan makes for these disadvantaged groups. But, as the disadvantaged category is broad, and includes people with disabilities, the elderly and young college graduates, it is more likely that Roma will fall between the cracks of the various policies designed for these groups than be covered by the wide-blanket approach of the National Employment Plan. Moreover, most policies and programs under the National Employment Plan are aimed at reintegrating the unemployed into the labor market, and it is not clear whether the right mechanisms are in place to promote Roma employment, as a large proportion of Roma were never formally employed to begin with.

Indeed, the very concept of activation that governs all employment policy in Bulgaria has been developed at a theoretical level, with little understanding of actual patterns of behavior for both employers and employees. As a result, the implementation of fair employment policies is blocked by a series of primitive assumptions about potential beneficiaries and the actual functioning of work incentives in practice. For instance, the program From Social Assistance to Employment, one of the most expensive programs developed by the Bulgarian government, offers only a very limited range of employment opportunities to program participants —such as sanitation work or office cleaning work. The program was found to have a negative net impact

on employment, and has been scaled back in the last few years (De Koning, *Mid-Term Evaluation*). On the one hand, local administrators complained that the program was too restrictive, as some of the smaller towns do not have enough such work to offer to potential beneficiaries. On the other hand, the program does not act as a genuine incentive for beneficiaries who are paid only minimum wages, especially if they are from families with a large number of children who receive a host of social benefits, including regular child-rearing allowances (USAID, *The Labor Market in Bulgaria*; Bogdanov and Angelov, "The Integration of the Roma in Bulgaria").

In 2003, Bulgaria adopted a comprehensive antidiscrimination law based on EU directives in the field. The law offers extensive protections against discrimination on a wide array of grounds, and allows victims to use regular courts as well as an equality body, called the Anti-Discrimination Commission, to seek remedies. The Anti-Discrimination Commission, set up in 2005, has yet to begin working as an effective equality body. In the meantime, courts have taken an active role, ruling in strategic cases brought by NGOs, like the Romani Baht Foundation and the European Roma Rights Centre, in the areas of access to employment and school segregation.

#### 2.3 Health

In Bulgaria there is no centrally produced, comprehensive and regularly updated data on the health situation of Roma. Independent reports, however, show that health outcomes for Roma are sharply different from those of the non-Roma population in Bulgaria (Ministry of Health, Health Strategy). For instance, according to a UNDP report on Roma health the child mortality rate among Roma is three times higher than the rate among ethnic Bulgarians; the average life expectancy for Roma is 10 years lower than the country average; and more than 68 percent of Roma households have a chronically sick family member; yet almost half of all Roma are not covered by health insurance (Ministry of Health). Roma are more likely to suffer from diseases of the respiratory system (tuberculosis, silicosis, pulmonary emphysema, etc.) and the locomotor system, because of their living conditions and the kind of unskilled work they

perform (Ministry of Health). Roma often do not have the access enjoyed by the rest of the population to early diagnostics for such illnesses as cancer and cardiovascular diseases. While health legislation makes immunization obligatory for all persons under the age of 18, there are also access barriers to immunization programs. More recently, the appearance of a drug culture in inner-city ghettos has led to a sharp rise in HIV, as well as hepatitis B and C infections, along with other drug-related health problems. Residential segregation puts Roma at a greater physical distance from healthcare facilities, and they often live in areas that are not covered by a general practitioner, which effectively places them outside the healthcare system. Recognizing this, the Ministry of Health has been working on introducing mobile health clinics, so far in five cities. Furthermore, Bulgarian health providers are, as a rule, insensitive to the specific needs of the Roma population and often discriminate against Roma patients—either by providing more superficial, lower-quality services, or, sometimes, by refusing service outright. Ambulances sometimes refuse to pick up patients from Roma neighborhoods (European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance).

In 2003, as part of a PHARE program, the Ministry of Health commissioned a study by the Fact Marketing agency of the healthcare situation of Roma in 15 municipalities across the country. Based on the results of the study, the ministry developed 15 pilot programs, aimed at providing medical and sensitivity training to healthcare professionals working with Roma, and aimed at setting up informal Roma mediators to facilitate communication between Roma communities and healthcare institutions. From the experience of these pilot programs, the ministry developed a health strategy, which is reflected in the DAP. Shorterterm action plans for the implementation of this strategy specify objectives, deadlines, and institutions, as well as financing levels and mechanisms.

In 2005, the Ministry of Labor established a budget line to finance health expenditures for marginalized individuals. Access to this financing is limited to uninsured people and subject to a strict means test. Apparently, the number of people having used this funding is small, which may be due to limited dissemination of the program's availability.

The Ministry of Health has also enacted a number of national programs whose main targets are dis-

advantaged groups, including minorities and Roma. This is the case with a program for HIV-infection prevention and AIDS control, funded by the Global Fund for AIDS, Malaria and Tuberculosis. The program's basic components included distributing prophylactics in Roma communities. Another program sought to set up clinics in rural areas with mixed populations, including five small clinics in Roma communities.

In one other effort worth mentioning, with the support of the Open Society Institute, 87 health mediators have been trained in the past few years. As of this writing, health mediators are not yet incorporated into the Bulgarian health system. Many, however, began working as part of temporary programs for employment. It is expected that, in 2007, at least 60 of the trained mediators will be permanently employed by local municipalities through a subsidy provided by the Ministry of Finance (Ministry of Health, *Letter*).

#### 2.4 Housing

The housing situation of Roma in Bulgaria is notoriously dire. As large numbers of Roma moved to the cities in the early 1990s, inner-city "ghettos" or "shantytowns," sometimes entirely made up of illegally built homes with no utilities or infrastructure, have expanded alarmingly. The privatization of utility companies exacerbated the difficulties encountered by those living in these "ghettos." Companies began switching services off in order to cut their losses, creating explosive situations in Roma neighborhoods and leading to clashes between the discontented residents and police, who were called to enforce decisions of specific utility companies or simply to maintain public order. Adding to these problems is the issue of the legal status of many Roma settlements. Many buildings have been built illegally, the ownership of the land is sometimes unclear, and cadastre mapping with accurate property registration is rare. According to data produced as part of a PHARE program aiming at improving infrastructure in predominantly Roma areas, the main part of the urban Roma population lives in 100 such ghettos in 88 municipalities across the country (Amalipe). The government itself does not have any nationally representative, regularly updated data on Roma housing as of this writing.

The Bulgarian government has adopted two major programs that began to address housing for Roma: the National Program on Improving the Living Conditions of Ethnic Minorities in Urban Areas (hereinafter, the National Program for Minorities) and the National Program for Improving the Living Conditions of Roma in Bulgaria (hereinafter, the National Program for Roma). Both deal with the needs of urban Roma exclusively, leaving Roma living in rural areas with not even a policy on paper to address their housing situation—even though rural Roma make up almost half of the total Roma population in Bulgaria and they are often more impoverished than those living in urban areas.

The first government initiative, the National Program for Minorities, was started in 2005 by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) as part of an effort to support housing policy development, based on the 2004 National Housing Strategy. The UNDP worked with the Ministry of Regional Development and Public Works, and the National Council for Co-operation on Ethnic and Demographic Issues, to develop a complex strategy based on an integrated, multi-sectoral approach that was modeled on internationally accepted models of best practice. Paradoxically, the vulnerability of the strategy lies precisely in this complexity, which presupposes coordination and complementarity for a wide range of measures taken by a large number of stakeholders. As the implementation of the National Program for Minorities relies on the commitment and voluntary participation of different stakeholders, its success is kept hostage to the fragile consensus of the local actors, which is constantly undermined by a history of competition for resources or sheer animosity. The integrated approach of the National Program for Minorities is unlikely to work unless a certain level of synergy is attained, and so the progressive UNDP-designed policy risks becoming another example of discrepancy between the Bulgarian government's sometimes ambitious policy commitments and its capacity for adequate implementation (Amalipe).

The National Program for Roma, adopted in 2006, is a result of the joint efforts of experts from the Directorate of Ethnic and Demographic Issues, the Ministry of Regional Development and Public Works, the Ministry of Finance, and the Ministry of Labor,

as well as representatives of the Bulgarian National Association of Municipalities, the UNDP offices in Bulgaria and Roma NGOs. Covering the same time span as the Decade, the National Program for Roma calls for investing in infrastructure developments in Roma neighborhoods, finding alternative locations for some settlements, building new low-income housing from the state budget, and changing the spatial development of segregated Roma areas. The program envisages clear measures, indicators and budget lines, as well as a solid financial commitment from the state budget. Forty percent of the program is to be funded by the state, which gives BGN 1.26 billion. Another 30 percent is supposed to be covered by EU structural funds, another 17 percent is to come from local authorities, and the remainder is to come from beneficiaries or other financial institutions, including banks. The state contribution alone makes the National Program for Roma stand out among other Roma-related programs, which rely primarily on the good will of foreign donors. In addition, the National Program for Roma has the advantage of being a targeted policy, tailored to the specific needs of Roma, while at the same time being mainstreamed in the National Housing Strategy, because it is understood that improving living conditions for Roma helps improve the overall housing situation in Bulgaria. The program is also different in that it provides for the involvement of Roma communities, which can give it much-needed acceptance and legitimacy among its beneficiaries.

While it is too early to assess the implementation of the National Program for Roma, several worrying signals have already appeared. For one thing, local authorities have shown themselves reluctant to contribute their own funds in the pilot phase of the program. The mechanisms for ensuring financing from the state budget also appear unclear: The National Program stipulates that financing will be made available through the budget of the Ministry of Regional Development and Public Works "depending on opportunities in the budget" and "within the expenditure limits and dependent on other programs within the budget of the Ministry" (Amalipe). The actual funding for 2006-2007 implementation indicates the drawback of this provision. Only about two percent of the total 10-year budget estimate was allocated for the first two years. While some of this disproportionate allocation can be justified by the claim that most activities during these first two years are of a preparatory nature, this is too weak an explanation for such a sharp discrepancy in funding.

A more likely explanation is that the measures envisaged for the first two years are not meant to address the core of the problem. Thus, for 2006-2007, activities are concentrated only in municipalities where the Roma population makes up more than 10 percent of the total population. This, in effect, leaves out the worst ghettos in large cities like Sofia, Plovdiv or Burgas, as those cities have numerous, diverse populations, and many Roma living there declare themselves to be either Bulgarian or Turkish. According to a statement of the National Council, the National Program for the Improvement of Living Conditions of Roma is applicable for all settlements (towns and villages). This is

subject to conditions, including whether housing issues are a priority in the respective regional and municipal plans for development and there is a cadastral map of the settlement.

The government also appears to have given a mechanistic reading to the original policy document prepared by the UNDP. The official document circulated by the Ethnic and Demographic Issues Directorate presents only a selective copy-and-paste version of the original document. What has been lost in the process is the logic of interdependence among the various actors and stakeholders, as well as some demonstrative projects that could have served as a model against which local actions could have been checked (Amalipe). Gone, too, are important stakeholders for developing local strategies: local NGOs and the Roma communities themselves.

## Croatia

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

## 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting and Adoption

The drafting of the Croatian Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP) began in September 2004, during a series of four workshops (one for each focus area) organized by the Office for National Minorities in the Croatian government. The four workshops involved a good range of stakeholders, with representatives from the relevant ministries and government offices, research institutions, regional authorities, and international and domestic nongovernmental organizations, including Roma activists. There was some imbalance, however, in terms of the relative attention granted to each focus area. Thus, while the education workshop lasted for two days and was attended by 27 participants, and the housing workshop lasted a full day and was attended by 22 participants, the other two focus area workshops were compressed into half a day each. There were only eight participants for the health section and six for the employment section, and out of these attendees, four were Roma NGO representatives who belong to the Commission for Monitoring the Implementation of the National Program for Roma and who attended both workshops.

Following the drafting workshops, the DAP was finalized inside the various ministries in charge of specific focus areas, and, later, in various expert groups

within the Office for National Minorities. According to the head of the Office for National Minorities, the expert groups included some Roma representatives, alongside officials from various ministries and government agencies. The exact number and identity of the participants is not known, as the reports of the proceedings have not been made public. The head of the Office for National Minorities declared that the primary role of the expert groups was to bring the drafts resulting from the workshops in line with the recommendations of the International Steering Committee of the Decade of Roma Inclusion and in line with Croatian law. In December 2004, the draft DAP was brought before the Commission for Monitoring the Implementation of the National Program for Roma, which approved it. The draft was then forwarded to the Coordination Committee for Social Affairs and Human Rights, a standing body within the cabinet whose members are ministry officials. Upon the recommendation of the Coordination Committee, the DAP was passed by the government on March 31, 2005. The text of the DAP was published online in English and Croatian, and in hard copy in Croatian, but not in Romani or Bajas, the two languages spoken by Roma in Croatia.

In the time between the initial focus area workshops and adoption by the government, the draft DAP appears to have undergone significant modifications. A comparison of a September 2004 draft and the final text of the DAP, both available online, reveals major differences. It is not clear where and when these modifications took place, and the reports from the draft-

ing workshops provided by the Office for National Minorities do not make reference to how the drafting and amending of the DAP proceeded once the document left the workshops.

The DAP was officially launched on May 2, 2005, in a much-publicized ceremony at the Croatian National Theatre. It was attended by the Prime Minister and Jadranka Kosor, the Vice Prime Minister and national coordinator for the Decade, who also serves as Minister of Family Affairs, War Veterans, and Intergenerational Solidarity, as well as chair of the Commission for Monitoring the Implementation of the National Program for Roma. In her speech, Vice Prime Minister Kosor evaluated the DAP as very clear and concrete. She said that every year reports will be submitted on the implementation of DAP goals. Roma NGOs and National Minority Councils were present, but were not included among the official speakers at the event. Roma were officially featured only as part of the cultural program of the event, which consisted of a Roma folklore interlude.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

The reading of both the English and the Croatian texts of the DAP is complicated by translation issues: The English terms "goal" and "target" can both be translated into Croatian using the same word, *cilj*. The Croatian-language version of the DAP tries to distinguish between the two by using *cilj* to stand for the broadest goals, and the word *mjera* ("measure") to stand for targets. To make matters even more confusing, the English translation of the Croatian DAP translates *cilj* back into English as "target" and *mjera* as "goal." Moreover, both concrete measures and broader goals are listed in the same column, in the English version of the DAP, under the heading "goals," rendering the reading of the DAP even more confusing.

Contrary to the recommendations of the International Steering Committee of the Decade, the Croatian DAP mostly lists absolute indicators, which do not compare the situation of Roma to that of the non-Roma population. Many of the indicators measure progress in terms of the number of beneficiaries or the number of actions carried out toward a specific goal, rather than in terms of outcomes or results. This is

hard to remedy as long as a number of Croatian government officials maintain, as they have done to date, that data collection by ethnicity is not permitted under the current regulations on the protection of personal data. Even though the law allows for exceptions precisely for the purpose of designing public interest policies, the Croatian government has been reluctant to generate the type of disaggregated data, broken down by ethnicity, that would make it possible to accurately assess gaps between Roma and non-Roma in all sectoral fields.

Another shortcoming of the DAP is that the deadline column for 48 out of 57 measures is listed as "in the course of the Decade," sometimes adding "more intensively" in one of the early years of the Decade. This makes it hard to assess how various measures will be phased in relation to each other. The lack of intermediate deadlines also makes it difficult to measure implementation progress at specific moments in the course of the Decade. Moreover, some of the measures for which the DAP sets a specific deadline in 2005 were not included in the 2005 action plan, an oversight that casts doubt on the consistency with which deadlines are understood and monitored by the government.

The DAP states that cost estimates for actions under the Decade are hard to make. Still, the estimated budget for the whole Decade is HRK 60,845,700 (around EUR 8.2 million). A total of HRK 2,852,000 (around EUR 385,000) of this has been secured from the state budget for implementation in the year 2005. For 2006, funding has been increased by 430 percent to HRK 11,886,670 (around EUR 1.6 million). Two European Union PHARE grants (EUR 1,300,000 for 2005 and EUR 2,500,000 for 2006) have also been listed under the project "Providing Support for Roma" on the government's Decade website. The government is supposed to match 30 percent of each of these two amounts, but, as of this writing, it is not clear what amount of government funding will go toward DAP implementation or toward the implementation of the National Program for Roma and the DAP combined.

### 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation Mechanisms

The official government website providing information on the Decade lists Vice Prime Minister Kosor as the national coordinator for the Decade. Vice Prime Minister Kosor also serves as chair of the Commission for Monitoring the Implementation of the National Program for Roma (hereinafter, the Monitoring Commission), but is not listed as a member of the Working Group for Monitoring the Implementation of the Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, the Working Group) on the official website.

Much of the day-to-day work relating to the coordination of the Decade, however, is done not by the coordinator's office, but rather by the Office for National Minorities, an expert service of the government. The Office for National Minorities has five employees, none of whom are Roma. It is headed by Milena Klajner, who is also the head of the Working Group monitoring the implementation of the DAP and a member of the Monitoring Commission. Indeed, the Office for National Minorities fulfills day-to-day administrative and technical functions between the regular meetings of both the Working Group and the Monitoring Commission, which are made up entirely of volunteers. The Office for National Minorities, thus, holds powers beyond those of a mere administrative or expert body. It also receives some of the funding allocated from the state budget to Roma programs, and, as of 2006, EU PHARE funding, under a project entitled "Providing Support for the Roma" began to be administered through the Office for National Minorities.

The Office for National Minorities can also recommend members of NGOs and/or National Minorities Councils for membership in the Working Group and the Monitoring Commission. The head of the Office for National Minorities said the members that his office recommends are supposed to reflect the geographical and cultural diversity of Roma communities and the suggestions of Roma NGOs themselves. As a result, the current membership of the Working Group includes four Roma representatives. One problem with the selection process for both the Working Group and the Monitoring Commission is that there are no official, publicly available criteria for choosing the Roma representatives who are approved by the government.

On the government side, the current membership of the Working Group is spread across a wide, apparently random range of seniority and decision-making powers within governmental structures. It consists of one assistant minister, two heads of departments within ministries, one senior expert consultant and one expert consultant. According to the government decree establishing the Working Group, ministers in each relevant line ministry appoint a person who is in charge of Roma issues and, as part of the Working Group, monitors the implementation of the DAP. Relevant ministries include: the Ministry of Science, Education, and Sports (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education); the Ministry of Health and Social Welfare (hereinafter, the Ministry of Health); the Ministry of the Economy, Labor, and Entrepreneurship (hereinafter, the Labor Ministry); the Ministry of Environmental Protection, Physical Planning, and Construction (hereinafter the Ministry of Environment); and the Ministry of the Sea, Tourism, Transport, and Development. With the exception of the Ministry of Education, which created a Roma unit in June 2006, each of the five line ministries represented in the Working Group have added Roma-related tasks as an additional responsibility for ministry employees who have other duties to fulfill as part of their job description. None of these ministries have employed Roma in these positions, and there have been no measures to promote the employment of Roma.

The first meeting of the Working Group was held on July 18, 2005. While the decree governing the establishment and functioning of the Working Group, published on the government's Decade website, does not specify how often the group should meet, it appears that, to date, the group has been meeting on a fairly regular basis, about once every two months. The Working Group is subordinated to the Monitoring Commission, which is a body charged with overseeing the implementation of the national strategy on Roma. Much of the membership of the Monitoring Commission overlaps with that of the Working Group. But the Monitoring Commission is wider in that it also includes representatives of additional ministries (Internal Affairs, Justice, and Culture), local authorities from the heavily Roma area of Medimurje County, and authorities from the capital of Zagreb. Many of the attributes of the Monitoring Commission overlap with those of the Working Group, as do the above-described

procedures for appointing Roma NGO representatives. Both bodies have a merely advisory role. Government ministries and agencies, which are vested with actual implementing and reporting powers, are assigned the bulk of the Decade-related funding from the state budget. The little influence the advisory bodies have comes from decisions relating to the distribution of Office for National Minorities funding through the Monitoring Commission, though this mechanism is not clearly spelled out in any regulations. The Working Group and the Monitoring Commission can also leverage influence upon local authorities informally. This may explain why both bodies focused efforts on addressing individual issues on a local level, bypassing the development of systemic plans and reforms to address the goals of the DAP.

An annual priority plan was adopted in 2005, but it included cost estimates for only a small proportion of the listed measures. Since the adoption of the DAP and the yearly action plan for 2005, no action plan was developed, for either 2006 or 2007. When interviewed for the purposes of this report, the head of the Office for National Minorities indicated that a plan for 2007 was in the works, but the deadline for its finalization or adoption by the government was not clear.

Several ministries appear to have submitted draft reports on DAP implementation to the Office for National Minorities but, as of this writing, no official report on Croatia's progress under the Decade has been made public.

#### FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

Some data on Roma education is available in the 2001 national census, but, as the number of persons declaring themselves Roma to official pollsters is less than one-quarter of the generally accepted estimates, this data is not considered reliable. According to the census, 32.6 percent of Roma more than 15 years of age have no schooling at all, only18.8 percent have completed elementary school, and only 5.9 percent gradu-

ated secondary schools. For women, the figures are even more alarming, as 44.2 percent have no schooling at all. As compared to Roma, only 2.9 percent of the non-Roma population has no schooling at all. Literacy rates among Roma are very low, and a significant proportion of Roma children apparently never attend school. Those who do go to school tend to drop out before completing their primary education.

Primary and secondary education for Roma is offered only in Croatian. According to independent reports, Roma students in areas with larger Roma populations, such as Medimurje County, are sometimes placed in segregated classes that follow a remedial or simplified curriculum (Roma Education Fund, Needs Assessment; European Roma Rights Center, Shadow Report; Amnesty International, False Starts). This curriculum is often modeled after the special curricula developed for students with intellectual disabilities, and it does not provide a quality education that would allow students to graduate to secondary school. The number of such segregated classes in Croatia is relatively small, and NGO reports indicate that they are mostly found in those counties with larger Roma populations. No desegregation policy was adopted by the Ministry of Education. Moreover, in a recent ruling on a case of educational segregation in Medimurje County, the Croatian Constitutional Court ruled that the establishment of separate classes for Roma students in primary schools is not discriminatory, provided that these classes follow a modified curriculum that aims to assist students in developing the necessary language skills to be included in regular Croatian-language classes. The establishment of similar classes in the later grades, however, is, in the Court's opinion, unconstitutional (HINA, "Posebni").

Some measures aimed at facilitating access to quality education for Roma students are in place in Croatia. For instance, Croatia has a free preparatory program of approximately 250 hours as part of its preschool education system. Preschools offer one warm meal a day and some transportation, where necessary, in cooperation with local authorities and schools. A relatively small number of Roma children participate in the preparatory program—partly because Roma children do not attend preschool education to begin with, and partly because Roma parents are often not aware of the existence of this free program. Some Roma minority

education preschools, as well as local government preschools that have Roma students, receive state, Roma Education Fund and Open Society Institute funding, but their number and capacity is far lower than that of the state system. Moreover, attendance of these NGO-run programs, which range from day-care to regular 10-hour kindergartens, is usually shorter-term and does not substitute for attendance in the state-run two-year preschool system (Roma Education Fund, *Situation*). According to the Office of National Minorities, there were 707 Roma children enroled in eight preschool programs in 2006-2007, up from 345 in 2005-2006.

Primary education in state schools is free, and the government announced free textbook provision beginning with the 2006-2007 school year. Funding is available for transportation and school transfers, and the implicit understanding among some school administrators is that this provision is intended to prevent segregation. In practice, however, integration does not appear to happen, as school administrators often succumb to pressure from non-Roma parents and place Roma in separate classes (Roma Education Fund, *Situation*).

Few measures to encourage school attendance are in place, other than free tuition and textbooks, and there is no detailed strategy to prevent drop-outs. Some enrolment data is available: According to the Ministry of Education, 3,010 Roma children were enrolled in school at the beginning of the fall 2006 term, a substantial increase from 1,013 in 2005. But the Ministry does not currently collect data on school drop-outs or non-attending enrolled students.

Funding is available for Roma teaching assistants through the Ministry of Education. However, teaching assistants are mostly employed as translators or discipline enforcers in the classroom, and they do not spend much time cooperating with teachers on course planning and delivery. The status of these assistants is still unclear, as there is no legal framework for their work, and they are consequently employed only on one-year contracts. No training for teaching assistants is available. Currently there are about 20 teaching assistants in Croatia, most of them employed in schools with higher Roma populations in Medimurje County (Roma Education Fund, *Situation*).

Affirmative action measures in secondary schools include preferential scoring for Roma seeking admis-

sion and more intensive vocational guidance. Moreover, in the 2005-2006 academic year, the Ministry of Education provided up to 74 scholarships to Roma, as well as free accommodation in dormitories. The vast majority of Roma students in secondary schools, by the ministry's own account, are enroled in three-year vocational schools, and only a handful of Roma students in four-year high schools have received scholarships. This indicates that most Roma in secondary schools are in three-year vocational schools that offer lower qualifications than four-year programs. Vocational school graduates who want to receive equivalent qualifications must subsequently attend a degree program in a community college (Roma Education Fund, *Situation*).

Similar measures are taken at the university level, where Roma students begin receiving a stipend throughout the course of their studies. There is no quota system in Croatia, but there is a practice according to which Roma students can submit additional recommendations to the deans' office. Anecdotal evidence suggests that these recommendations, often provided by Roma organizations, do carry weight during the admissions process. Still, the number of Roma university students in Croatia is very low: According to the Ministry of Education, only six Roma students receive the mentioned stipends as of this writing.

There are no minority language curricula developed for Roma in Croatia, and no education whatsoever is available either in Romani or in Bajas, the two languages spoken by the Croatian Roma community. Little information on Roma is included in mainstream curricula, and it is mostly in relation to World War II. Where such information is included, independent reports have noted that it often tends to convey a negative image of Roma and to play on stereotypes (European Commission Against Racism and Intolerance, *Third Report on Croatia*).

One other measure worth mentioning is a government-funded adult literacy program that started in 2002 and provides adults with the possibility to complete primary education through elementary schools and open universities (Ministry of Education, *Za Hrvatsku pismenost*). Unfortunately, many Roma in Croatia are not aware of the existence of such second-chance programs. In the 2005-2006 school year, 83 people were reported to be included in the literacy programs. This number is very small, especially

given that 23 of them are inmates in the Turopolje juvenile detention center who participate in the literacy classes as part of a continuing education program (Ministry of Education, *Report 2005-2006*).

The DAP does not adequately address many of the problems that Roma face in the area of education. For instance, no clear understanding of desegregation measures emerges from the DAP. Some sections are merely vague on this issue: One action calls for reducing the number of Roma-only classes by providing the same enrolment conditions for all children, without specifying what "same" means and how "same conditions" can lead to desegregation. The logic of other sections is simply unclear: Desegregation appears only as means for developing multicultural education, a construction that indicates some confusion between cause and effect. Moreover, the indicators used to assess progress are the number of children in desegregated classes and the number of desegregated classes. Without comprehensive data on the ethnic breakdown of school children in each class and the scale of segregation in Croatia, and without a clear definition of segregation and integration based on specific thresholds, the indicator cannot provide a measure of even relative progress on desegregation, much less on the loosely related development of multicultural education. Finally, the fact that no funding is associated with any actions relating to desegregation only raises further concern as to their actual implementation.

#### 2.2 Employment

There is no reliable, periodically produced data on Roma employment in Croatia. The Croatian Employment Bureau began producing data disaggregated by ethnicity in 2005, but it only covers those Roma who are officially registered as unemployed. Assessments are further complicated by the fact that many Roma in Croatia do not identify themselves as Roma for the purposes of the census. Thus it is more accurate to refer to estimates (unofficial as well as government-produced) that place the Roma population somewhere between 30,000 and 40,000 (Kusan and Zoon, *Report*; Liegeois and Gheorghe, *Romal Gypsies*). For instance, in 2003, the National Program for Roma said that Croatia has

21,381 Roma receiving social assistance. This number is more than double the total number of Roma declared in the 2001 census (9,463), and it can be assumed to represent at least half of the estimated Roma population. Indeed, 74 percent of Roma interviewed for a government-funded survey by the Ivo Pilar Institute mentioned social assistance as one of their most important sources of income (Stambuk, How Do Croatian Roma Live?). Furthermore, research conducted by the Croatian Office for Protection of Family, Motherhood, and Youth in 2002 (Uzelac, Struktura romskih obitelji), indicated that more than 89 percent of Roma households do not have a single member with regular permanent income. According to the study, only 6.5 percent of Roma are permanently employed, while more than 57 percent are registered as unemployed with the Croatian Employment Bureau. The study also found that 18 percent of Roma are neither working nor looking for a job, and 13 percent are working in the gray economy, either occasionally or on a regular basis. Researchers and independent observers agree that unemployment is even higher among Roma women, mostly because they are generally less educated than men, and also because of labor divisions along traditional gender lines in the family (Kusan and Zoon).

There is evidence that discrimination against Roma seeking employment is widespread in Croatia (Kusan, Report; European Roma Rights Center, Shadow Report). Activists report that Roma face many discriminatory practices, such as employers claiming that jobs are "already filled" when Roma appear for an interview (Kusan). An Open Society Institute-commissioned study revealed that 79 percent of non-Roma believe that they have a better chance at being hired over a Roma with the same qualifications (Strategic Marketing Research, Draft Research). Amendments to Croatian labor law in 2004 included some anti-discrimination protections in line with the EU standards on employment, but a comprehensive anti-discrimination law that would protect against racial discrimination in all sectoral areas has yet to be adopted in Croatia. Although an anti-discrimination strategy has been in the works since 2004, as of this writing, the document had not been adopted by the government (European Commission Against Racism and Intolerance).

The employment section of the DAP consists of a mere seven actions, many of them of a very gen-

eral nature. A clearer picture about the mechanisms for implementing the goals under the Decade can be gleaned only by stepping outside the framework of the DAP: As six out of the seven actions listed in the employment section of the DAP overlap with similar measures in the National Plan for Roma, one can extrapolate the more detailed descriptions from the National Plan to the DAP. Additionally, in 2006 the Croatian Employment Bureau published on its website a detailed description of measures taken under three of the actions listed in the DAP (Croatian Employment Bureau, *Measures*). These descriptions further clarified the manner in which the general outlines of the DAP are interpreted in practice.

Where available, the financing is calculated per person. Thus, totaling the per year number of people encompassed by three of the DAP measures which are further described in a separate Croatian Employment Bureau document, one reaches the conclusion that about 2,150 persons are envisaged as beneficiaries of the employment action plan for the entire duration of the Decade. This is obviously insufficient to address the chronic unemployment problems of the Roma population in Croatia, especially since almost half of the beneficiaries of the DAP are supposed to be engaged in short-term public works (for which usually the term of the contract does not exceed nine months), which represent a merely temporary, palliative measure.

The figures presented on Croatian Employment Bureau web pages indicate that a total of 220 Roma were employed or trained through these measures by the end of November 2006. This exceeds the 215 people originally envisaged per annum in the DAP. However, 194 of the 220 were employed in short-term public works programs, which means that only 26 people were included in long-term training and employment programs. The DAP financing column indicates that, each year, 100 persons were supposed to be hired for public works, 100 more were supposed to undergo vocational training, and at least 15 were supposed to enter subsidized employment. But the figures provided by the Croatian Employment Bureau indicate that 12 people entered subsidized employment and that vocational training measures included altogether 14, less than 20 percent of the originally planned number of beneficiaries. Meanwhile, the number of Roma hired for short-term public works was double the amount

planned, possibly because funding became available as the other measures were not implemented.

Many of the activities presented as falling under the goals of the Decade are in fact part of the regular workload of the Croatian Employment Bureau. The services described in these activities are permanently available to-and are sometimes mandatory for-all registered unemployed, regardless of ethnicity. It is not clear whether any specific adjustments in service delivery and outreach need to be made, and are indeed being made, to make these mainstream activities work for Roma. For instance, reports of the Croatian Employment Bureau to the Office for National Minorities indicate that the first action listed in the employment section of the DAP, "training and employment of Roma in all branches of industry (especially young people and women)," is carried out by means of group and individual counselling, job-search and self-presentation workshops (Croatian Employment Bureau, Report)—activities that are part of the regular workload of the Employment Bureau and are not targeted specifically to Roma.

Finally, government reports on measures to improve on the employment situation of Roma reveal at times a curious understanding of what such measures may be. For instance, government reports (though not the DAP) list professional orientation for students graduating elementary schools among the measures benefiting Roma. Roma undergoing such orientation receive certificates that give them certain advantages when competing for secondary school enrolment. However, in order to receive these certificates, they must first be evaluated as disabled—either physically or intellectually, according to the Head of the Croatian Employment Bureau's Department for Mediation and Active Employment Measures, who was interviewed for the purposes of this report. It is not clear, therefore, why this was reported as an activity in support of Roma employment. The Croatian Employment Bureau reported to the Office for National Minorities that such orientation courses were held for all Roma pupils in Medimurje County (the total number is not known), and that 20 of them received such certificates (Croatian Employment Bureau, Report).

Other measures included in the DAP, despite the fact that they have high potential for success, and despite having detailed, functioning implementation mechanisms detailed by the Croatian Employment Bureau,

have not been utilized. Training for a known employer, for instance, is an active employment measure which matches job candidates to potential employers, facilitates the training of candidates and new employees, and provides subsidies for salaries for a determined period of time. Unfortunately, the Croatian Employment Bureau reports that no job-seekers have been placed through this program to date (Croatian Employment Bureau, *Report*).

#### 2.3 Health

Apparently, no reliable data on the health situation of Roma is collected regularly in Croatia. Reports by NGOs and intergovernmental bodies, however, indicate that the health outcomes of Roma are significantly worse than for non-Roma (European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance). In addition, a significant number of Roma in Croatia do not have access to basic health insurance. Health insurance regulations preclude unemployed persons who fail to register changes in their employment status within a specified time frame from accessing health insurance (Kusan and Zoon). Lack of citizenship or other documentation also seems to preclude a certain number of Roma from accessing health insurance (European Commission Against Racism and Intolerance; Kusan and Zoon). Meanwhile, independent reports have pointed out discriminatory practices against Roma in access to health services, including: discriminatory attitudes and practices of medical personnel, failure of community nurses to visit Roma settlements, problems in access to emergency care, and denial of medical documentation to victims of police brutality and racially motivated violence (European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance and Shadow Report). The authors of this report have also been informed that segregation in obstetric-gynecological and pediatric care is still a practice in some healthcare facilities in Medimurje County.

The health section of the DAP contains only five areas of action. The indicators are specific enough, though, for the most part, they are still phrased in absolute terms. One exception is the indicator on vaccination rates, which compares vaccination rates among Roma and non-Roma children. The deadlines are more specific, but, like other sections of the DAP,

many deadlines in the health section are listed as the whole course of the Decade. Three out of five actions have set financing associated with them. Local authorities are the sources for most of the financing listed in the health section of the DAP. This could be a major implementation obstacle: Previous experiences show that this system is not likely to work in practice, as local authorities are not eager to allocate funding to Roma programs, and the central government does not have enough leverage to push them to do so.

One important suggestion was made at the DAP drafting workshop: that healthcare should be provided to those who are otherwise not entitled to basic health insurance. But this idea was not adequately translated into the official DAP. The fact that the 2005 action plan mentions that healthcare is provided through "basic health insurance"—which is only available to those who qualify and is not available to many Roma for a variety of reasons—gives further cause for concern that the item did not retain its original meaning during the transition from draft DAP version to official document. This wording means that the most vulnerable groups of Roma population, those who for various reasons do not fulfill legal requirements for basic health insurance, will not be able to obtain adequate access to health protection as part of the Decade implementation process.

While it is commendable that the health section of the DAP foresees some data collection on the health situation of Roma, the implementing plan for this action indicates that the results will be far from reliable. The financing column mentions that one county will be surveyed per year. Even assuming that the seven counties with higher Roma populations will take priority—a fact not explicitly mentioned in the DAP—this means that more than half of the Decade will pass before relatively representative data will be available. Moreover, some of the data collected in the early years of the Decade will have already become obsolete. The chances of following even this flawed plan are already slim: It appears that, due to lack of funding, data collection has been conducted only in selected localities, rather than entire counties. This situation further calls into question the accuracy of the results.

Most of the activities undertaken to improve the health situation of Roma to date consist of locally conducted surveys and studies, as well as information drives in particular localities. Some pilot projects have also been funded, but the outcomes of these projects are still unknown. Immunization efforts have also been conducted in areas with higher Roma populations, as evidenced by an immunization campaign conducted in 2005 in the Roma settlement Rujevica near Rijeka. But progress assessment is difficult in the absence of adequate data collection and information about other, similar campaigns. According to information provided by the Office of National Minorities for the purposes of this report, 84.8 percent of Roma children enroled in preschool programs are immunized, 3.8 percent are partially immunized and 11.4 percent are not immunized. Overall, most children in Croatia are immunized by the time they enter primary school, sometimes right at the entry point, by the school itself.

Another measure whose implementation is problematic is the training of Roma health professionals. It appears that nothing has been done in this direction as of this writing. No government reports mention any activities in this regard, and representatives of the Ministry of Health and the National Institute for Public Health interviewed for the purposes of this report could not present any information, either on past actions or on future plans to implement this measure. The authors of the report are aware of four young Roma training in a vocational secondary school in the Zagreb area to become medical technicians and nurses. But their education is facilitated by a scholarship scheme of the Ministry of Education, not by the Ministry of Health.

#### 2.4 Housing

Roma in Croatia frequently live in segregated settlements, in houses that were often built illegally, on private or public land at the edges of larger towns and municipalities. As a result, they often do not have access to public utilities, such as electricity or running water, and are denied basic services, such as garbage collection or telephone connections (UNDP, *Human Development Report*; European Roma Rights Centre, *Shadow Report*).

While the government has commissioned studies on the housing situation of Roma, these studies have not gone beyond counting Roma settlements and urban neighborhoods (Stambuk). The studies develop a typol-

ogy of Roma housing, but fail to investigate the causes and patterns of housing rights violations. Independent reports, however, have helped develop a clearer picture. According to a recent United Nations Development Programme study, almost 50 percent of Roma families live in less than 35 square meters, and 11 percent of these live in less than 10 square meters. Roma occupy 0.66 rooms per household member, compared to the majority population, which occupies 1.25 rooms on average. Ten percent of Roma live in "slums," but the same is true of only 2 percent of the majority population. Sixty percent of Roma households do not have indoor plumbing, while 4 percent of non-Roma live in such conditions (UNDP).

Social housing is not available to Roma in practice. The system for awarding social housing in Croatia is extremely complicated and non-transparent, and official criteria indirectly discriminate against Roma. Applicants for social housing are awarded points for years in permanent employment, and they are required to prove continuous residence. Neither criteria is typically available to unemployed Roma, who often live in unregistered housing in illegal settlements (Zoon). The authors of this report know of only one instance in which the government developed social housing for Roma: The Donja Dubrava settlement, which, after being struck by a flood, was relocated in integrated housing bought with local and central financing in neighboring villages.

Some measures to improve the housing situation of Roma are already in place. For instance, a PHARE program co-funded and administered by the government in 2005 and 2006 invested in infrastructure reconstruction in four settlements in Medimurje County. Almost EUR 4,000,000 has already been allocated for this purpose, but this represents less than the absorption capacity expected in Croatia. Indeed, the Ministry of the Sea, Tourism and Transportation (hereinafter, the Ministry of Transportation) has publicly stated that local authorities need to be more proactive in developing infrastructure projects and asking for central co-financing on such projects. The Ministry of Transportation itself has co-financed two infrastructure projects for the course of the Decade.

Meanwhile, measures regarding the legalization of settlements have registered some progress in implementation. For instance, a total of 12 counties (out

of the 14 that were required to do so) have developed plans for improving conditions in Roma communities. The plans include detailed financing estimates and potential sources of funding. Specific locations are also being targeted: Before Croatia joined the Decade, only two locations where Roma lived fulfilled all conditions for legalization—including the drafting of physical zoning plans by local authorities, with funding from the Ministry of Environment—but, as of this writing, 11 locations had fulfilled all the conditions. According to the Office of National Minorities, nine out of 13 settlements in Medimurje County have been legalized.

The housing section of the DAP was drafted during a one-day workshop attended by representatives of most stakeholders and relevant government agencies. It is much more specific than other sections of the DAP and contains a detailed narrative part that describes all measures. It divides larger, long-term goals into short-term measures that contribute towards the achievement of the larger goals. It often lists the role of each implementing institution in relation to the other implementers, not just the names of the implementers in no particular order, as is the case with other sections of the DAP.

The indicators, however, are set in absolute terms, and usually measure inputs, such as funding or land allocation, rather than outputs. Deadlines are usually non-specific and are set by default to the entire duration of the Decade. Furthermore, no specific funding is listed for any of the activities. Instead, the funding column of the DAP merely lists potential sources for financing—such as local authorities, who have, to date, proven reluctant to allocate funds to housing programs benefiting Roma—or it says that funding sources are to be determined at a later date.

In contrast, the Ministry of Environment has set an example of good practice by allocating increasingly large budgets for urban planning in the areas inhabited by Roma over the first three years of the Decade. In 2005, the Ministry of Environment reported spending approximately EUR 43,000 towards developing urban planning projects for Roma under the Decade. The funding came from dedicated budget lines for Roma areas, as well as from supplemental funds obtained from regularly budgeted activities. By 2006, the Ministry had more than doubled the sums secured from various sources for the same purpose. For 2007, the Ministry of Environment estimates its expenditures for urban planning in mostly-Roma areas at EUR 137,000.

# Czech Republic

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

The Czech Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP) was prepared by the Office of the Government Council for Roma Community Affairs (hereinafter, the Government Office for Roma), in cooperation with representatives of relevant line ministries: the Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor), the Ministry of Education, Youth, and Sports (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education), the Ministry of Regional Development, and the Ministry of Health. The director of the Government Office for Roma, Czeslaw Walek, developed early drafts of the DAP and presented them to the Decade Committee. The Decade Committee had been formed in March 2004 for the purpose of advising on the Decade of Roma Inclusion within the Government Office for Roma. The committee was initially chaired by Government Commissioner for Human Rights Jan Jarab. In October 2004, when Jarab moved to a position within the European Commission, the assistant Deputy Prime Minister Ivo Hartman took over the chairmanship of the Decade Committee and the coordination of Decade activities.

Representatives of Roma civic groups and international institutions were invited to take part in a series of workshops aimed at designing the sectoral focus areas for action. These workshops appear to be the only tool for providing consultation with representatives of non-

governmental organizations, and they involved very few people. There were five participants in the education workshop, four in health, and three each in housing and employment—most of them representing ministries or government agencies. One or, in the case of the education workshop, two Roma representatives were present in each workshop, but these participants report that their influence on the actual design of the DAP was minimal. Even the three Roma representatives on the Decade Committee (one each from the Athinganoi and Romea NGOs and one working as an advisor on Roma issues to the municipality of Pardubice) report that, though they were consulted on communications strategies, they were not involved in the actual process of drafting the DAP.

The official decision to join the Decade, and the approval of the DAP, can be found in Government Resolution 136 from January 26, 2005. On February 2, 2005, Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Justice Pavel Nemec signed the Decade Declaration at the official launch of Decade of Roma Inclusion in Sofia.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

The Czech DAP is based on the Concept for Roma Integration in the Czech Republic (hereinafter, the Roma Integration Concept), a national governmental strategy for Roma. By the government's own admission, the Roma Integration Concept is not being adequately implemented. On November 5, 2006, Jan Litomisky,

the head of the Government Human Rights Council, stated in a television debate that the Roma Integration Concept was failing. Roma NGOs and other independent observers concur in this evaluation. Unfortunately, as most of the objectives and activities listed in the DAP overlap with those in the Roma Integration Concept, there is a danger that the problems associated with the implementation of the concept will carry over to the implementation of the DAP at the local and regional level.

As it stands now, the DAP enumerates a series of general directions for action, followed by a list of more detailed areas of activity. Clear, specific deadlines are set for most of the listed actions, and the few exceptions are for activities where the implementation schedule is set for the duration of the entire Decade. Most of the specific deadlines set in the DAP appear realistic, as they are based on timeline estimations for government activities that are already ongoing.

But, in most cases, the formulation of activities in the DAP, as well as the assignment of responsibilities, are vague enough to leave plenty of room for inaction by central, regional and local authorities. Moreover, the indicators themselves are not clear. Generally, progress is understood as a mere increase in the number of Roma beneficiaries of a particular measure, with no specific benchmark and no understanding of what the relevant variable among non-Roma would be. As there is no baseline data for most of the listed activities, measuring progress in the implementation of the current Czech DAP is virtually impossible. The government report on Decade implementation in 2006 recognizes this shortcoming, stating that "for most of the objectives that were supposed to be fulfilled in 2006, there is missing statistical data, as well as a qualitative evaluation, therefore it is not possible to say to what extent they were fulfilled and what was their efficiency" (Government of the Czech Republic, Report 2006). The report also says, "Each ministry sees [this as] the main obstacle in ensuring the effective monitoring, since it is not possible to define some concepts, on which the indicators of measurement are based, such as Rom, Romani family, Romani community; it is not clear how many Romani children are also from a socio-culturally disadvantaged environment, and which are indicators for some educational objectives."

Some sections of the DAP are also woefully underdeveloped. For example, the health section of the

action plan has no measures listed other than the training and employment of health mediators with financing from European Union Structural Funds. Even this one measure in the area of health does not appear to be thoroughly thought out, as the indicator listed next to it is the number of (presumably Roma) beneficiaries, and the monitoring tool for the effectiveness of the measure in improving the health outcomes of Roma is puzzlingly identified as "sociological surveys."

One other problem with the DAP is that it does not adequately reflect cross-cutting priorities. In particular, gender is not incorporated in any of the measures listed in the DAP. However, the 2005 report on Decade implementation reflects an approach that is more sensitive to cross-cutting priorities than the DAP, as it has a special chapter on gender, as well as chapters on poverty and discrimination (Government of the Czech Republic, Report 2005). Moreover, gender-sensitive programs are being implemented, even though this is not reflected in the DAP. For instance, in 2006 the Government Office for Roma acted as partners in two projects that were carried out by NGOs and targeted Roma women and girls: The first was a national meeting of Roma women organized by the NGO Manushe, and the second was a political training session implemented by the Roma NGOs Athinganoi and Manushe. This training resulted in three Roma women candidates running in local elections. One of these candidates was elected to office. Another trainee is currently working as Coordinator for Equal Opportunities in the central government.

## 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

From the establishment of the Decade Committee in March 2004, until the parliamentary elections of June 2006, the Decade coordination and implementation structures functioned relatively smoothly. Those coordinating the Decade met fairly regularly and communicated informally between meetings. Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Justice Hartman was national coordinator for the Decade until the parliamentary elections in June 2006. But the indecisive 2006 elections were followed by a long period of political negotiations, and the new cabinet led by Prime

Minister Mirek Topolanek did not take office until January 2007. In this unstable political climate, for more than six months, all Decade-related activities were carried out by Manager of the Decade Jaroslav Marousek, without any involvement from the office of the Decade coordinator since there was no one appointed.

In January 2007, Minister without portfolio Dzamila Stehlikova took over as the Decade coordinator. The day-to-day operations relating to the Decade, however, are run through the Government Office for Roma, which is responsible for coordinating the implementation of all governmental policies on Roma. The Government Office for Roma carries out its Decade coordination duties with the assistance of the Decade Committee, which acts as an advisory body and which includes three representatives of Roma civil society. Moreover, some line ministries have civil servants who, in addition to their other regular duties, are specifically assigned to Decade coordination tasks. For instance, the Ministry of Education has tasked Decade coordination and implementation to a civil servant of Roma origin, Margarita Wagner.

One weak link in Decade implementation, acknowledged by the government in the 2006 draft report on Decade implementation, is cooperation with local authorities. Neither the Government Office for Roma nor any of the line ministries appear to have contacted municipalities about Decade plans and implementation. According to the representative of the Government Office for Roma, as of early 2007, most of the regions have strategic plans for Roma integration, but there are questions regarding quality because the plans were developed on local initiative, without any consultation with central coordination structures.

The Government Office for Roma produces yearly reports on Decade implementation. The first Decade report, covering 2005, was passed by Government Resolution on March 8, 2006. In addition to providing detailed information on specific activities and recommendations for the future, it tasked coordination mechanisms to submit a 2006 report together with the Decade budget proposals for 2007 (Government of the Czech Republic, *Report 2005*). The very existence of this reporting and tasking mechanism is commendable, as it is a first step in ensuring government accountability for the commitments made under the Decade.

The reports offer some details of government activities, although the 2006 Decade implementation report does not list anything relating to the implementation of the employment objectives listed in the DAP. Moreover, the reports also point out that, in the absence of comprehensive baseline data and of well-designed indicators, it is virtually impossible to assess progress. Even though the Roma Integration Concept, after which the Czech DAP was modeled, is reviewed annually, and has had specific indicators attached to it since the beginning of the Decade, the Czech Republic still lacks an adequate methodology for data collection and progress assessment where Roma are concerned. Thus, the most recent report on the Decade (Government of the Czech Republic, Report 2006) proposes that the government initiate a process to redesign indicators and collection tools for data disaggregated by ethnicity. A first step in this process was the January 4, 2006 passage of Government Resolution 8, which specifies the need to have a concept for the long-term monitoring of the situation of Roma communities. Pursuant to this resolution, the Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Justice committed to introducing a systematic, comprehensive monitoring methodology, which will allow for annual progress reviews, by December 31, 2007.

Another obstacle in the implementation of the Decade is the absence of specific funding earmarked for activities that fall under the DAP. Decade coordination and administration costs are covered through a small, separate line in the state budget that allocates funds to the Government Office for Roma—as well as through additional funds from the Open Society Institute and others. The total budget for Decade coordination activities in 2005 was CZK 913,370, a little more than EUR 32,000 (Government of the Czech Republic, Report 2005); in 2006 there was only a marginal increase in coordination allocations over 2005. But funding dedicated to substantive activities under the Decade is harder to track. The DAP mentions that each ministry will allocate money to activities under the Decade, generally either through the state budget or through funding allocated by the European Social Fund, yet no ministry prepared specific budget lines for DAP implementation for their 2006 or 2007 budgets. The draft 2006 report lists a series of programs that are mostly paid for from the European Social Fund, but also partially funded from the state budget. These programs primarily cover the areas of social assistance and education for the disadvantaged and total almost CZK 490,000,000 (approximately EUR 17,500,000) (Government of the Czech Republic, *Report 2006*). It is impossible, however, to determine how much of this funding actually went to activities benefiting Roma under the Decade, as many of the listed programs target broader categories of beneficiaries.

#### FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

Because the 2001 Act on the Rights of Members of National Minorities prevents state administration bodies from collecting data on ethnic minorities, there is no data on Roma educational enrolment and attainment in the Czech Republic. NGOs and international organizations have conducted some independent studies and surveys (European Roma Rights Centre, *Stigmata*; Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*; UNDP, *Tvare chudoby*), but the results of these one-off efforts are neither nationally representative nor comparable, as the methodology for data collection varies.

Nonetheless, NGOs and independent observers looking into Roma education concur that there are gross disparities between Roma and non-Roma in Czech schools, both in terms of opportunities and in terms of outcomes. For instance, despite the fact that the last year of preschool has been free of charge since 2005, and despite the introduction of preparatory classes for disadvantaged children following the adoption of the Early Childhood Education Concept in 2006, the vast majority of Roma children do not attend any form of preschool education prior to enrolment in primary school. One reason for this situation is that Roma parents are not properly informed about changes in the education system, and many do not know of opportunities available for their children. Another reason has to do with simple economics: Even though tuition for the last year of preschool and for the preparatory classes may be free, parents are still expected to pay for school meals and school supplies. The costs associated with

these are often too high for many impoverished Roma families.

In the Czech Republic, many Roma children who have not attended preschool, and even some who have, are directed to take school readiness and intellectual ability assessment tests administered by local commissions. The tests, which require Czech language competence and presuppose familiarity with the elements of formal education, including pen and paper, are often used to stream Roma students into schools that offer substandard education and limited prospects for advancement to secondary—much less tertiary—education. Prior to the adoption of the new School Act in 2004, these schools were officially recognized as special schools for students with intellectual disabilities. As a result of the streaming practices described above, NGOs and special school administrators themselves reported dramatic over-representation of Roma children among special school students. In some cases, Roma constitute 100 percent of the total student body of such schools. Teachers and administrators recognize that the vast majority of these students do not actually have any intellectual disabilities, and were placed in special schools simply as a result of problematic assessment and placement procedures. Until a year 2000 amendment of the old 1984 School Act, Roma students studying in special schools could not access secondary mainstream schools upon graduation. At best, they could engage in low-qualification vocational training (EUMAP, Rights of People). Despite changes in the law, actual practice is changing very slowly, and the number of students in special schools is not decreasing (Roma Education Fund). Though a court case alleging discrimination and segregation in the country's education system is currently pending before the European Court of Human Rights in Strasbourg, the Czech government has yet to acknowledge the dimensions—or, for that matter, even the existence—of segregation of Roma in the national educational system.

Still, following the enactment of the new School Act in January 2005, most of the special schools were reorganized as basic practical schools. Formally they have become part of the mainstream education system but in reality they are still incorporated within the special needs education system. In fact, these schools are still listed as special education institutions, even in the official statistics provided by the Institute for Informa-

tion in Education. As far as desegregation goes, the change has been mostly terminological: The vast majority of students in these basic practical schools are still Roma—indeed, segregated Roma settlements often do not have access to schools other than these former special schools (Socioklub, *Romove, bydleni*). The teachers in the basic practical schools are still special pedagogues, and the curriculum, which is still less academically challenging than in mainstream schools, emphasizes manual skills over intellectual development. As a result, basic practical school graduates are not, in practice, able to compete with regular mainstream school graduates for admission to secondary school, even though they are now formally able to proceed to the next level.

While it did not bring about all the needed changes, the 2005 School Act brought along a renewed interest in educational policy reform. This interest resulted in adoption of such documents as the Long-Term Strategy for Educational Development in the Czech Republic and the Early Childhood Education Concept. Most of the reform activities, funded primarily through the European Social Fund, consist of sporadic, often NGOimplemented projects that do not have a systemic dimension. But there are two systemic projects, implemented by government agencies directly accountable to the Ministry of Education, that stand high chances of effecting large-scale changes in the Czech school system. The first one, a program for drop-out prevention and secondary education support implemented by the Institute for Pedagogical and Psychological Counseling from September 2006 through August 2008, introduces a series of measures intended to assist disadvantaged students attending primary and secondary schools. The second program provides for the establishment of five regional centers for minority integration. These centers are supposed to assist with the integration of minority students into mainstream education. As of this writing, it is too early to assess the implementation of these programs, much less their effect on the educational outcomes of Roma students.

Other measures with a high potential to assist with Roma integration in mainstream education are already in place. For instance, teaching assistants, which were unofficially introduced in 1993 and then formally recognized in 1998, have been a long-standing institution in Czech schools. The Ministry of Education

reports that 306 teaching assistants worked in the Czech Republic during the 2005-2006 academic years. Most of them worked in primary schools, and only a few worked in basic practical schools, the remaining special schools, or preschools. One problem that NGOs have pointed out repeatedly is that the hiring of a teaching assistant, as well as the choice of the teaching assistant, is left entirely to school administrators (Roma Education Fund; European Roma Rights Center, *Stigmata*). This arrangement means that teaching assistants are hired only in schools that already have a progressive attitude—and that, in practice, teaching assistants only get their position if they are loyal to school administrators.

Roma students progressing to secondary education have access to Roma minority scholarships, while those progressing to tertiary education can receive social scholarships for disadvantaged students. Other types of support are available either through the Ministry of Education (in the case of secondary schools) or through NGO projects, such as the Romaversitas program run by Athinganoi. According to the figures made available through these programs, approximately 1,800 secondary school students have had access to supplemental funding of this type, and 62 university students have received funding through the Roma Memorial University Scholarship Program. Actual enrolment figures might be even higher, as secondary schools must request supplemental funding from the Ministry of Education, and some schools fail to follow the burdensome administrative procedure required to make a claim.

School curricula and teacher training curricula still need to be reformed to comply with the requirements of inclusive education, especially where Roma are concerned. Thus, while a few school books include some minimal information on Roma culture and history, teacher training programs do little to prepare mainstream teachers to work with Roma students. Most multicultural training modules fail to deal specifically with Roma, and courses dealing with the teaching of Roma students are still taught only in the special pedagogy programs. Some ad-hoc programs are developed by higher education institutions and NGOs, but these fail to address the actual needs of the Czech educational system as a whole (Roma Education Fund).

#### 2.2 Employment

Because state agencies are forbidden by law to collect data on ethnicity, the Ministry of Labor does not keep records relating to the employment situation of Roma. A 2006 study, conducted by Gabal Analysis and Consulting for the purposes of analyzing the housing situation of Roma, contains some one-time data on Roma employment, and this data helps assess the seriousness of the situation. According to the study, in many of the more than 300 mostly Roma localities investigated, the unemployment rate reached 90 percent and, in some cases, even 100 percent, as compared to the 2006 national average of 9.2 percent (Gabal Analysis and Consulting, *Analysis*).

The Czech government does not have any employment policies that target Roma specifically. Instead, Roma are included among vulnerable groups for which broad policies are designed, and some Roma-specific programs are supported through local NGOs from the state budget or from the European Social Fund (Government of the Czech Republic, *Report 2006*). The DAP reflects this approach. Rather than promising that comprehensive policies for employing Roma will be designed by the Czech government within the framework of the Decade, the DAP indicates that the government will address the employment situation of Roma by supporting NGOs that are developing targeted programs.

Training and retraining for job-seekers is conducted through local employment offices. Unfortunately, even though most Roma are registered with these offices for the purpose of receiving unemployment and other social assistance benefits, few Roma actually take part in the job training courses (Winkler et al., *Analysis*). Generally speaking, Roma regard services of the local employment offices as ineffective, because they offer no real qualifications and no guarantees of finding and retaining actual jobs.

A host of government or donor-funded active employment programs, which have been developed by NGOs and are run on a local level, have been more successful in building relationships with Roma clients. Such programs have been developed in Hranice, Olomoc, Brno, and other places, and they have proven successful in linking Roma job-seekers with a variety of local support institutions, such as schools, community centers, and training organizations—as well as

with specific employers. One program, partially funded through the EQUAL Community Initiative Program, entails the formation of an employment agency with offices in four regions of the Czech Republic. The employment agency serves as a clearinghouse for employment-related information and offers job-seekers training programs that are designed in cooperation with Roma NGOs. The project reported 650 users last year, and 80 of these found permanent employment through the project's employment agency. A similar project in Brno reported 40 job-seekers who received temporary or permanent employment as a result of targeted services. These encouraging projects indicate that sustained, targeted efforts made in cooperation with experienced local NGOs have high potential for success.

But, outside of short-term employment in public works projects, few other opportunities for employment are available to Roma. Microfinance and small business loans are in practice not available to Roma, as they often require collateral guarantees that impoverished Roma cannot offer.

Slovak Roma seeking employment opportunities in the Czech Republic are at particular risk, because potential employers can take advantage of their status as temporary, often illegal, economic migrants and refuse to pay adequate salaries and benefits. Few legal remedies are available to the victims, most of whom have too little information about their own rights and the legal avenues to defend those rights.

Czech law has incorporated some anti-discrimination provisions relating to employment, but has yet to transpose the Race Directive of the European Council of the European Union, which offers protections against racial discrimination in a host of other areas, including education, housing, and the provision of public services. A draft of a comprehensive anti-discrimination law has been rejected by the Czech Senate, despite the fact that both domestic organizations and international groups have repeatedly called for the speedy transposition of European Union protections against discrimination.

#### 2.3 Health

There is no nationally representative, regularly updated information on the health status of Roma in the Czech Republic. The above-mentioned 2006 survey on socially

excluded Roma communities in the Czech Republic, which was produced by Gabal Analysis and Consulting and focuses primarily on the housing situation of segregated Roma, contains some one-off data on health indicators, such as access to public services and environmental conditions. While this data can hardly constitute a reliable baseline for policy development in the Czech Republic, the available information on Roma health in the country is bleak (Janeckova et al., The State of Health; European Roma Rights Center, Ambulance). Average life expectancy for Roma is lower than for non-Roma. Whether they live in isolated settlements with no access to basic amenities, overcrowded inner-cities, or settlements that are at the edges of larger towns and are near environmental hazards like water treatment plants or city dumps, Roma are at higher risk of developing chronic conditions or endemic diseases, including tuberculosis. Infant, child and maternal mortality is reportedly higher in Roma populations, partly because of restricted access to healthcare-either because of the physical distance between healthcare providers and Roma neighborhoods or because some healthcare professionals, including emergency services, are reluctant to work in Roma areas. Anecdotal evidence suggests that healthcare providers often discriminate against Roma. Cases of sterilization without informed consent have also been reported in recent years.

The health section of the Czech DAP is startlingly inadequate in addressing these issues. It contains only one measure aimed at improving the health status of Roma: the development of a system of Roma health mediators, first as a pilot project beginning with 2005, and then on a national scale as of 2007. Indeed, in February 2005, the Ministry of Health presented a proposal for a health mediator project to the government. The proposal provided for a pilot health mediator program to be developed though an NGO. Consequently, a Roma civic group, Drom, developed a training module and, together with the Faculty of Masaryk University in Brno and the Medical Faculty of Ostrava University, trained 18 health mediators. The project ends in May 2007, but two local governments and one municipal government have expressed an interest in keeping health mediators employed until the end of 2007. The future of the health mediator project beyond that date depends on the extent to which European Social Fund financing will be made available for this purpose.

There are no government programs to provide healthcare coverage to the uninsured. Under the Czech healthcare system, all those employed or registered with unemployment offices, as well as children younger than 18 and mothers of children up to the age of 6, have their health insurance covered. NGOs estimate that the number of people left without health insurance coverage is very small. Emergency services and other types of healthcare services are provided to the uninsured, but the debt accrued as a result of receiving such services without insurance can be cripplingly high.

Similarly, there are no government-financed outreach activities, such as vaccination drives or health education campaigns, in Roma communities. Some NGOs conduct small-scale outreach activities on a local level, as do the health mediators mentioned above, but these sporadic efforts fall far short of addressing the needs of Roma across the Czech Republic.

#### 2.4 Housing

Though government officials had been aware of the existence of a housing crisis for Roma for years, the sheer number of these so-called "excluded communities" came as a surprise to policy makers. The 2006 study by Gabal Analysis and Consulting revealed that more than 300 of these communities are situated in relative isolation with squalid conditions. The situation is seen as the result of growing segregationist trends, as well as a recent wave of evictions targeting Roma in the Czech Republic.

The current crisis began in the early 1990s, with the return of property nationalized under the communist regime and the sale of municipal housing stock to private owners. Roma tenants, many of whom could not afford to pay higher rents or the increased costs of utilities, were evicted by the new owners (Zoon, *On the Margins*). Many Roma lost there dwellings without so much as a court order, as Czech law does not require judicial review of evictions for cases in which rental agreements have expired or are non-existent (Krecek, "The Brief Course"). In some instances, Roma left their own houses after being lured into confidence schemes, under which they were promised (adequate) alternative accommodations if they agreed to leave their residence. Overzealous local officials seeking to win majority votes

have also contributed to the trend by moving entire communities from the center of town to more isolated areas on the margins of municipalities. Consequently, Roma have been concentrated in the cheaper areas of bigger municipalities, forming a large number of new "ghettos," which are continually increasing in size (Socioklub, *Romove bydleni*, and *Romove ve meste*). Roma in such areas often live without access to basic public utilities or services, such as public transportation, let alone access to quality mainstream schools or adequate primary healthcare. Some of these ghettos have even been built in the vicinity of environmental hazards, like city dumps or industrial waste disposal facilities.

Following much negative publicity around the ghettoization of Roma in the Czech Republic, the government has recognized the need for a comprehensive approach to the issue and has committed to adopting an integrated social housing concept by 2008. At the moment, social housing is usually made available only on the condition that applicants are employed and have no debts, which means most Roma are virtually

excluded from accessing social housing. The Ministry of Regional Development currently finances a program for constructing subsidized flats, sometimes referred to as "plain flats" in reference to the pared down finishes and utilities they offer to tenants, but it is not clear how many of these flats are actually given to Roma. The government progress reports under the Decade recognize that this program, just like many other housing measures and policies, lacks an adequate implementation monitoring mechanism to assess its impact on Roma.

Still, this program, together with other measures, such as the deployment of social workers to prevent evictions, are listed in the Czech DAP. The mention of these efforts indicates that the government is committed to dealing with the housing situation of Roma in a programmatic, comprehensive manner under the Decade. However, it is not clear how many of the good intentions listed in the DAP can be brought to bear actual fruit, as the central government has little leverage over local authorities in the Czech Republic.

# Hungary

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

Following the "Roma in an Expanding Europe" conference organized by the Open Society Institute and the World Bank in Budapest in 2003, Peter Medgyessy, Prime Minister of Hungary at the time, committed his country to host the secretariat for the preparatory and early phases of the Decade of Roma Inclusion, between September 2004 and June 2005. Hungary had already been working to coordinate the incipient phases of the Decade before the conference. Medgyessy delegated then-Political State Secretary for Roma Affairs Laszlo Teleki to oversee the establishment of the Decade secretariat, the development of operational structures for the Decade, and the drafting of the Hungarian Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP). Teleki was to work directly under the Prime Minister's office. After the government was restructured, in May 2003, the Decade program and secretariat were transferred to the Office for Equal Opportunities, under Minister for Equal Opportunities without portfolio Katalin Levai. In September 2004, the program and secretariat were again transferred, to the Department for Roma Integration within the Ministry of Youth, Family, Social Affairs, and Equal Opportunities (hereinafter, the Ministry of Youth). The head of the Ministry of Youth, Minister Kinga Goncz, acted as national coordinator during the preparatory phase.

Consequently, the DAP drafting process was led by the Department for Roma Integration in the Ministry of Youth, in coordination with the office of then-Political State Secretary Teleki—who has been acting as a government Roma expert and member of parliament following the 2006 elections. The drafting of the DAP was the specific task of the National Working Group (hereinafter, the Working Group), which consisted of officials from all relevant ministries, including those in charge of Roma-related issues in specific ministries; representatives of the Minority Ombudsman's Office; the Office for National and Ethnic Minorities; the National Roma Self-Government; the Central Statistical Office; and, on the Roma civil society side, participants in the Young Roma Leaders' Forum and the leaders of two major Roma groups in Hungary, the Roma Civil Rights Foundation and Lungo Drom.

When starting the drafting process, the Working Group used as a basis the Government Program to Promote the Social Inclusion of Roma (hereinafter, the Social Inclusion Program), which was adopted by the government as Decree 1021 in May 2004. While the Social Inclusion Program does not mention the Decade, it maps out policies and individual measures aimed at Roma inclusion through the end of 2006, and many of the actions listed in it are understood by the Hungarian government to overlap with Decade goals.

The Working Group designed the broad outlines for a draft DAP. By the time the Decade Secretariat was established in Hungary, in September 2004, the draft DAP had been sent to all relevant line ministries for

approval, and the Working Group appears to have dissolved for all intents and purposes. Coordinating the finalization of the DAP was left to the Interdepartmental Committee for Roma Affairs, an inter-ministerial consultation body that brings together experts working on Roma issues in Hungary's central government. This Interdepartmental Committee was originally designed as a high-level body whose membership was supposed to consist of undersecretaries, commissioners and heads of departments. But, in practice, the members of this committee over the past few years consisted primarily of the so-called "Roma referents"—advisors in various ministries, who have no real decision-making or political power in government structures.

In June 2005, then-Political State Secretary Teleki and Andor Urmos, head of the Department for Roma Integration in the Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor), held public debates seeking input on the draft DAP from local authorities, minority self-governments, nongovernmental organizations and other relevant stakeholders. The input from local stakeholders was used in designing a long-term strategy for the entire duration of the Decade.

Until December 2006, all actions under the Decade were governed by the Social Inclusion program which covered the 2004–2006 period. As of this writing in January 2007, Hungary had not officially adopted a DAP. A Long-Term Strategy for the Decade of Roma Inclusion was expected to be adopted by the government and then submitted for parliamentary approval by May 2007. Over the past two years, the Interdepartmental Committee has reviewed several draft versions of the DAP, and several drafts of a two-year operational plan on Decade implementation, none of which has been approved or adopted by the government as of this writing.

#### 2.2 Draft Decade Action Plan Content

The text of the preliminary plan for the Decade publicized by the Hungarian government lists a series of broad goals and targets in the four focus areas of the Decade—education, employment, health and housing—as well as in two cross-cutting priority areas, promotion of equal treatment and gender equality. By

singling out these two priorities, and detailing specific goals, measures, implementing agencies and indicators in these areas, this plan sends a strong message that Hungary is seeking to address race and gender inequalities systematically and thoroughly during the Decade.

On the other hand, the design of the preliminary plan for the Decade as publicized by the Hungarian government falls short of the criteria set for DAPs by the Decade's International Steering Committee (hereinafter, ISC) on a number of counts. Many elements are vague: What the document lists as "targets" are mostly a series of goals and general measures, and, in one case in the health section, government programs that are ongoing. Indicators are not designed as measures of social distance between Roma and non-Roma. Instead success is gauged in terms of relative increases or decreases in absolute numbers or percentages of Roma benefiting from individual programs, measures or services. Sources of data are unclear, and the document calls for producing data on Roma inclusion "every fifth year," which would be insufficient for measuring progress accurately, or for adjusting policies as necessary over the course of the Decade.

Both the agents for the implementation of Decade activities and the system for monitoring various activities are left vague. Implementing bodies are listed merely as "ministries," with no specific assignment of responsibility. Monitoring is tasked to the Working Group, which is called on to "prepare an annual report on the implementation of the national Decade Action Plans in order to document and monitor the progress made in the accomplishment of the goals and targets set, and [...] suggest further amendments or expansions of the Action Plans, involving in these efforts the representatives of the Roma civil society as well." According to the document, this annual report was supposed to be presented before the ISC. As mentioned above, the Working Group appears to have dissolved after the initial drafting of the DAP, and, consequently, no such official annual report on Decade progress in Hungary has been presented before the ISC as of January 2007.

One other problem is budgeting. The design of the preliminary plan for the Decade says: "According to the decision of the Hungarian Country Working Group, the Hungarian Action Plan is meant to be a strategy for 10 years (2005–15), and for that reason it does not contain a budget and percentage figures as indicators." The

plan gives no further explanation as to why the longer term of the strategy precludes specific budget estimates for its implementation. The Hungarian government takes the view that targeted Roma programs financed from earmarked budget lines actually push Roma issues even further away from the mainstream policy agenda. Consequently, the government often refuses to segregate funding benefiting Roma in its public reporting. The resulting absence of specific budget lines for programs and measures affecting Roma under the Decade makes it even harder to estimate the actual impact on Roma of a large number of programs designed for broader categories of disadvantaged groups.

#### 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

In the new governmental term, which began in 2006, the Decade of Roma Inclusion Program came under the authority of Labor Minister Peter Kiss, who is the official national coordinator of the Decade in Hungary. In practice, responsibility was delegated to the Department for Roma Integration within the Ministry of Labor, headed by Urmos. Both the Decade coordinator and the head of the Department for Roma Integration have been actively promoting the Decade in national and international fora. Additional promotion took place in 2005, when then-Political State Secretary Teleki visited a large number of municipalities in Hungary on behalf of the Working Group. Teleki sought to introduce the Decade and garner support for the implementation of Roma inclusion goals on a local level, as well as to receive local feedback on the long-term Decade strategy.

The Department for Roma Integration, which runs day-to-day coordination activities of Roma issues, is one of only two operational inclusion units dealing with Roma within the Hungarian government. The other one functions under the Ministry of Education. The so-called "Roma referents" who were appointed in various line ministries in Hungary following the 2002 elections have all been downgraded or eliminated from ministry structures. Those former referents who are still working in government are now advisors or simply civil servants. The remaining govern-

ment advisors in charge of Roma-related issues are in the Interdepartmental Committee for Roma Affairs, which currently works on the draft long-term Decade Action Plan and is supposed to oversee implementation following adoption.

Another body, which is supposed to provide a mechanism for consultation with civil society, was still being formed as of January 2007. According to government officials interviewed for the purposes of this report, half of this body, called the Council on Roma Integration, will be Roma inclusion officials and advisors in various line ministries, and the other half will be representatives of civil society. This council is expected to function as a standing advisory body for programs and policies relating to Roma integration, including those listed under the Decade. Meanwhile, the head of the Department for Roma Integration in the Ministry of Labor has said that the government also intends to set up an expert group, which would include economists, sociologists and others, and would provide technical support to the government on policies affecting Roma.

#### 2. FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

Hungarian data protection law prohibits the collection of data on ethnic and racial issues without the written consent of the self-identified subjects. It is, however, legal to collect some data based on the perceived ethnic or racial identity of subjects, although the government does not keep such records in a systematic manner. Consequently, the little information available on Roma enrolment comes from records kept by schools, based on teachers' and school administrators' perception of the ethnicity of students. These records are sent directly to the Ministry of Education, and the data is neither consistent across the school system nor regularly updated.

While non-enrolment and drop-out rates among Roma in Hungary appear to be lower than in other Decade countries, independent reports in recent years have pointed to a host of other problems that Roma face in the educational system (European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata; EUMAP, Equal Access and Rights of People; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education). The major problems that have been reported include: segregation into separate, mostly- or all-Roma mainstream schools and classes, which offer substandard education; placement of Roma students in so-called "catch-up" classes, where they follow a remedial curriculum, which in effect precludes them from actually catching up with their non-Roma peers and transferring into mainstream classes; relegation of Roma students who are perceived as causing discipline problems to "private student" (home schooling) status, which in practice greatly reduces their academic performance and graduation chances; overrepresentation of Roma in special schools for students with intellectual disabilities as a result of flawed assessment and diagnosis procedures; and streaming into dead-end short-term vocational schools, which do not offer the necessary training or qualifications for integration on the labor market.

The primary objective of reforms to the Hungarian educational system since 2002 has consequently been the elimination of segregation in mainstream schools, following up on the campaign promises of the winning government coalition. Achieving this objective requires policies that provide equal opportunities and the development of corrective measures to ensure equality of educational outcomes for vulnerable groups of students, including Roma. Inclusive education is supported on a systemic level through the development of governmental integration programs and the adoption and enforcement of anti-discrimination legislation, which explicitly bans segregation. Both the investigative arm of the Ministry of Education (the Public Education Center for Monitoring and Examination, known by the Hungarian acronym OKEV) and regular courts have proven effective in dealing with cases of desegregation. In a recent case, a regional court ordered the closure of an all-Roma school in the Miskolc area, which sent a strong message on segregation to both educational institutions and the justice system in Hungary (Amnesty International, Report 2007; EUMAP, Equal Access). Still, individual remedies are unlikely to produce the kind of systemic change that can be effected through government programs. Unfortunately, government programs aimed at the integration of disadvantaged groups, though well intended and intelligently designed, have yet to impose systemic changes.

Preschool education in Hungary is available to children as young as 3, but it is only compulsory for children who are in their preparatory year, at the age of 5. There are no tuition fees for public preschools, and children whose families receive regular child support benefits are entitled to free meals. However, parents still incur some costs, in particular with regard to transportation, hygienic supplies or any activities viewed as extracurricular by the preschool administration (endof-year shows, class trips, etc.). Hungarian regulations adopted in 2003 and then amended in 2005 mandate that preschools cannot refuse enrolment of disadvantaged children, including Roma, beginning with the age of 3. But in practice this provision is rarely followed, as in many areas there is a shortage of preschools, and administrators often use overcrowding as a reason to refuse registration. Furthermore, as many Roma children live in settlements that are far from any preschool, the proportion of Roma who have not attended any preparatory education by the age of 6 is much higher than among non-Roma (EUMAP, Equal Access; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education). Moreover, even while the number of inhabitants in Hungary decreases, the number of Roma living in impoverished areas is increasing. Ministry of Education officials interviewed for the purposes of this report estimate that children in 50-60 settlements currently do not have access to a preschool, while another 40 settlements have preschools in their vicinity but do not have sufficient spaces in them for all children who qualify. The Regional Development Operative Program, which is part of the National Development Plan, offers the opportunity to expand the number of places available in kindergartens through a public tender procedure, but the extent to which this opportunity is to include Roma children in preschool education is not known as of this writing.

Children who do not attend preschools before the age of 5 are often referred by school or preschool officials to special boards that evaluate school readiness and assess whether an intellectual disability is present (EUMAP, *Rights of People* and *Equal Access*). Inadequate diagnosis procedures often lead to the placement of Roma children in special schools, where they follow a reduced curriculum and receive a lower quality educa-

tion, which does not give the kind of qualifications that could be useful in the labor market. The government committed itself to developing new assessment mechanisms, but that reform has yet to take place. Some safeguards are built into the system as part of a government program known as "Out of the Back Row" (European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata; EUMAP, Equal Access and Rights of People; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education; Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor; National Strategy Report). Disability has been more narrowly defined in the Act on Public Education to exclude mild intellectual disabilities, and school placement decisions are ultimately referred to the child's parents. But Roma often lack the necessary information to make decisions on placement, and they often report being easily intimidated by the examining board members' expertise. As a result, children diagnosed as having an intellectual disability are rarely placed in mainstream schools. Another supposed safeguard is the requirement that examining boards must review each child periodically. But, since neither the membership nor the methodology of the board changes from one examination to another, subsequent examinations are unlikely to result in a decision to revoke the initial diagnosis (EUMAP, Rights of People).

The 2003 amendments to the Act on Public Education introduced incentives for desegregation of special schools in the education system, so that mainstream schools receive more than double the amount of per-capita funding for integrated students, who would have otherwise been placed in special schools. But special schools still receive relatively high per-capita funding, and they are unlikely to relinquish students to mainstream schools, lest they should lose their financing and be forced to scale down, or even to close down altogether (Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*). Consequently, as the government itself acknowledges in the draft DAP, the segregation of Roma into special schools is still an area where more government programs are needed.

The introduction of per-capita funding as part of the decentralization process in Hungarian education appears to have had negative effects on the education of Roma children. School administrators became motivated to keep as many students as possible, and they tried to prevent the migration of non-Roma students to other schools by separating Roma students in so-called

"catch-up" classes, regular all-Roma classes or even separate buildings. Following up on campaign promises for the 2002 elections, the Hungarian government adopted a program supporting integrated education for multiply-disadvantaged students, and it built in a series of incentives for desegregation into the national-level financing and educational support system. Schools and local authorities were invited to apply for integration grants—often referred to in English as "integration normatives" (Mohacsi, "Government Initiatives"; Szendrey, Short Summary). Technical support as well as teacher training programs are provided through a newly set-up government agency called the National Network of Educational Integration, and additional after-school support is ensured through a network of study halls (known in Hungarian as "tanoda") and community centers, located primarily in Roma communities. However, the decision of applying for desegregation grants is entirely up to school administrators and local authorities, and the central government has little leverage to encourage institutions that are reluctant to apply because they fear there will be political repercussions from the local non-Roma electorate. Another incentive for desegregation is provided in the form of one-time grants of HUF 50,000,000 (approximately EUR 200,000) available to local authorities willing to close down segregated schools within their jurisdiction. Unfortunately, according to Ministry of Education officials interviewed for the purposes of this report, only seven applications for these grants were submitted as of this writing-and only two of those were deemed eligible. It appears that closing down segregated schools brings about political liabilities that are greater than the financial burden of maintaining them.

To make matters more difficult, independent reports suggest that some institutions that applied for desegregation funds merely reshuffled their class structure, without actually mixing Roma and non-Roma in integrated classes (EUMAP, *Equal Access*; Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*). The government publicly recognizes the need for an adequate monitoring and evaluation mechanism for this program, but it has yet to put one in place as of this writing. The Ministry of Education has initiated an early warning system, aimed at involving government institutions, educational experts, civil society organizations,

and Roma minority self-governments in pointing out cases of discrimination in education (Mohacsi; Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*). But thus far, this system has not proven to be an effective tool for dealing with segregation.

Another component of the government's educational program is the funding available through so-called "skill development grants," which go to isolated settlements where integration is physically impossible, either because of distance or because of the high number of Roma children in proportion to non-Roma in the area (Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*; EUMAP, *Equal Access*). According to Ministry of Education officials interviewed for this report, about 50 settlements are eligible for such grants, which are intended to ensure the highest quality of education possible in these segregated settings.

Roma students can access the general social support programs that are available to disadvantaged groups and are intended to facilitate access to primary and secondary education on an equal-opportunity basis (EUMAP, Equal Access; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education). This support includes the provision of free schoolbooks and sometimes free school supplies, periodic family allowance increases before the beginning of each school year, and subsidies for school meals. Furthermore, in a number of educational institutions, Roma parents from the local communities are employed as school mediators, who seek to assist communication and reduce drop-out rates. Together with the National Employment Fund, the Ministry of Education has decided to support and expand this initiative, and to encourage schools to permanently employ trained and qualified school mediators (referred to as "pedagogical assistants"). According to Ministry of Education officials interviewed for the purposes of this report, over the past four years, 62 pedagogical assistants with elementary school certificates received further training and vocational qualifications—and were employed in the school system.

Merit-based scholarships specifically targeting Roma students were available through the Public Endowment for Hungarian Roma (hereinafter referred to by its Hungarian acronym, MACIKA), founded by the Hungarian government (EUMAP, *Equal Access*). The program was intended to provide money to cover school-related expenses, but many students used the

funding to supplement their families' income. Meanwhile, suspicions were raised that non-Roma were also trying to make use of these grants. Following an illadvised attempt to require that the ethnic origin of all applicants be certified by the local Roma minority self-governments or NGOs, in 2006, MACIKA's role in managing the scholarships was transferred to the Office for National and Ethnic Minorities. According to Ministry of Education officials interviewed for this report, an overall review of the program structure is pending. The Ministry of Education provides a series of merit-based scholarships targeting senior students in compulsory primary education, senior secondary school students, and students seeking vocational qualifications in "shortage or scarce trades" that would facilitate their inclusion on the labor market.

Additional incentives built into the educational system include fees for mentoring teachers and socalled "success bonuses" for teachers whose students achieve good results. On the whole, however, most teachers in Hungary are ill-prepared to deal with multicultural environments, and they are reluctant to work in non-homogenous classroom settings. University education for teachers offers little in the way of training for inclusive schooling, and it overemphasizes informative knowledge of subject matters rather than formative understanding of a variety of teaching methodologies (EUMAP, Equal Access; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education). Little progress has been made on school curricula reform. In some cases reported by NGOs and the media, new textbooks even promoted stereotypes that linked Roma to criminality and portrayed them as difficult to integrate. Those textbooks were withdrawn from circulation following these reports (EUMAP, Equal Access).

Affirmative action measures provide free access to state-funded university courses and colleges for minority and disadvantaged students, as long as they comply with admission standards for students who pay full tuition. The Ministry of Education also provides a HUF 10,000 (EUR 40) monthly bonus for senior students who act as mentors for minority and disadvantaged students.

#### 2.2 Employment

Because of data protection laws, Hungarian authorities do not officially record statistics on employment by ethnicity or race. Official estimates regarding Roma employment are therefore not available. Still, regional employment offices seem to account for ethnicity in their records, because, according to officials at the Ministry of Labor interviewed for the purposes of this report, there are approximately 80–90,000 Roma registered as unemployed, and 25–30,000 of these are included in various employment schemes.

Unofficial reports rate unemployment among Roma as being much higher than among the general population (UNDP, Faces of Poverty; European Roma Rights Center, The Glass Box). Fewer than one-third of Hungary's Roma appear to have employment as their main source of income. Among women, the unemployment rate is even higher—partly because of the more traditional division of labor in Roma households and partly because permanent employment in low-qualification jobs available to Roma are usually in the highly gendered areas of construction, sanitation, etc. (Berliner Institut fur Vergleichende Sozialforschung, Economic Aspects).

Labor centers offer various courses for their clients. A more limited choice of qualifications is naturally available to graduates of elementary school than to those who completed secondary or tertiary education. Programs for those excluded from the workforce are available in Hungary. Most of these programs are accessible to-and actually designed for-Roma, even though equal opportunities policies often prevent government officials from saying so explicitly. There is no official data on how such policies affect Roma in practice, but anecdotal evidence suggests that Roma are indeed among the primary beneficiaries of many of these programs. For instance, according to Ministry of Labor officials interviewed for the purposes of the report, a governmental program titled "Run Forward," which provides for the training of 10,000 people with a budget of HUF 3.5 billion (more than EUR 14 million), does not explicitly target Roma, but it is expected to deliver services primarily to unemployed Roma within the next year or so.

According to the same officials, more than 40 other programs provide training, guidance, mentoring

and psycho-social support, as well as follow-up support in the wake of employment. Again, according to officials in the Ministry of Labor, 30 percent of the participants in these complex labor market programs were Roma. An interesting finding for the purpose of policy design is that the training and job performance of Roma in these programs was identical to that of non-Roma in those cases where Roma received minimum-wage-level compensation, rather than the nominal income supplement usually granted to participants in such programs. Based on this finding, Ministry of Labor officials intend to amend the Employment Act so as to provide financial incentives for participation in labor activation programs. Another means to increase participation in such programs would be to facilitate a better flow of information between the 20 regional labor centers, with their 174 local branch offices located throughout the country. Local minority self-government offices, as well as NGOs, could act as conduits for information between Roma communities and government offices that provide training and employment services. Systematizing the flow of information would allow the government to integrate various regional employment programs into a national active employment policy that is designed to be easily accessible to Roma.

Targeted programs explicitly designed for Roma are still few and far between in Hungary, primarily because the Hungarian government takes a mainstreaming approach to Roma integration programs. According to Ministry of Labor officials interviewed for the purposes of this report, 11 out of 39 projects financed though a European Commission EQUAL tender dealt with the reintegration of Roma in the labor market. Run in partnership with NGOs and trade unions, these projects are expected to have positive outcomes for their beneficiaries, but a full evaluation cannot be made until 2008, as most projects were still in the preparatory phase as of this writing.

The Public Foundation for National Employment ran a pilot project aimed at promoting business activities in Roma communities in 2006. The pilot was reportedly not successful, but the Ministry of Economy and Transportation now runs a HUF 200,000,000 (EUR 800,000) annual program that supports Roma entrepreneurs and Roma-friendly business. Despite the relatively low budget of the program, over the past three years, more than 600 Roma or Roma-friendly

businesses have been financed in this manner (Ministry of Economy, *A hazai roma mikro-, kis-, es kozepvallalko-zasok* and *A roma valallkozasfejlesztesert*).

Anti-discrimination law in Hungary offers strong protections, in particular through the Equal Treatment Act and some newly adopted amendments to the Civil Code. The Equal Treatment Authority has taken an active role in the prevention of discrimination, while courts have sanctioned violations not only consistently, but also strategically. Still, these protections too often do not act as sufficient disincentives for potential employers, and Roma job-seekers usually know too little about the protection mechanisms available to them (European Roma Rights Center, *The Glass Box*; Bodrogi and Danka, "Litigating Discrimination"; Farkas, "Will the Groom").

#### 2.3 Health

The government and the National Statistical Office do not collect health data by ethnicity. The little data that is available comes from independently conducted onetime studies that relied on the hetero-identification of Roma subjects and were limited in both geographic and substantive scope. The best such study was conducted during 2000-2001 by the National Institute for Primary Health Care, and it revealed severe disparities between the health outcomes of Roma and non-Roma. The results of the study, however, are by now outdated and cannot be used as an accurate baseline for the design of comprehensive policies. The health section of the Hungarian draft DAP recognizes the need for adequate data—but it goes on to call for data collection every fifth year, with no further details as to how this will be done or how such limited collection can serve the purposes of designing and adjusting policies throughout the course of the Decade.

The draft DAP does not mention any measures to expand healthcare services to those who do not have access to health insurance. Health insurance in Hungary is currently tied to employment or registration with labor and unemployment offices. Moreover, health insurance is dependent on residence registration, which in practice means that long-term unemployed Roma

living in illegal housing, as well as the homeless, cannot access the country's healthcare system. The highly centralized and user-unfriendly Hungarian healthcare system is currently going through a complex reform that will introduce a number of novelties. Private healthcare insurance schemes are expected to expand, but this is unlikely to affect the situation of Roma, most of whom cannot access the state insurance system because they are too impoverished to afford the costs associated with private insurance (European Roma Rights Centre, *Ambulance*).

The priority area in the health section of the DAP appears to be filling vacancies in healthcare units in areas with larger Roma populations. Indeed, Hungarian doctors and other healthcare providers are often reluctant to take positions in such areas, either because of racist attitudes, or simply because they believe that, as the health outcomes of Roma are much worse than for the general population, they would have to take on a disproportionate amount of work. The Hungarian government has been contemplating solutions to this issue for years now. The government provides additional financial support for healthcare practitioners who take positions in areas where there are no family doctors on an as-needed basis, but no large-scale policy decision had been made as of this writing. According to the DAP, the Hungarian government also intends to develop antidiscrimination and anti-bias training for the health sector, including inter-cultural education and Roma culture modules in nursing colleges. Such programs are urgently needed, as there have been frequent reports in Hungary of discrimination against Roma in the provision of healthcare.

In terms of addressing Roma beneficiaries directly, the Ministry of Health, through the National Institute for Primary Health Care, has reported spending HUF 266 million (approximately EUR 1 million) on coordinated health education, awareness and information campaigns that included diabetes and heart disease screenings, early diagnosis, and treatment of alcohol addiction. Some pilot outreach programs have been conducted in cooperation with mainstream and Roma media—including an oral hygiene screening campaign launched together with the Hungarian "Health" magazine and Radio C, a Budapest radio station that targets a Roma audience (Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor, *National Strategy Report*).

Training programs for health mediators in Hungary were initiated five years ago, and some of the graduates were assigned to work in Borsod and Heves counties. But the mediators were not permanently employed at the end of the program, and no nation-wide health mediator programs have been implemented since. The draft DAP presented by the Hungarian government does list the training of Roma healthcare providers as a goal, but no details as to how the policy will be designed and/or implemented are available.

#### 2.4 Housing

Large numbers of Roma in Hungary live in predominantly Roma settlements at the edge of towns or in virtually segregated inner-city areas, in substandard conditions. These communities are often without access to basic amenities, such as electricity or running water, and sometimes they lack even basic infrastructure, such as paved roads. Moreover, the wholesale privatization of urban housing stock, coupled with weakened legal protections afforded to tenants, has sparked a wave of forced evictions of Roma from central areas of major towns that are slated for economic development. Thus, in the early years of the new millennium, hundreds of Roma families were evicted without court rulings. Instead, the families were put out pursuant to mere notaries' orders, without being offered alternative accommodations or any other type of compensation (European Commission, The Situation of Roma; European Roma Rights Centre, Housing Rights).

As with other areas, the Hungarian government does not maintain data on Roma housing on a national level. The last survey that included data on Roma housing dates back to 1993. For policy planning purposes, the government relies on various one-off, independently conducted studies, which are not nationally representative. For instance, in the first half of 2001, the School of Public Health of Debrecen University conducted a sampling study in three northeastern counties with large Roma populations (*Telepek es Telepszeru Lakohelyek*). Based on the finding of this study, the

government launched a comprehensive program, the Housing and Social Integration Program, which aims to support Roma integration by addressing the living situation of Roma throughout the country. The program deals not only with housing-related issues, such as the clarification of property rights, infrastructure improvement and access to public utilities, but also with issues like employment and public health. To help address these areas, the program brings in local employment offices and health institutions as partners. Further funding for an education element for the program was brought in by the Roma Education Fund. The ambitious substantive scope and integrated approach of the program, however, has in practice meant that the number of locations in which it could be enacted from the outset was quite small. Thus, out of 40 settlements originally approached by the government, only 22 ended up being solicited to apply for an average of HUF 150,000,000 (approximately EUR 600,000) each. From those 22, only nine had been accepted by the end of 2006, and another 10 or 11 are expected to join them in 2007 (Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor, Interim Evaluation Report). The preliminary evaluation of the first phase of the program suggests that governance of the program needs to be improved. Changes needed include the following: integration must indeed be prioritized over conflict avoidance; instead of taking a wholesale approach, those designing and implementing individual projects should work on a case-by-case basis; Roma beneficiaries must be included in project design; and monitoring and evaluation must be conducted regularly and from close-up (Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor, Interim Evaluation Report).

Other Hungarian government measures for improving Roma housing include a program for the legalization of unregistered settlements initiated in 2006. Social housing, on the other hand, is not part of a centrally designed strategy. In Hungary, the building of social housing is left to municipalities. Experience so far indicates that more regulation is needed in this area, as the allocation of social housing is often subject to allegations of corruption, and municipalities often choose to build very low-quality houses or apartments, which hardly meet the standards of adequate housing.

## Macedonia

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

Macedonia's Ministry of Labor and Social Policy (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor) coordinated the planning phase of the Decade of Roma Inclusion and the drafting of the country's Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP). Within the Ministry of Labor, Mabera Kamberi, head of the Department for Coordination and Technical Assistance, was charged with leading these efforts. This appointment presented several advantages: For one thing, as Department Head Kamberi is herself a member of the Roma community, and she has both first-hand knowledge of the situation of the Roma community and legitimacy among the target group of the Decade. Furthermore, since she is a qualified public administrator whose appointment is not political, the choice ensured not only impartiality, but also a degree of stability for Decade-related activities through several organizational and leadership changes in the Ministry of Labor.

Following her appointment, Department Head Kamberi set up a Working Group made up of: representatives of the relevant ministries, state agencies, and institutions; Roma leaders, such as a Roma member of parliament and the mayor of Shuto Orizari, a municipality where the majority population is Roma; and representatives of four Roma nongovernmental organizations. This group worked on drafting the DAP

during four thematic workshops—one for each focus area—organized during the second half of 2004.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

Much of the DAP is based on two documents, the Strategy for Improving the Situation of Roma in Macedonia and the Strategy for Development of the Roma NGO Sector, both of which were developed by NGOs. During the discussions surrounding the drafting of the DAP, the role of the NGOs was questioned by some members of the Working Group, who doubted the legitimacy and accuracy of the information presented by NGOs. But the presence of the NGOs helped to push the drafting of the DAP beyond reflexive institutional concerns, which resulted in a fairly balanced document.

Still, some important areas of action are missing altogether from the Macedonian DAP. For instance: no provisions are made for eliminating the segregation of Roma students into special schools; no actions are listed to prevent discrimination by employers in the private sector; and there are no proposals to ensure access to adequate healthcare and subsidized medicine for recipients of social assistance benefits. Similarly, cross-cutting priorities have not been sufficiently incorporated into the DAP, which means women's issues were left out. To address this shortcoming, Roma women's NGOs in Macedonia are currently pressing for revisions to the DAP that would mainstream gender equality in all Decade-related activities.

As it stands now, the Macedonian DAP is little more than an empty shell. Whatever new measures the DAP proposes are not backed up by the detail necessary to ensure proper enactment, and the document remains at the level of pro-forma general statement. The DAP primarily consists of a series of long-term goals and short-term objectives, defined more as "themes" than as realistic goals, and there is no clear assignment of institutional responsibility or funding. Many of the activities listed are in fact already ongoing as part of the implementation of other, primarily NGO-driven programs funded by external donors. Many of the fields are left blank. No provisions are made for monitoring activities under the Decade, most indicators are missing—and, where indicators are listed, they reveal a poor understanding of how to measure progress under the Decade. Specific time frames are often missing or vaguely defined, because, at the time the DAP was drafted, no member of the Working Group was able to determine the time needed for many of the activities. The cost and allocation of funding is also often unclear-both in terms of amounts, and in terms of sources and allotment mechanisms.

Moreover, some extremely vulnerable categories are entirely left out of the DAP. There is no provision for securing personal documents and resolving citizenship issues for Macedonian Roma who do not have identity papers or have not acquired Macedonian citizenship following independence. The Ministry of the Interior is making efforts to solve this problem, but the procedure for obtaining personal documents and citizenship is still overly complicated, non-transparent and costly. Similarly, there are no provisions made for the approximately 2,000 Kosovar Roma, Ashkalia and Egyptians who are living in Macedonia with no clear legal status since the Kosovo conflict (UNDP, At Risk). Because of their tenuous legal situation, Roma in these categories cannot access a host of human rights, including civil rights, political rights and basic rights relating to housing, education, employment and health.

#### 1.3 Decade Coordination an Implementation

Officially, the national coordinator for the Decade is the Minister of Labor, but in practice the job is

delegated to Department Head Kamberi. While this situation has some advantages, as mentioned above, it also has its drawbacks. The Decade is just one among a host of programs that Kamberi is responsible for, and she lacks the necessary support staff to effectively devolve of all of her duties, including duties relating to Decade coordination.

Work on the Decade is only supported by the National Working Group, which drafted the DAP. Following the parliamentary elections, the Working Group was turned into a coordination body by government decision on November 18, 2005. The coordination body was enlarged with members representing several ministries and with a few new Roma leaders. The body now has 26 members, nine of whom are Roma: Department Head Kamberi, two Roma members of parliament, the mayor of Shuto Orizari, and five Roma NGO representatives.

The effectiveness of the coordination body is a problem, because all ministry representatives have purely administrative functions and do not hold decision-making positions or political influence in their ministries. Working teams were set up in four ministries, each corresponding to a focus area, but, again, the scope of their work and of their influence within government structures is unknown. There is a general understanding that the coordination body has a consultative role with the government, but, as the Ministry of Labor has not finalized the rules of procedure for the body, the scope and nature of its powers remain unclear. Additionally, the coordination body does not have any support staff, and it has no funds at its disposal. The Ministry of Labor provides some logistical support for the regular meetings of the body in the form of one employee who is delegated to send invitations and deal with organizational details relating to the meetings.

Following the adoption of the DAP, operational plans with budget estimates were prepared for the first three years of the Decade. Yearly operational plans, developed on the basis of the general DAP, contain more details as to the implementation of some specific activities and have more specific funding estimates attached to some line items. Still, these plans are not specific enough: It is not clear from where or, for that matter, how, the funding is going to actually be secured, and the plans do not say which of the various state institutions listed is responsible for implementation. Starting

in 2005, the government sent requests for funding reallocation to several ministries. As of this writing, the only ministry to answer the government's request is the Ministry of Labor, which allocated the equivalent of EUR 16,000 for opening local informational offices in several locations. The overall inaction may be due to the fact that, in the period leading up to parliamentary elections, the former government was reluctant to take unpopular decisions, such as earmarking money from the state budget for Roma projects. As a result, these operational plans became mere paper documents, of no practical consequence to Roma inclusion goals under the Decade.

At the initiative of local NGOs and through outreach by Mabera Kamberi, six municipalities have developed their own local action plans. Four of these six plans were actually adopted by municipal councils and mayors—in Tetovo, Stip, Gostivar, and Kumanovo. But this progress was achieved solely as a result of initial action by Roma NGOs and is not yet supported as a systemic nationwide policy by the Decade coordination body. So far, the coordination body has only sent letters containing information on the Decade to local authorities and engaged them informally. A formal meeting with mayors was also planned, but has not taken place yet.

No official report on DAP implementation has been published, although a series of agencies and ministries have submitted reports to the Decade coordinator: for example, the reports for the first quarter of 2006 prepared by the Ministry of Transportation and Communications (hereinafter, the Ministry of Transportation), the Ministry of Labor, and the Ministry of Health. It would appear that the education section of the DAP is the only area where there has been some implementation—primarily of projects financed by external donors, such as the Roma Education Fund, USAID, the Netherlands Embassy, etc. Possibly in response to provisions in the DAP, the Ministry of Transportation issued an internal decision relating to the legalization of unregistered Roma settlements, but to-date it is not clear whether this has been implemented at all. Indeed, recent cases of evictions suggest that the decision has had no effect whatsoever.

#### 2. FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

Some schools occasionally send the Ministry of Education enrolment data that is disaggregated by ethnicity, but this data is neither nationally representative nor regularly updated. Moreover, there is no data on the number of children who do not attend school—either because they never registered or because they dropped out of school.

Non-compulsory preschool programs in Macedonia are partly paid for by parents. This means that most Roma children whose families cannot afford preschool fees are in practice excluded from non-compulsory preschool education, unless NGO programs facilitate access to preschool in the area. Preparatory classes for potential first-graders were not mandated by the Law on Primary Education until the beginning of the 2006-2007 school year. To improve the situation, the Ministry of Labor, in cooperation with the Roma Education Fund, has initiated a preschool program aimed at making early education available to Roma children. Fifteen preschools are targeted, but, as the program is still in the early stages, it is not possible to report on outcomes and effects at present. Until September 2006, many schools that did not have the resources to organize preparatory classes did not make them available to children. As of this writing, there is no information on whether every school has complied with the new regulation mandating the organization of preparatory programs for all.

School enrolment is currently left entirely to parents. The DAP mentions increasing parent involvement, but it fails to clarify what it means by the term "parent involvement," or how it should be accomplished. There are no proactive measures in place to ensure that all children who are supposed to be included in compulsory primary education are registered. In some cases, NGOs and external donor-driven programs fill this gap by facilitating school registration through local education centers (Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*). No other measures to systematically encourage school participation, such as subsidized transportation, free school lunches, etc., have been adopted. There are no Roma teaching assistants or school mediators to

facilitate access to quality education for Roma children. Children without identity papers who start going to school often have to stop before completing a full year because registration requirements do not allow them to stay in school without proper documentation. Housing registration issues compound these problems, as Roma often live in unregistered settlements or in settlements which, even if registered, are not included in a particular school district that would have the obligation to take in children from the settlement. As a result, many Roma children are sent to school late, or not at all (Roma Education Fund).

Those who are sent to school in a timely fashion face a series of obstacles. School readiness tests are not culturally sensitive, and many Roma children who are unfamiliar with the context for formal education are directed towards special schools as a result of such tests (Roma Education Fund).

Meanwhile, mainstream schools often turn down Roma students with the claim that they are oversubscribed. Because there is no per-capita funding scheme in the Macedonian education system, schools have no incentives to keep as many students as they can. As a result, Roma students often end up in the least attractive schools, where non-Roma students are less likely to register or stay. Several cases of ethnically segregated schools have been reported (Roma Education Fund). Macedonian law currently does not provide any mechanisms for preventing or punishing such cases of educational segregation.

Roma students who do not do well in school do not get the necessary support and extra tutoring that they need, unless they are supported through non-governmental programs such as the Roma Education Centers. In the early years of school, many Roma children are automatically promoted to the next grade. This practice only makes it harder for Roma students to integrate later in their school careers—or to compete for secondary schools. Many of them end up repeating grades later, and they eventually drop out as a result of this practice (Roma Education Fund).

There is some support available for Roma students in secondary education: A joint program of the Ministry of Education and the Foundation Open Society Institute–Macedonia, with Roma Education Fund support, provides scholarships with a view to increasing the number of Roma students in second-

ary schools. Some 657 Roma students have benefited from Ministry of Education scholarships as of this writing, and an additional 264 have received scholarships through the Foundation Open Society Institute—Macedonia (*Annual Report 2005*). Although there is no clear baseline against which to measure progress, independent observers have noted that the scheme has helped increase the number of Roma enroled in secondary education, as well as their overall performance in school.

Drop-outs can re-enlist in adult education only after the age of 17. However, adult education classes do not offer the necessary qualifications for employment upon graduation. Meanwhile, vocational training opportunities are limited. For those who did not complete secondary education, the National Employment Services can organize a vocational training course, but only upon the request of particular employers.

Attempts to introduce affirmative-action measures in higher education have not yielded the expected results, as the quotas for Roma students have often been abused by non-Roma seeking admission to university. Some universities have quotas for Roma or for minorities, more generally, but the availability of places varies from year to year. The government funds merit-based scholarships, as well as combined need- and merit-based student loans—which are in practice never repaid—for all students, but the number of Roma students who receive such scholarships or loans is not known (Roma Education Fund).

The Macedonian education system has yet to be reformed to adequately address the needs of a multicultural society. There is no systematic, mandatory anti-bias training for teachers, and no integration of Roma culture and history in mainstream curricula. Anti-bias training sessions organized by the Foundation Open Society Institute-Macedonia received the formal patronage of the Ministry of Education, but no systematic policy was developed based on this model. Where Roma are mentioned in textbooks, they are often represented in a manner that reinforces, rather than combats, negative stereotypes. No Romani language curriculum has been developed, and no language preparation for accessing mainstream schools is available for children whose first language is Romanes. Roma teachers are few and far between, so that most Roma students are taught by people who are burdened with prejudice and negative stereotypes (Roma Education Fund).

for every Roma in full employment there are nearly three Roma without any employment whatsoever. The national Statistical Office estimated that, among Roma, the unemployment rate in 2003 was 83.4 percent, while, among the general population, it was 36.6 percent for the same year. NGOs have reported Roma unemployment to be even higher, reaching 95 percent

in some areas (Minority Rights Group International,

Micro Study).

tures toward many of these problems, it fails to address them in the detailed, pragmatic manner that would ensure translation into actual policies and, eventually, practices. Most of the goals and short-term objectives are formulated in such vague terms as to render them meaningless, and no implementation or funding mechanisms are listed to elucidate the manner in which the objectives are supposed to be achieved. For instance, there is no specific understanding of how a "short-term objective" such as "enabling access to secondary education for young Roma students (meeting minimum standards)" is supposed to be achieved. On some level, the current state of affairs ensures that Roma students who meet minimum standards have access to secondary education on a competitive basis, but the problem is ensuring that Roma students have equal chances including the necessary compensatory conditions—to meet and exceed minimum standards. In the absence of clear mechanisms for implementation, and even funding, it is impossible to surmise what specific measures the Macedonian government intends to implement in order to achieve this goal. A few more-felicitous formulations at least hint

While the education section of the DAP ges-

A few more-felicitous formulations at least hint at the manner in which the general objectives listed in the DAP will be implemented. For instance, the statement noting the importance of "providing conditions for inclusion of all Roma children in the (future) compulsory preschool education" indicates that the government did indeed intend to make preschool programs mandatory, even though it does not explicitly commit to do so anywhere in the text of the DAP.

2.2 Employment

No official nationally representative data on Roma employment in Macedonia is available, but the National Employment Agency keeps records of registered unemployed by ethnicity. For instance, the agency reported that, as of March 31, 2006, there were 15,960 unemployed Roma registered in Macedonia (*Review of Unemployed Persons*). This figure, however, hides the real magnitude of the situation, because many Roma who are long-term unemployed are no longer—or never were—officially registered. Thus, according to estimates released by the National Employment Agency in 2004,

None of the programs and services devised to stimulate employment target Roma specifically, and none are even tailored to the particular needs of Roma. A few NGO programs addressing the specific employment situation of Roma exist, but their capacity is extremely limited as compared to national agencies. Moreover, there are no indications that the government intends to adopt and expand these NGO models in the near future. Consequently, Roma are primarily served by the National Employment Agency, an institution that appears to be ill-equipped to deal with Roma as a specific disadvantaged group. For instance, the agency was unable to provide any answer to the question of whether its staff had undergone anti-bias or sensitivity training in recent years. Neither the agency nor other state institutions offer any anti-discrimination training or information to employers. Indeed, race and ethnicity are not even among the officially listed grounds for discrimination: Macedonia recently drafted an anti-discrimination law, but it focuses on gender and disability-based discrimination only, and, as of this writing, it had not been adopted. And yet, discrimination against Roma is evidently widespread in Macedonia. A 2004 needs assessment published by the World Bank (World Bank, Needs Assessment Study) found that the name, surname and ethnicity of job seekers significantly affect hiring decisions. The report referred to a 2003 survey of 750 Roma, in which nearly 50 percent of the interviewees stated that they had experienced discrimination when applying for work (ISPPI and RMCM).

Thus, Roma can access employment-related services only through the generally available employment-related programs developed primarily by the National Employment Agency. These include counseling and career orientation, matching job-seekers to potential employers, and some training courses. Roma have complained that many of the training courses offered by the agency, such as English or computer classes,

require participants to have a higher education degree, a stipulation that indirectly discriminates against Roma (Minority Rights Group International).

Subsidies are available for employers hiring people with disabilities and for employers contracting job applicants who have been unemployed for at least one year. The subsidies stop after the first three years. Limited vocational training programs are usually available only at the request of specific employers, and they are not initiated by the National Employment Agency. These programs provide a salary during the training and a refund to the employer for offering the training itself. According to the National Employment Agency, 147 unemployed Roma were trained in this manner during the first three months of 2006. Unfortunately, the current status of these Roma trainees is not known. Independent observers have expressed concern that Roma are usually fired after the training period ends, and cases of Roma who underwent several such vocational training periods without ever being kept in permanent employment are not infrequent (Minority Rights Group International).

There are no national microfinancing programs for Roma businesses, though there are models that could be picked up by the government. Most financing for business is available through mainstream commercial institutions, which set terms and conditions that disqualify Roma applicants from the start. A Council of Europe Development Bank and Open Society Institute-funded organization, Horizonti Foundation, is providing training and loans to Roma entrepreneurs, but no similar programs have been initiated by the government to date. The Ministry of Labor, however, is expected to develop a grant scheme for self-employment in 2007.

Consequently, as elsewhere, public works projects are the most common form of employment for those registered with the National Employment Agency, but they are only a short-term palliative solution that does not address the long-term employment needs of most Roma.

The employment section of the DAP addresses these issues in a fairly thorough, pragmatic, and detailed manner. It recognizes the need for developing a targeted, tailored approach to Roma unemployment, beginning with anti-bias training for state employees and ending with setting up local structures for data col-

lection, information dissemination, and employment facilitation services. The DAP proposes, albeit in vague terms, that the legal framework governing employment should be re-examined so as to make room for socially conscious enterprise and affirmative action. It pragmatically acknowledges the importance of the gray economy as a source of subsistence for Roma and suggests that unregistered businesses be allowed to register, but it does not specify how. Furthermore, the DAP indicates a commitment to including Roma in future project design and implementation, and to including them in the public administration and local employment agencies.

Unfortunately, these excellent ideas are not backed up with any specific indications as to how they will be enacted. No implementing agencies are listed, no budgets are affixed to individual actions—or to the employment DAP as a whole, for that matter—and very few clear deadlines are set before the end of the Decade. Under these circumstances, and in the absence of a comprehensive government report on Decade implementation, the government makes it very difficult to monitor the way in which it fulfills the employment inclusion goals set as part of the Decade.

#### 2.3 Health

The healthcare system in Macedonia is generally in a sorry state: It is expensive even for middle-class people, corruption abounds, and healthcare workers have a paternalistic, insensitive attitude towards all patients, but especially towards unpopular groups such as Roma. In addition to the general failures of the healthcare system, the extremely poor living conditions and the environmental hygiene of Roma settlements contribute to the poor health outcomes of Roma. Roma exhibit higher infection rates from endemic diseases, such as tuberculosis, and life expectancy among Roma is lower than among the general population (European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance). Furthermore, infant mortality among Roma is extremely high: According to information from the national Statistical Office, the infant mortality rate among Roma is at 13.9 percent, higher than for any other ethnic group in the country (European Roma Rights Centre and National Roma Centrum, Written Comments). More data, however,

needs to be collected, as currently there is no information about vaccination rates or Roma access to health insurance.

There are no governmental programs specifically targeting Roma health, but some of the mainstream programs developed by the Ministry of Health have reached out to Roma beneficiaries, as well as to non-Roma. For instance, some of the money received by the Ministry of Health from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria appears to have reached Roma communities, as well as the non-Roma population (*Grant Performance Report MKD-506-G02-T*). Vaccination campaigns included Roma communities, and they appear to have been largely effective. However, there is no government-supported program for reproductive health that benefited Roma. Some NGOs developed programs in this area, but their model was not followed by the state.

There are no health mediators in Macedonia. The closest equivalent of health mediators are the social workers who are employed in each healthcare institution. Social workers help with filing for one-off health-related benefits and with liaising with relevant social services and NGOs. Unfortunately, the social workers have no health training, they do not have a presence in Roma communities, and they are not prepared or hired to work with Roma specifically.

But by far the biggest obstacles Roma face have to do with registering for heath insurance. In order to access health insurance, one often needs to demonstrate legal residence and employment status (or registration with the National Employment Agency). As discussed in the previous sections, Roma often do not have either of these—and therefore are entirely left out of the health insurance system. Another problem, raised primarily by women's NGOs, is the practice of insuring all family members through the one member who has gainful employment or is officially registered as unemployed. Because of labor division within traditional families, most such insurance policies are awarded to men, and they are often used as an instrument for control over women. NGOs have suggested that this practice be replaced by a system that provides direct insurance to each individual member of the family.

The health section of the DAP, though by far the longest section of the entire document, does not cover many of these issues. It focuses primarily on healthcare

education and awareness-raising for Roma, unfairly placing the burden of reform on the shoulders of the Roma community, rather than on the government. It fails to indicate practical solutions, suggesting instead some absurd ones, such as removing systemic barriers to health insurance coverage by disseminating information on health insurance procedures in Roma communities. Finally, it presents as discrete objectives a series of overlapping activities—such as the recurrent short-term objectives that flow from organizing 10 mobile teams and setting up 20 new clinics. As a result, the health DAP manages to appear substantial even as it provides for very little action from the Macedonian government over the entire course of the Decade.

#### 2.4 Housing

The overwhelming majority of Roma in Macedonia live in urban areas, in concentrated slum settlements at the edge of larger municipalities and in inner-city ghettos. Roma neighborhoods often lack basic infrastructure, such as paved roads; public utilities, such as clean running water or sewage; and accessible services, such as garbage removal, telephone communications, etc. Roma live in overcrowded, inadequate housing: For instance, a 2000 questionnaire circulated in Shuto Orizari revealed that more than half of the Roma families in that municipality lived with another family, and that 40 percent of the Roma in town live in less than 10 square meters of space (Ministry of Labor, Strategy for Roma). More than half of the respondents did not have facilities to bathe, and as many as 15 percent used improvised toilets.

Under these circumstances, many Roma houses do not meet minimum standards to qualify for legalization. The problem is compounded by the fact that many Roma themselves lack the personal identity documents necessary to initiate the process of legalizing the status of their homes. Furthermore, houses that are not legalized are caught in a vicious circle, as detailed urban plans often exclude unregistered residences. These urban plans are later used by bureaucrats to deny registration to the Roma houses that were not listed in the plans. Another problem is that procedures for obtaining property rights include fees, which in effect render them inaccessible to Roma.

Roma in unregistered homes in Macedonia often find themselves the object of eviction procedures. Forced evictions are not uncommon, especially in urban areas that have some potential on the real estate market. In such cases, authorities do not provide Roma with alternative accommodation.

The housing section of the DAP is especially vague. Some of the activities listed have to do with researching international regulations and harmonizing domestic legislation with international standards. Most of the line items consist of vague, impossible-to-measure short-term goals, such as encouraging Roma lobby groups to actively take up the issue of housing with local authorities, or encouraging local authorities to solve the housing problems of Roma. A few more specific actions listed include the development of urban zoning plans for Roma settlements and the development of the necessary infrastructure and basic utilities systems for these settlements. But these ideas are not backed by plans for implementation or funding mechanisms. The fact that the entire housing section of the DAP does not have any funding associated with each of the listed goals raises serious concerns as to the ability, and intentions, of the Macedonian government to implement the Decade's housing-related inclusion goals.

Some movement in the area of housing has been registered in Macedonia, but most of it pre-dates the Decade and appears unrelated to it, at least in official documents. For example, the Ministry of Transportation, responsible for housing-related issues in Macedonia, has developed some initiatives that could potentially impact the living conditions of Roma in the

coming years. The ministry has submitted a Housing Strategy for 2006-2011 to the government for adoption. As of this writing, there was no indication as to how—or, indeed, whether—the document addresses housing and property rights for Roma in Macedonia. The Ministry of Transportation is also preparing a draft law on the legalization of illegal buildings. Another initiative to automatically legalize all buildings erected without permit prior to 1968 was adopted in 2005 (Law for Buildings and Construction), but, again, there is no information on how, or whether, this initiative was implemented. In addition, the Ministry of Transportation has approved a detailed urban plan for the Kocani Roma neighborhood; begun the process of reviewing the new urban plan for the mostly Roma municipality of Shuto Orizari; and expedited the development of urban plans in response to environmental emergencies in the Roma neighborhoods of Veles and Kumanovo.

The Ministry of Transportation indicated that it will support the building of social housing that would have Roma, among others, as potential beneficiaries, and it will fund the construction of a sewage system in Shuto Orizari (*Program for Building and Maintaining of Flats in Possession of Republic of Macedonia*). Similar NGO programs, however, have met with resistance from local authorities, who refuse to cooperate on projects benefiting Roma. Some social housing was indeed built in Shuto Orizari, but the application process has yet to start, as the conditions for accessing the housing have not been made public as of this writing.

# Montenegro

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

Montenegro's Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP) for the Decade of Roma Inclusion was drafted by a country Working Group, formed in February 2004 at the initiative of the government. The Working Group consisted of 15 people, most of them representatives of ministries and international organizations with offices in Montenegro. However, no representatives of organizations working with internally displaced persons and refugees, such as the UNHCR, participated in the drafting of the DAP. As a result, the DAP does not reflect the needs of internally displaced and refugee Roma, Egyptians, and Ashkalia (hereinafter, RAE), who have lived in Montenegro since the outbreak of the Kosovo conflict and who are by far the most disenfranchised categories in the country.

The Working Group included only one Roma representative, Veselj Beganaj, the director of the "Pocetak" ("Beginning") nongovernmental organization and the coordinator of a network of NGOs called "Roma Circle." The severe imbalance in the representation of RAE in the drafting process was partly remedied by the actions of the NGO members of the Roma Circle, who met every month during the DAP drafting to present comments and corrections on the margin of the draft documents produced by the official Working Group.

Another problematic aspect of the DAP drafting process is the fact that none of the officials actively involved in drawing up the plan actually had any power or influence over the government structures that are supposed to enact it. Among the government representatives participating in the Working Group, only one ranked at the level of assistant minister—Sabahudin Delic from the Ministry for National Minorities and Ethnic Groups, which is not directly involved in Decade implementation. This set-up in effect ensured that the DAP would carry very little weight with government structures and agencies.

A first draft of the DAP was presented at the Decade's second International Steering Committee meeting, held in April 2004. As the first draft needed more detailed work, the Working Group divided into four sub-groups, each of which was dedicated to a particular focus area and was led by representatives of the relevant ministries or state agencies. Education was led by the Ministry of Education and Science (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education); employment was led by the Montenegrin Employment Agency; health was led by the Ministry of Health and the Montenegrin Health Institute; and housing was led by the Ministry of Urban Planning and Environmental Protection (hereinafter, the Ministry of Urban Planning), together with the Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor). The final version of the DAP is the result of the work conducted in these sub-groups over the second half of 2004.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

Montenegro's DAP is based on a number of domestic policy documents-including the Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper adopted in 2003, the National Action Plan for Children adopted in 2004, and the Economic Reforms Agenda adopted in 2003. The drafters of the DAP also referred to some international obligations undertaken by the government, such as various international human rights law instruments to which Montenegro acceded, as well as the Millennium Development Goals. Furthermore, the DAP drafters tried to incorporate the findings of a 2003 household survey of RAE, refugees and internally displaced persons. The survey was conducted by the Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses (ISSP) with the support of the United Nations Development Program (UNDP) and several Roma NGOs that are now part of the Roma Circle and that assisted with data collection and analysis (ISSP/UNDP, Household Survey).

Unfortunately, this last one-off study is the only document directly relating to the specific situation of Roma that could be used as a basis for developing the DAP. No government strategy on RAE had been adopted in Montenegro prior to the country's joining the Decade. NGOs in the Roma Circle tried to pressure the government to adopt a national strategy on Roma, but the government showed no interest in developing such a policy before joining the Decade. As of this writing, government officials interviewed for this report have said that the text of the strategy is close to finalization. Once adopted, the strategy is expected to flesh out the implementation of various measures included in the DAP focus areas, and it is also expected to cover issues such as legal subjectivity, political representation and gender equality, which are currently not adequately covered in the DAP.

The DAP appears to be designed as a pro forma bureaucratic document, rather than a comprehensive, detailed policy that the government is actually committed to implement. The DAP contains a narrative section, which explains the overall issues and goals covered by the action plan, followed by a table listing measures, indicators and other details relating to implementation. Even a cursory glance, however, reveals that not all focus areas receive an adequately detailed treatment. The education section is clearly the most developed,

while the employment, health and housing sections are not as thoroughly articulated. Roma NGOs have pointed out, for instance, that the employment section lists objectives that do not concern RAE specifically, but are instead general objectives that the Employment Agency has set for its activities on a national level. This shortcoming makes it difficult to monitor the specific manner in which the government undertakes its commitments to assisting RAE under the Decade. Similarly, the housing section fails to specify the criteria that will determine which RAE households will be targeted, making it impossible to measure outcomes objectively. Issues such as these are covered by a separate policy document, the National Action Plan on Housing Policy, which includes a small, separate chapter listing some measures to remedy the housing situation of RAE. However, although this plan has existed since 2005, most Roma NGOs and civil servants/officials do not seem to be aware of it, and it is most often not taken into account in discussions of Roma issues.

Moreover, the DAP fails to list any measures for RAE returnees from Western Europe who need help to reintegrate into the community. This is a particularly problematic issue in the area of education, where children who have been educated in languages other than Serbian are supposed to be integrated into mainstream schools with no additional support. Similarly, except for some cursory treatment in the employment section, the DAP does not adequately provide for solving the problem of personal documents, a dilemma that prevents many RAE in Montenegro from accessing even the most basic rights.

While poverty reduction and, to a lesser extent, anti-discrimnation have been incorporated in the DAP, gender is not adequately addressed as a cross-cutting priority in the relevant sections. This is especially problematic because unofficial surveys estimate illiteracy among RAE women to be over 90 percent, which in effect makes their political and economic participation unthinkable.

Indicators also appear to be badly understood: At best, they are set in absolute terms—i.e., not in relation to the situation of the non-Roma population. Even when expressed in percentages, the indicators cannot be used as an accurate measuring instrument, because it is not clear what baseline they are measured against. Many RAE did not identify themselves as such

in the most recent census, for fear of discrimination and stigma, and unofficial surveys, which may be more accurate, have not been updated in recent years. In the worst cases, the listed activity itself is used as an indicator in the DAP, rendering the entire notion of indicators meaningless.

Funding is another area that is not adequately covered by the DAP. For most of the listed activities, the government did not assign any additional funds other than those already assigned for the implementation of the Poverty Reduction Strategy. Thus, the current budget estimates for DAP implementation stand at EUR 11,385,000, out of which EUR 5,110,000 is supposed to come from sources other than the state budget, most probably donations from international agencies and funds—but the specific sources, funding mechanisms and amounts are not clarified in the DAP. NGOs say they believe that the only funds clearly earmarked for activities under the Decade as of this writing are the ones coming from the Roma Education Fund. When interviewed for the purposes of this report, Deputy Minister of Education and Science Cazim Fetahovic confirmed that less funding from state sources is available than planned, and that the government expects 80 percent of the financing for Decade activities to come from foreign donors, like the World Bank and the European Commission. This funding situation only adds to the confusion about the actual enactment mechanisms for the DAP.

It is also confusing that many of the deadlines are set by default to the entire duration of the Decade. Many of the deadlines appear to be set arbitrarily, without a clear understanding of how objectives will be phased in relation to each other. Some of the early deadlines have already passed without being met, which appears to indicate that they were not devised realistically. Others are set unnecessarily late in the Decade, with no explanation.

One other problem with the DAP is that it often fails to set clear responsibilities for specific line items, making it possible for various state agencies and ministries to claim the DAP itself exempts them from many implementation activities.

There have been no attempts to improve the DAP since its adoption. No efforts to develop more detailed priority action plans are known as of this writing.

## 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

Despite calls from NGOs and independent observers for the establishment of a fully-supported, independently budgeted national office or council for Roma inclusion, the Decade was delegated fairly far down the chain of command in the Montenegrin government. The appointed Decade coordinator is a senior adviser with the Ministry of Labor, Remzija Ademovic. It is not clear when and how the Decade coordinator was appointed. Until the launch of the Decade in Montenegro, the person in charge of coordinating the Decade preparation process was a representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Dubravka Lalovic. Soon after the launch of the Decade, in April 2005, this official was appointed to another position, and, for almost one year after that, NGO calls for an official appointment of a new Decade coordinator went unanswered by the prime minister's office. NGOs have not been able to obtain any official document relating to the appointment of a new Decade coordinator. In fact, they only found out that the position had been filled by Senior Adviser Ademovic in February 2006, at a roundtable organized by the Project on Ethnic Relations. It is not clear when the new coordinator was actually appointed, and who was in charge of the Decade between the departure of the first coordinator in April 2005 and the appearance of the new coordinator in February 2006.

Moreover, the current Decade coordinator has no independent decision-making power, no public profile to speak of, no assigned funding, and no support staff for activities under the Decade. This arrangement seriously calls into question the Montenegrin government's commitment to effectively implement the goals set under the Decade.

The Working Group that drafted the DAP appears to have dissolved for all intents and purposes, and it has not met even once since the launch of the Decade. As it was the Working Group's mandate to monitor the implementation of the DAP, no official monitoring of the first two years was in fact conducted, and, therefore, no official report exists against which to measure the findings of this one.

Since the adoption of the DAP, there appears to be no coordination among the members of the Working Group—or among the ministries that are supposed to

implement the DAP. None of the ministries seem to have designated units or officials in charge of Roma inclusion, and there are no Roma or members of related ethnic groups employed in senior positions within government structures or agencies. This document's authors have no knowledge of Roma working in local authority structures, either—with the exception of two Roma experts temporarily employed by the Herceg Novi and Podgorica municipalities.

No implementation units appear to have been set up on a local level, either. Local authorities interviewed for the purposes of this assessment reported that they had not received any instructions relating to Decade implementation. They also said that most of their actions affecting RAE are taken on an ad hoc basis or as a result of ongoing projects developed in partnership with local NGOs, not based on the understanding of a wider national strategy. Representatives of the Roma Circle attempted to remedy this communication gap by organizing presentations of the DAP for most local authorities in municipalities with significant numbers of Roma. According to Roma Circle leader Veselj Beganaj, all local authorities with whom the Roma NGO met showed themselves willing to participate in the implementation of the DAP, but the officials indicated that they expected funding to come from sources other than their own local budgets. Recent local elections also disrupted these early communication efforts, as many of the local officials have been replaced by new ones, who are most probably entirely unfamiliar with the Decade.

The municipality of Herceg Novi is the happy exception to this general state of affairs: In autumn 2006, the municipality, together with the local NGO "Young Roma," opened a Roma office that employs an ethnic Roma from the municipal budget. This arrangement, however, is only valid for six months to one year, and the fate of the Roma office beyond this term is uncertain.

Government officials, including the Decade coordinator, have said that the implementation of the Decade goals has been disturbed by external factors, including Montenegro's recent independence. Roma NGOs, however, argue that Montenegro has had institutions that were de facto independent for years before the referendum, and that the relevant governmental structures for the process of Roma inclusion have remained largely unchanged by the declaration of independence—with the exception of the ministries of health and labor, which were merged to form the Ministry of Labor, Health, and Social Welfare.

More specific implementation-related issues are discussed in the sections dedicated to each focus area below. On the general level, it is worth mentioning that no annual priority plans for the Decade have been adopted, and it is not clear how many of the issues listed in the DAP were actually mainstreamed into other national policies. Some of the more recent laws adopted by Parliament have incorporated concepts such as affirmative action—but it is not clear whether this is a result of direct pressure from NGOs or the ripple effect of the Decade.

#### 2. FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1. Education

There is no regularly collected data that would allow the authorities to track progress in promoting access to education for RAE children. However, some survey data is available, and it gives a snapshot of the challenges: The education gap between RAE and other ethnic groups in Montenegro is wide, and current enrolment among RAE children is low. Data from a 2003 survey (ISSP/ UNDP) shows that an alarming 63.1 percent of the RAE population have no education, 21.3 percent have incomplete primary schooling and only 9.2 percent have completed primary schooling. The picture shows little sign of changing, with only 38 percent of RAE children enroled in primary schools, as opposed to 86 percent of children belonging to other ethnic groups, according to UNDP estimates (UNDP, At Risk). This gap widens in secondary education, where the respective ratios are 13 percent and 83 percent. Only a very small percentage of Roma have graduated secondary schools, and very few follow through with higher education. For instance, six Roma students were enroled in university during the 2004-2005 academic year; by 2006, their number had dropped to two. The drop-out rate among RAE is much higher than in the general population, and literacy among RAE is at 55 percent,

although in the general population it is estimated at 99 percent (Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education).

The causes for this situation are primarily poverty and discrimination. Many RAE families do not have the means to support children in school, and often the children themselves need to contribute to the financial support of the family by helping other family members with their work, recycling household waste in town or simply begging. Meanwhile, the education system has yet to become an inclusive, flexible environment that can address the individual needs of each child and easily accommodate children belonging to the RAE minorities. Another problem is that large numbers of internally displaced persons and returning unsuccessful asylum seekers, many of whom are Roma, face obstacles in accessing the Montenegrin education system, either because they do not have personal documents or because they began their studies in other educational systems and in languages other than Serbian. Furthermore, the largely traditional make-up of the RAE population in Montenegro may be a factor behind a significant gap between the school outcomes of girls and boys.

Preschool education is not mandatory in Montenegro. Some incentives aimed at increasing the number of RAE children in preschools are currently in place, primarily in the guise of tuition subsidies, free hot meals, and free transportation to and from preschool.

Unfortunately, economic barriers persist, as enrolment is conditioned on the payment of a onetime EUR 10 fee, in addition to the monthly EUR 30 tuition and miscellaneous expenses fee. Fifty percent of this latter fee can be subsidized by the state for families who receive welfare assistance benefits through the Centers for Social Care. As many RAE do not have the necessary personal documents to register for these benefits, in practice, preschool fees, however low they may appear, are often beyond the reach of impoverished RAE families. Moreover, enrolment is conditioned on the presence of vaccinations and other medical certificates, which are not in practice available to many Roma children.

Segregation is another problem that RAE children face in the Montenegrin educational system. Classes entirely made up of Roma and Egyptian students have been reported, particularly in areas with large numbers of internally displaced persons from Kosovo. Such

classes appear as a consequence of the school administrators' assumption that these students speak mostly Albanian—though many of them speak Serbian as well. To make matters worse, non-Roma students tend to leave schools where large numbers of Roma are enroled, because the quality of education these schools offer is poor. The exodus of non-Roma students has the effect of lowering educational standards even further, in addition to increasing the isolation and ethnic distance experienced by RAE students. The Ministry of Education has indicated that it intends to develop desegregation plans for such situations, but, as of this writing, no progress appears to have been made on the issue.

Some progress has been made, however, in terms of setting up incentives for increasing school attendance. Failure to enrol children in school can be punished by a severe fine—though this provision appears to be rarely, if ever, applied where RAE are concerned. Free schoolbooks began to be distributed as part of a government initiative in the 2005-2006 school year. Some basic information on Roma culture has been included in mainstream curricula, particularly in civic education classes, with the idea of developing more inclusive educational environments. But other incentives to school attendance—such as free school lunches or transportation, the systematic provision of free after-school support, scholarships below higher education level, etc. are not firmly in place in Montenegro. Still, enrolment of RAE is growing steadily: According to the Ministry of Education, in the 2001-2002 school year, there were only 536 pupils who declared themselves to be Roma or Egyptians in primary schools in the country. Over the last few years, their numbers grew steadily, reaching 1,236 for the 2006-2007 school year. These numbers are not entirely reliable, as students are registered on a quarterly basis, and the figures provided by the ministry do not account for variations and drop-outs from one quarter to another.

Indeed, in October 2006, in Podgorica, Deputy Minister of Education Fetahovic announced that school enrolment among Roma students grew 100 percent over the past four years. Much of this increase can be credited to a series of nongovernmental programs piloted by UNICEF, the Open Society Institute-Montenegro, and other international organizations in Montenegro. Also, beginning with 2006, a larger-scale two-year

project, the Roma Education Initiative, which built on prior experiences developed by the Open Society Institute in this area, was introduced by the Ministry of Education. The Roma Education Initiative was developed together with the Pedagogical Center of Montenegro, which has the status of an NGO. The initiative was financed by the Roma Education Fund and aims to facilitate the development of models for comprehensive integrated education programs in schools and preschools in five locations in the country. The Roma Education Initiative seeks to provide RAE students with support and incentives to succeed in school, while supporting schools themselves and helping teaching staffs to develop the tools for successful integration. External evaluations conducted to-date indicate that the Roma Education Initiative has contributed significantly to the school success of children included in the program (Roma Education Initiative, Final Report).

As part of this program, Roma teaching assistants were introduced in Montenegrin schools to bridge existing communication gaps between the education system and RAE families. Twenty such assistants were trained to date, but only 10 are actually working, primarily because salaries were significantly cut in 2006, when the payroll was transferred from external donors to the Ministry of Education. Independent observers and teaching assistants themselves have expressed concerns that this transfer of responsibilities to the ministry may lead to the elimination of those assistants who are perceived by school administrators as disloyal. Still, there is hope that official structures are slowly realizing the benefits of having Roma teaching assistants, and that training programs for such assistants will be extended.

For now, there is little support for Roma education beyond the limits of mandatory schooling in Montenegro. Vocational training is available only through the general activities of the national Employment Agency, and it is usually not tailored to the specific needs of Roma. Adult literacy classes are organized mostly by NGOs. And higher education scholarships are paid for by outside donors, as is the case with the six Roma students in the university-level preparatory education program, whose scholarships are paid for by the OSCE.

#### 2.2 Employment

There is no nationally representative data on Roma employment as of this writing, though the Employment Agency initiated a survey of the employment situation of Roma as a first step in the implementation of the employment goals of the DAP. The survey was first piloted in the municipality of Niksic in 2005, in cooperation with the Roma NGO "Pocetak." Then it was extended to the whole of Montenegro, with OSCE financing and support from the Foundation for Scholarship of Roma, in 2006. The results of the survey had not been published as of this writing.

Unofficial surveys indicate that the unemployment rate among Roma is as high as 82 percent (ISSP/UNDP). This estimate is even higher when taking into consideration refugees and internally displaced persons, who have a particularly difficult situation in accessing employment. Similarly, unemployment among RAE women is even higher than among men, primarily because of traditional gender roles, which leave women even less educated, less familiar with the official language, and less informed about employment options and job requirements.

Though discrimination plays an important role in perpetuating this state of affairs, Montenegro has yet to adopt comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation in line with current international standards in the field. Some declaratory bans on discrimination can be found in the Constitution, the Law on Minorities, the Law on Employment and the Law on Labor, but these statements are not associated with any specific enforcement mechanisms or penalties, so they are entirely ineffective.

In a positive development, the Employment Agency of Montenegro has taken the initiative to conduct regular anti-bias training for its personnel and to develop special application forms tailored to the specific situation and needs of Roma job seekers. Moreover, the Employment Agency set up a working group that aims to develop services for people with special difficulties in accessing employment, including Roma.

Unfortunately, these actions at the level of the Employment Agency are not matched by more concrete initiatives to facilitate or stimulate the actual employment of RAE in the public or private sector. A national employment strategy is expected to be adopted

for the 2007–2010 period, and it is to be followed by a more narrow strategy on stimulating employment of hard-to-employ categories. But, as of this writing, state institutions have no affirmative action programs for Roma employment, and there are no incentives for hiring minority candidates in the private sector. Sporadic training sessions for trades such as chimney-sweeping or household waste recycling are made available to Roma through the Employment Agency, but they are not tied to any programs to stimulate employment of those who complete the training.

There are no programs promoting self-employment that are specifically designed for RAE, and no state support for traditional handicrafts, which are simply relegated to the black market. Regular self-employment programs are available only to those who can fulfill standard requirements, and many RAE applicants cannot access them. Indeed, most RAE who are in business are involved in the so-called "gray market" economy, which is not recognized by financial institutions. They also often lack the type of guarantees, such as real estate or other assets, that are required to access credit. Microfinancing is available only through very few small NGO programs, which make credit available to particular vulnerable groups. As a consequence, most selfemployed Roma and Egyptians use consumer credit to finance their businesses.

The problems in securing employment faced by internally displaced and refugee Roma have been compounded by the adoption of a new Law on Employment in 2002 and the Law on the Employment of Foreigners in 2004. In addition to erecting extra layers of bureaucracy for job-seekers, these new regulations mean that those who hire refugees and internally displaced persons must pay additional taxes, which naturally act as a disincentive for any employer.

#### 2.3 Health

There is no data disaggregated by ethnicity on the health situation of Roma in Montenegro, but independent research, such as a report published in November 2006 by the UNDP, reveals severe gaps between RAE and other ethnic groups—both in terms of health determinants and in terms of outcomes. The UNDP estimated that more than 7 percent of Roma in Montenegro have

been denied medical services because they lacked personal identity documents, while 62 percent reported that, over the course of the previous year, they had not been able to afford prescription medication at least once (the corresponding figure among other ethnic groups is only 8 percent). Only 17 percent of Roma children have confirmed vaccinations against poliomyelitis, diphtheria, tetanus and whooping cough; the status of another 72 percent is impossible to confirm. Poor living conditions, low levels of education, and traditions such as the virginity cult contribute to perpetuating this situation (UNDP).

Still, according to NGOs and other independent observers, these numbers may be more reflective of failures in record keeping than of actual discrimination in the Montenegrin healthcare system. Even though there are no government healthcare policies targeting RAE, and even though no health-mediator program was initiated by the government, healthcare professionals in Montenegro regularly conduct vaccination drives and awareness-raising activities in Roma neighborhoods. No additional funds are available for most of these activities, and healthcare professionals often participate in them on a voluntary basis. As a consequence, Roma activists estimate that more than 90 percent of RAE children have actually been vaccinated in the past five years. Moreover, for those who do not have identity cards or healthcare records, the Red Cross and some welfare institutions can facilitate access to subsidized medical care.

There are no government-funded reproductive health programs specifically targeting Roma. NGOs and international agencies have filled this gap through shortterm projects, which revealed the pressing need for such programs. For instance, according to the Niksic-based Center for Roma Initiatives, half of the Roma women examined as part of such a reproductive health project had at least one home birth, and more than 70 percent do not use any family planning means. NGO projects have helped improve this situation to a certain extent: The project conducted by the Center for Roma Initiatives in Niksic (Centre for Roma Initiatives, Research on the Position of Roma Women in Niksic) reported that the percentage of women under the age of 30 having home births has decreased to just more than 5 percent in the past five years, while the proportion of couples planning their families increased to 48 percent.

#### 2.4 Housing

The vast majority of RAE in Montenegro live within segregated informal suburban settlements or inner-city ghettos—in overcrowded, substandard living spaces without basic utilities, such as sewage, or public services, such as garbage removal. Many informal settlements grew and became more compact with the addition of refugees and internally displaced persons, especially during the Kosovo conflict.

Survey results from 2003 (ISSP/UNDP; UNDP) show that 48 percent of Roma live in makeshift shacks, and 61 percent live in houses smaller than 30 square meters. Some 81 percent of Roma have less than 10 square meters per family member. While most Roma have access to electricity and some running water, sanitation is often unavailable in unregistered settlements, as local authorities are obliged to provide sanitation only in areas with a clear legal status. Unemployed Roma do not contribute to local taxation and frequently fall behind on their utility bills, and local authorities often cite the lack of payments as a reason to refuse any improvements in infrastructure for Roma communities. To make the situation worse, some settlements are located in the vicinity of landfills or other polluted or hazardous areas. According to the survey, 48 percent of Roma households are located close to garbage dumps, while 22 percent are placed in areas that regularly flooded by sewage, and 17 percent are in locations with highly polluted air.

Some of these issues are addressed by the Action Plan on Housing Policy adopted by the Montenegrin government in April 2005. The plan predicts investments in the housing sector of more than EUR 126,000,000—two-thirds of which is supposed to come from foreign donors—by the end of 2008, and it sets ambitious goals, such as building more than 1,000 social housing flats by the end of 2007. But, as fewer than 100 flats had been built by the end of 2006, it appears that some, if not all, of the targets set by this action plan will not be met as scheduled. Still, some

of the general directions set by the Action Plan on Housing Policy indicate the government's willingness to adequately address the housing situation of RAE. For instance, the action plan envisages that existing illegal settlements be granted legal status and be provided with the necessary infrastructure. In and of itself, this does not represent a major shift in housing policy: The 2000 Law on Building Constructions also required that illegal homes be registered, but local authorities failed to do so on deadline for lack of funding. Still, though it covers old ground, the action plan represents a renewed commitment to solving the legal status of informal settlements.

Such policy documents, even if only declarative for the most part, have registered some effects with local authorities, who have halted evacuation plans for residents of illegal settlements over the past two years. Moreover, in some cases, local authorities have even taken steps to provide alternate accommodation for Roma residents who found themselves homeless. In one instance, the municipality of Niksic provided 13 Roma families whose makeshift homes had burned to the ground with new housing with running water, canalization and other utilities.

Social housing, on the other hand, has yet to become available to Roma on a straightforward asneeded basis. For instance, according to a representative of the municipality of Podgorica present at a roundtable organized in October 2006, approximately one-third of the social housing recently built in the city had been given to Roma families. But some of this housing came with very tight strings attached: Twenty-two internally displaced Roma and two locally resident Roma were provided with housing through a project that gave the municipality the right to transfer the housing to new tenants if the current tenants found full-time employment. More generally speaking, the criteria and procedures for allocating social housing in Montenegro are not clear, and, therefore, it is difficult to evaluate how many such housing units are in practice available to Roma.

## Romania

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 DAP Drafting

In January 2005, as the Decade of Roma Inclusion was about to start, Romania seemed on track in terms of developing a draft national Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP). At the third meeting of the Decade's International Steering Committee (hereinafter, ISC) in June 2004, Romania had not only presented a first draft of its DAP, but also cost estimates for many of the line items included in the draft DAP. By the fourth and final ISC meeting in October 2004, the Romanian delegation had produced a more detailed version of the DAP, which it presented as being close to the expected final form.

The various drafts for an action plan were supposed to be produced in consultation with Roma civil society representatives. To this end, the Office for Roma Issues, the governmental agency coordinating Romarelated activities at the time, began cooperating with Roma nongovernmental organizations on preparations for the Decade as early as March 2004. At that time the Office for Roma Issues cooperated with the human rights group Romani CRISS to co-host a seminar that introduced the Decade process to Roma NGOs across the country. Roma representatives, both from the government side and from among civil society, have participated in the ISC meetings and in various seminars and informal meetings that were organized in Romania in the year leading up the launch of the Decade.

But NGOs and outside observers have noted that Roma NGOs were not involved in the actual drafting of the DAP. The openness initially demonstrated by Romania's government during the Decade preparations in early 2004 appears to have disappeared by the fourth ISC meeting, when Romania presented a draft DAP that had been produced solely by government representatives, with no input from Roma civil society. Consequently, tensions between Roma NGOs and governmental agencies in charge of the Decade increased. For their part, Roma NGOs have pointed out that too little information was available on specific government activities, that the flow of information was inconsistent, and that the decision-making process often lacked transparency. Meanwhile government representatives questioned the legitimacy of the NGO participation. These officials expressed the concern that the young Roma leaders involved in the preparatory process since 2004 may not be representatives of the diverse Roma communities in the Romania, and they worried that it was not clear to them what NGOs had to offer to the Decade process as a whole.

Despite these troubles, by the end of the 2004 preparatory year, Romania seemed to have taken an early lead among the Decade countries, even announcing its intention to host the first Decade Secretariat in 2005. But Romania's early gestures toward adopting the Decade's framework have yet to be matched by effective action in terms of actual implementation of reforms in support Roma inclusion.

The clearest indicator of Romania's poor implementation is that, as of this writing, the Romanian

government had not adopted a DAP. Such inaction calls into question Romania's commitment to the Decade and, more importantly, to Roma inclusion as a long-term policy goal. Two years into the Decade, the Romanian government is finally able to give a specific date for the adoption of the DAP. This means significant time was lost in terms of coordinating policy on Roma inclusion, mandating specific measures of responsible state agencies, and allocating the necessary budgetary and human resources to reach to the objectives to which Romania subscribed when joining the Decade.

For the purposes of the present report, the lack of an adopted DAP also means that there is no standard document against which progress can be measured in Romania. In the absence of an adopted DAP, no official report or document on the implementation of Decade-related objectives was produced, either. In 2006, the National Agency for Roma produced a report on activities relating to the Romanian presidency of the Decade (Decade of Roma Inclusion-One Year of Romanian Presidency), but it does not cover progress in substantive areas. The following analysis, therefore, will use as reference the available drafts of the DAP, along with the whole range of Roma-related policies currently in place until the plans are adopted by the government decision we cannot talk about Action plan implementation.

#### 1.2 Draft DAP Content

Two draft DAPs have been made available to NGOs to date. One version, which is available on the Decade website, appears to be a draft text dating back to the 2004 preparatory year (Government of Romania, Action Plan). The other version was published in 2006 as one part of a National Agency for Roma study that was prepared by agency President Mariea Ionescu and Sorin Cace and focused on policies targeting Roma in Romania (Ionescu and Cace, Public Policies). The 2006 version closely follows the 2004 draft, with some changes in the segment on housing. The later version focuses much more on reforming the legislative framework affecting the housing situation of Roma, while the 2004 text proposes the rehabilitation of Roma settlements and an increase in the provision of social housing in general.

Despite this difference, the two drafts share a similar outlook. They were both built on the existing government-adopted National Strategy to Improve the Status of Roma in Romania (hereinafter, the National Strategy on Roma), which means they have carried over some of the problems associated with the government strategy in terms of delegating specific responsibilities, coordinating national and local structures, securing adequate funding for actual implementation, and generating data for proper monitoring of progress. As outside observes have noted, since the adoption of the National Strategy to Improve the Status of Roma in Romania, there have been several gaps: the government has failed to ensure the operational effectiveness of the various implementing institutions at both central and local level; no provisions have been made to secure adequate funding for implementation, either through direct allocation or through line ministries; and there has been no close monitoring of progress on specific objectives (Focus Consultancy, Assessment of the Roma Strategy).

Thus, while the two draft DAPs both list a similar series of objectives—and the 2004 version even includes indicators for measuring progress—neither version specifies any concrete policy measures and means to achieve the stated objectives. Should the final Romanian DAP closely follow these early drafts, the government risks turning the Decade framework into an empty shell, with no clear actions, outcomes and achievements to show by 2015.

Ionescu, the president of the National Agency for Roma, indicated that a more detailed DAP is being developed by the government. When interviewed by NGO representatives for the purposes of the present report, Ionescu, whose agency is the coordinating body for the Decade in Romania, said the new draft DAP template includes concrete policy measures associated with each objective. She said all of these measures are linked to specific institutions responsible for their implementation, a timeline for action, and an estimated budget; but the new draft has yet to clarify the coordination mechanism for implementing all activities under the framework of the Decade.

In her interview, National Agency for Roma President Ionescu said that not all sections of the new DAP were fully developed. She said the most detailed section of the new DAP is the one on education, followed by the one on housing, while the employment section had yet to be developed in terms of specific measures, timelines and budgets. Ionescu said the lineitem costs in the new draft DAP are based on each individual ministry's budget estimations, as well as funds available from the state budget, the European Union, and projects financed by outside sources. The National Agency for Roma cannot, by itself, provide direct funds from the state budget, as it is institutionally and financially dependent on the General Secretariat of the government. In the absence of an adequate coordination mechanism, many decisions as to what will actually be done under the framework of the Decade are left to the good will and resources of individual ministries. This system has not functioned to date. No funds from the state budget were allocated by individual ministries to Decade-specific activities in the budgets submitted to Parliament for 2005, 2006 and 2007.

As of January 2006, the following process still needed to take place before a DAP could be adopted by the government: A new draft of the DAP had to be submitted to relevant national institutions for consultation, after which it would be submitted for review to the county Roma offices at the regional level. Only then would the draft be opened for review through consultations with Roma NGOs. Following NGO consultations, the DAP would be submitted to the government. All ministries involved would have a chance to review the draft DAP, comment on it, and formally approve it. Once this process is completed, the government can adopt the DAP as public policy, in the form of a governmental decision. According to National Agency for Roma President Ionescu, this entire process was expected to be completed by mid-2007.

Ionescu said the current draft takes into consideration the need for complementarity among a number of intersecting policy documents that are otherwise very poorly coordinated, including the National Strategy on Roma, the National Anti-Poverty and Social Inclusion Plan, as well as the Joint Memorandum of Social Inclusion concluded by the government of Romania with the European Commission, and the UN Millennium Development Goals. Indeed, some poverty reduction objectives mentioned in these policy documents crossed over into the first two draft DAPs. Some anti-discrimination objectives, such as school desegregation, equal access to healthcare provision,

and the need for intercultural education, also appear as cross-cutting themes in the first two draft DAPs. The gender dimension, however, is nowhere to be found in the draft action plans. As of this writing, it is not clear whether the new draft DAP being prepared by the government will incorporate gender in all sectoral priorities, according to Decade commitments.

### 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

Thus far, the governmental structure in charge of coordinating Decade-related activities has been the National Agency for Roma. Set up in 2004, the National Agency for Roma was intended to provide Roma with better, more influential representation at the government level. The agency was expected to take on a wide array of responsibilities, including the development of policies relating to Roma in Romania. In effect, the National Agency for Roma is subordinated to the General Secretariat of the government, and it functions primarily as a coordination and monitoring office, with a very limited independent budgetary allowance, a small office in Bucharest and eight regional offices, each staffed by three employees objectives (Focus Consultancy).

Though still young, the National Agency for Roma is the product of a tumultuous history of representation, delegation and reshuffling of Roma-related issues by various Romanian governments over the past 10 years. The National Agency for Roma is the successor to the National Office for Roma, which was part of the no-longer-extant Department for the Protection of National Minorities-itself a part of the General Secretariat of the government—between 1997 and 2000. In January 2001, the National Office for Roma was transferred to the Ministry of Public Information, which is also no-longer-extant. In July 2003, the National Office for Roma was transferred back to the General Secretariat of the government and renamed the Office for Roma Issues. In February 2004, the Office for Roma Issues was transferred to the Department for Inter-Ethnic Relations, which was subordinated to the General Secretariat of the government. Before the last general elections, in October 2004, the Office for Roma Issues was replaced by the National Agency for Roma, established by means of an emergency government ordinance. The head of the Office for Roma Issues was appointed as President of the agency in November 2004, only to be replaced by the current leader, Ionescu, in July 2005. This series of constant transfers and reorganizations severely impeded the development of the institution, leaving it in chronic disarray. Periods of relative institutional stability are overshadowed by an acute awareness of this history and of the fact that appointments to the presidency of the National Agency for Roma are understood to be political, and therefore inherently exposed to the changing winds of Romanian politics objectives (Focus Consultancy).

Nonetheless, the new agency enjoys relative autonomy as compared to its previous incarnations, and, at least in theory, it carries more weight than them, as the head of the institution holds the rank of a state secretary. The current set-up would allow the National Agency for Roma to perform some of its coordination functions under the Decade framework, though outside observers have questioned both the internal management of the agency and its capacity to work directly with line ministries' objectives (Focus Consultancy).

Ionescu, the current president of the National Agency for Roma, is a Roma who came to work for the government after a productive career in the NGO world, and her presence could help ease current tensions between Roma civil society and the government. She has proven herself on occasion to be a powerful advocate, so she can help raise the visibility of the Decade, both inside the government and among the public at large. But in the absence of a DAP, it is difficult to assess how—or, indeed, whether—the National Agency for Roma carries out its substantive duties as Decade coordinator in Romania.

What is clear, however, is that the National Agency for Roma gives priority to implementing the National Strategy on Roma in comparison to implementing goals of the Decade of Roma Inclusion. While the Decade plan is not yet approved, several hundred people have been hired for local implementation of the National Strategy on Roma. According to Ionescu, presenting the Decade as policy priority carries the risk of dramatic cuts, or at least reduced local influence, in the structure for the implementation of the National Strategy on Roma. Ionescu said the National Agency for Roma is not willing to take such a political risk.

#### 2. FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

It is difficult to assess the relative success of various educational policies affecting Roma in Romania because no nationally representative enrolment and attainment data for Roma is consistently produced on an annual basis. The few statistical studies in the field are far from comprehensive, and they offer only one-time snapshots of the system, making it impossible to trace the evolution of education for Roma over time (Ministry of Education, School Participation). Most of the publicly available data comes from NGO reports and studies commissioned by international development agencies working in Romania (EUMAP, Equal Access; European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata; Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education). The information that is available hints at a complex picture, in which the educational system has some progressive elements, particularly at the level of the Ministry of Education and Research (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education), while there is a lack of real progress on the lower levels, in primary and secondary schools.

Beginning with the early 1990s, Romania developed a series of affirmative action policies aimed at increasing university and high-school-level attendance among Roma students. What began in 1992, with 10 places allocated for Roma students in the School for Social Work of the Bucharest University, expanded over 10 years to a countrywide program, with 422 places allocated for Roma in 37 universities, according to Ministry of Education officials interviewed for the purposes of this report. This growth was mandated by annual orders from the Ministry of Education. But universities themselves also took on affirmative action policies that went beyond the requirements of the ministry. This is the case with qualification programs for Roma teachers without a college degree: Several universities took the initiative to expand these training programs by 50 places every two years. Similar affirmative action policies were developed for vocational training institutions and high schools throughout the country.

Additional positive developments include programs that aim to improve preschool and primary school attendance for disadvantaged groups by providing free school meals, subsidized school supplies and free

transportation. The provision of child allowances was also tied to school attendance until recently, again with the idea of motivating low-income families, not only Roma, to send their children to school. An adult literacy program called "second chance" is now underway, and it is reportedly mostly attended by young mothers and Roma who dropped out of school at an early age (EUMAP, *Equal Access*; Roma Education Fund).

Romania also developed Romani language programs much sooner than some of the other Decade countries. As early as 1990, a first set of three Romani language classes were set up as an experiment in pedagogical high schools in Bucharest, Bacau and Targu Mures, with the intention of training future Romani language teachers. At the central level, civil servant Gheorghe Sarau of the Ministry of Education spearheaded these efforts by helping to set up a Romani language program at the Bucharest University in 1992. Romani language programs are now scattered throughout the Romanian educational system—serving students from the preschool level to the university level. Inspectors of Roma education have been appointed in each county to coordinate activities relating to Romani language education and Roma culture and history classes (EUMAP, Equal Access; Roma Education Fund). Unfortunately, these inspectors often work only on a part-time basis, and they do not have the time to effectively oversee all the programs under their supervision. Moreover, NGOs have noted that the inspectors seem to be appointed based on their political affiliation, which casts suspicion on their length of tenure and their commitment to the issues of Roma education.

One other improvement that should be mentioned is the institution of Roma school mediators in Romania. The position of Roma school mediators was created to improve school enrolment and attendance and to prevent school abandonment for Roma children. The initial idea was to place a school mediator in each school, but the number of qualified school mediators is still very low. This means that each mediator is usually responsible for several schools in one area, a situation that greatly reduces their effectiveness (EUMAP, Equal Access; Roma Education Fund). As of this writing, the Ministry of Education had declared its intention to assimilate school mediators into the category of auxiliary teaching staff, and to extend the program to also assist non-Roma who may benefit from additional support. This move is partly motivated by a need to

increase the number of school mediators and to systematize their work.

While affirmative action policies and the introduction of Romani language curricula appear to have improved school attendance at all levels for Roma students, the Romanian education system continues to fail to provide Roma with equal opportunities to quality education in regular programs. By the government's own admission, educational segregation is a systemic problem in Romania (Ministry of Education, Notification 29323). The immediate justifications given for segregation include: the combination of residential segregation with faulty school districting; abusive implementation of educational reforms for ethnic minorities; inadequate diagnostic and assessment procedures for placement in special schools; or simply "white flight" towards private schools or "better" schools, which almost always means predominantly non-Roma schools. Whatever the explanation given, many Roma children study separately from their non-Roma peers—in separate classes, buildings, or schools, and even in special schools originally intended for children with intellectual disabilities. These predominantly or exclusively-Roma classes or schools exhibit appalling conditions. Not only are they missing handbooks and essential supplies, such as chalk or paper; often basic furniture, heating, sanitation, or even windows are nowhere to be seen. Teachers in segregated schools are ill-prepared and unmotivated to work with their students. School abandonment among Roma students in segregated settings is high. Those who do stay in school can spend years without learning to read or to do basic math (EUMAP; European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata; Roma Education Fund).

The first cases of segregation in Romania were documented in 2003 by the human rights group Romani CRISS (*Report on Educational Segregation*). Soon after, other domestic and international NGOs reported more cases. The legal avenues to address the issues proved insufficient. For instance, in response to a complaint submitted on behalf of Roma parents by Romani CRISS, the Romanian anti-discrimination body, the National Council for Combating Discrimination, issued an inconsequential "warning" to the school authorities guilty of segregating Roma children away from non-Roma (Gergely, "Anti-Discrimination Legislation"). In the light of the ineffective application of the law, activists saw that advocacy was the only way to effect policy change. Following increased pressure from NGOs and

other independent observers, the Ministry of Education adopted a Notification that mandated desegregation in the Romanian school system (Ministry of Education, *Notification 29323*). The Notification tasked school inspectorates to present complete and accurate information on the ethnic composition of local schools, and to propose solutions for integrating Roma and majority students in regular schools. Through the ministry, EU PHARE funding was dedicated to such desegregation projects, and a steering committee, which included representatives of civil society and Roma rights groups, was formed to oversee the PHARE-funded desegregation programs (Ministry of Education, *PHARE Program*).

But the ministry's progressive policy document has at least in part failed to produce the expected effects. As of this writing, cases of segregation continue to be documented by rights groups throughout the country. It is not clear how many counties in Romania have actually developed the mandated desegregation plans. There has been no independent monitoring of the use of PHARE funding intended for desegregation projects, but there are indications that at least some of the projects funded through the program did not actually end in the integration of Roma students in mainstream schools (Andruszkiewicz, *School Desegregation*). Under these circumstances, it is hard to imagine how the government hopes to achieve the draft DAP's objective of eliminating segregation by 2008.

#### 2.2 Employment

The only available data on employment outcomes for Roma in Romania has been provided by the job fairs for Roma organized annually since 2003 by the National Employment Agency within the Ministry of Labor, Social Solidarity, and the Family (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor). The data provides only specific figures for the number of persons attending the fair and the number of successful Roma applicants selected for employment. For example, in 2005, the fair was attended by 8,239 persons, out of whom 2,243 Roma were selected for future employment (National Agency for Roma, *Progress Report*). Outside these very small annual snapshots of the job fairs, there is no reliable, nationally representative, regularly collected data on the employment situation of Roma.

The job fairs for Roma are not only the sole source of limited information on the employment of Roma—they appear to be the only functioning active employment measures specifically targeting Roma in Romania to date. Moreover, the success of these fairs is felt on a very small scale, as they are not properly publicized and are therefore attended by only small samples of both potential employers and actual job-seekers. Roma NGOs have additionally pointed out that the program is not adequately tailored to the needs of Roma as beneficiaries, because the majority of jobs on offer at the fairs require qualifications higher than those usually attained by Roma.

While the job fairs may be imperfect, outside of some short-term PHARE-funded self-employment programs, there are no other mechanisms for actively promoting the employment of Roma. Other positive employment measures—such as offering tax breaks to employers hiring Roma, encouraging the revitalization of traditional crafts and trades, or providing farmland and supporting farming programs for Roma—appear on paper in the National Strategy for Roma, but have not been enacted in practice.

EU programs like PHARE and SAPARD have rarely been available to Roma, because the complex financing system is not conducive to targeting projects whose direct beneficiaries are Roma. Financing is sometimes only available to public institutions, for whom Roma have been a low-priority constituency. Often, such programs as microfinancing for incomegenerating activities have been available only to legally registered community initiative groups; this excludes, by default, the poorest and most isolated communities, which do not have the resources or know-how to incorporate initiative groups.

Part of the problem may come from the fact that the Ministry of Labor, which not only coordinates employment policy but also often serves as a conduit for outside funding, has yet to develop consistent policies for Roma. It is not even clear whether Roma inclusion in employment is in fact seen as a priority area for the ministry's work. According to the "Impreuna" Agency for Community Development, a Bucharest-based NGO, the Ministry of Labor and the National Employment Agency have not developed mechanisms for communicating with Roma communities, and they have yet to establish a system for cooperation with NGOs. The little cooperation that has taken place to

date occurred around some limited training and retraining programs, which were basically outsourced by the government to Roma groups.

The National Employment Plan, while formally recognizing the existence of the National Strategy on Roma, does not include specific provisions targeting Roma. The National Employment Plan only addresses Roma within the general category of disadvantaged groups. This means Roma are lumped together with recent high school and university graduates, people with disabilities, the elderly, etc. (Government of Romania, National Employment Plan). But the problems that Roma face are specific to their group, and this one-size-fits-all approach may not ensure that resources are allocated to Roma inclusion as part of the Decade initiative. The National Agency for Roma, however, informed the authors of this report that an understanding with the Ministry of Labor exists according to which Roma are placed in first position, as a priority target among the broader category of disadvantaged groups.

The flipside of inclusion policies—a system to redress cases of discrimination—has been slightly more effective. Since 2000, Romania has had an anti-discrimination law in place, and successive packages of amendments have brought the law closer to alignment with EU legislation as of this writing (Weber, Report). But the actual enactment of the law has been crippled: The implementing body, the National Council for Combating Discrimination, was organized slowly, and when it was finally established, it showed a clear lack of determination to deal with discrimination on racial grounds. The mechanism has proven to be a blunt, imperfect instrument for Roma in the area of employment. True, the National Council for Combating Discrimination punished and actively banned the most overt forms of discrimination, such as job advertisements expressly barring Roma from applying. But the council has yet to deal head-on with other widespread types of discrimination in employment, including victimization and harassment, even though one of the organization's earliest actions was to publish and disseminate anti-discrimination guidelines for employers (Holtmaat, Catalysts for Change).

Under these circumstances, it comes as no surprise that the employment sections of the available Romanian draft DAPs are underdeveloped. The drafts list only the broadest objectives for addressing Roma employment needs, and they do not provide for any

specific measures or financing mechanisms to achieve those objectives. Employment is a policy area where Romania is still a long way away from enacting effective programs for Roma inclusion.

#### 2.3 Health

Roma health is an area where the Romanian government has been more actively involved in recent years. For example, the Ministry of Health has a functioning Ministerial Commission for Roma. The commission is chaired by a state secretary within the Ministry of Health who is charged specifically with oversight of Roma policies. The Ministry of Health is also the only ministry to have a specific budget line for Roma allocated in the annual state budget.

The main Roma-related expenditure of the ministry has to do with training and employing health mediators. The institution of the health mediators in Romania was initiated by the NGO Romani CRISS in a pilot project, and then was officially recognized and taken over by the Ministry of Health in 2003.

Since the inception of the program, Roma health mediators have encountered resistance. Health professionals questioned the mediators' qualifications and the very need for their existence. Meanwhile, health-care administrators treated mediators as external to the healthcare system and, consequently, the administrators provided no institutional support, such as offices where health mediators could be found at regular hours, or other logistical assistance Party (Network Public Health Program, *Mediating Romani Health*). In recent years, NGOs such as Romani CRISS have also expressed concern that new mediators could only be included in the program if they had formal or informal affiliation with a specific political organization, the Social-Democrat Roma.

Nevertheless, health mediators have gradually been accepted as a necessary part of the healthcare system, and their numbers are set to increase over the coming years. Official figures set the number of mediators in 2005 at 176, far below the recommended minimum of 600 mediators, which is estimated as the lowest amount needed for adequate nationwide coverage (National Agency for Roma, *Progress Report*).

National campaigns against tuberculosis, funded by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, have reached some Roma communities. In recent years, the Ministry of Health's vaccination drives that have included Roma communities have usually been organized in cooperation with the National Agency for Roma. NGO-led harm reduction programs, such as the ones run by the Romanian Association Against AIDS (known by its Romanian acronym, ARAS) have also included Roma communities.

The draft DAPs make reference to extending the network of health mediators and to developing preventive care and health education programs in Roma communities. They also include a series of incentives for medical personnel working in largely Roma areas, as well as a set of sensitivity training and anti-discrimination measures aimed at ensuring equal access to quality healthcare for Roma. But in the absence of specific measures, timelines, indicators or budget allocations, it is not possible to assess whether the broad goals set by the draft DAPs comprehensively and adequately address the health issues of Roma communities throughout Romania.

#### 2.4 Housing

As part of the National Strategy on Roma, a number of measures to directly improve the living conditions of Roma have been developed at the central government level. The Ministry of Transportation, Constructions, and Tourism (hereinafter, the Ministry of Tourism) created a four-year emergency-measures plan to rehabilitate houses and areas inhabited by a significant number of Roma. The ministry also developed a program for building social housing and a funding system for partnership between private or public companies and NGOs that intend to improve access to public utilities in locations with large numbers of Roma (Ministry of Tourism, Housing and Environment Plans). The ministry boasts some measurable achievements under these programs: Between 2003 and 2005, some 10,017 housing units were delivered, and water supply systems were built in 42 villages. The Ministry of Administration and Internal Affairs also states that about 95,620 Roma families who do not own agricultural land have been identified in rural areas (National Agency for Roma,

*Progress Report).* Former Prime-Minister Adrian Nastase announced that agricultural land will be distributed to Roma during the 2004 election year, but no concrete measure followed this promise.

The two draft DAPs appear to reflect these existing policies. Furthermore, the draft DAP presented in the 2006 study proposes a series of additional legislative measures aimed at regulating property rights and rental agreements, settling issues relating to unregistered settlements, and commissioning a variety of studies on urban planning, the typology of Roma housing, etc. In the absence of specific measures, timelines, indicators or budget allocations, it is not possible to assess whether these different programs and studies amount to a coherent, adequate policy on Roma housing on a national level. At least these programs and documents, produced by the government, do indicate recognition of housing rights for Roma as a legitimate policy area at the central level.

However, the good intentions expressed by the national government are often at odds with the actions of local authorities. Independent monitoring by domestic and international NGOs has revealed a pattern of housing rights violations that further deepen the segregation and marginalization of Roma in both urban and rural areas. In recent years, cases in which local authorities forcibly evicted Roma from their homes and relocated them into extremely inadequate housing—if the authorities provided alternate accommodation at all—have been widely publicized in the press. Houses in unregistered settlements are routinely demolished. Roma families in urban areas are frequently evicted from their homes in the center of town and relocated to the outskirts, where their circumstances are often appalling. For example, Roma have been moved to former state farm stables, the edges of city garbage dumps, or in the proximity of water treatment plants. Despite the strong outcry of civil society groups, and the media attention given to many of these cases, central authorities have made no effort to stop, reverse or correct the actions of local authorities, and the pattern is set to continue in the coming years. It is not clear whether the Romanian DAP, when it is finally adopted, will include any measures to address this serious ongoing housing rights problem.

## Serbia

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Decade Action Plan Drafting

The process of drafting the Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP) in Serbia was led by the Federal Ministry of Human and Minority Rights, in cooperation with the Open Society Institute, during 2004 and the beginning of 2005. Action plans for the four focus areas of the Decade of Roma Inclusion were drafted, as were plans for implementing additional goals included in the National Strategy for the Integration and Empowerment of Roma (hereinafter, National Strategy). These implementation plans particularly addressed the issues of social welfare, culture, the media, and internally displaced persons and returnees.

The working groups dedicated to each focus area consisted of representatives of the following: relevant state ministries; the National Council of the Roma National Minority (hereinafter, the National Council of Roma); leaders of nongovernmental organizations; members of the delegation of young Roma leaders who participated in the launch of the Decade process; international and inter-governmental institutions and agencies, such as UNICEF, the World Bank, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE), the Open Society Institute, UNHCR, the International Organization for Migration, etc.; and independent domestic experts.

The draft plans on education, employment, housing and healthcare were adopted by the government

on January 27, 2005. To this date, the government and individual ministries did not adopt any priority action plans based on the DAP, even though the OSCE financed an effort to develop such plans, with an estimate of costs, in the summer of 2005.

Since the adoption of the national DAP, several municipalities, acting partly with the support of the European Commission and other donors, such as UNICEF, have adopted their own Roma inclusion plans, based on the goals set out under the Decade. The number of these local action plans is expected to go up in the next few years, even in the absence of a central coordination and support mechanism for such activities. Also on the local level, the OSCE and the European Agency for Reconstruction and Development provided financial support for a project that engaged 20 Roma coordinators, who are to assist with the design and implementation of Decade action plans in 20 municipalities. In addition, similar activities were undertaken without OSCE financing, for example in Valjevo and Pirot.

#### 1.2 Decade Action Plan Content

Much of the Serbian DAP is based on the 2002 Strategy for Integration and Empowerment of Roma, which was developed by the Ministry of Minority and Human Rights through a consultative process. The strategy itself was never adopted at the federal level, but its development helped set directions and priorities for Roma integration. The process of developing a

strategy also led to the establishment of a Secretariat for Roma, which was set up in 2003, with the support of the OSCE. This Secretariat played an important role in the development of the DAP, as well as in the day-to-day coordination of Decade-related activities.

The Serbian DAP takes a comprehensive and detailed approach to the problems that Roma are confronted with, and it covers most areas where action is needed. However, cross-cutting priorities, such as gender equality and non-discrimination, are not adequately incorporated in the DAP. Meanwhile, targets and indicators are not clear. Indicators are at best set in absolute terms, rather than in relation to the corresponding situation among non-Roma. Sometimes the activity itself is presented as an indicator, which confuses attempts at monitoring. One other problem is that, in the absence of reliable statistical baselines, monitoring progress on targets is virtually impossible.

The DAP does not name the specific institutions that are responsible for implementation. The only responsibilities that the DAP does attribute explicitly have to do with monitoring—and the enforcement mechanisms for those tasks are unclear, especially when it comes to making sure that international organizations are monitoring the Decade process.

The phasing in of various activities is fairly clear in the Serbian DAP, especially in the housing section. However, what is less clear is how these activities will be funded: While the DAP lists what appear to be rough estimates for costs of various activities under the Decade, it fails to clarify sources and allocation mechanisms.

#### 1.3 Decade Coordination and Implementation

The first Serbian Decade coordinator appointed was Federal Deputy Minister of Human and Minority Rights Jelena Markovic. Anchoring the Decade coordination for the Republic of Serbia in the federal ministry, and not in an agency within the Serbian Republican Government, was a curious solution. The Federal Ministry's links to the Serbian Republican ministries in charge of education, employment, health and housing appeared weak, because they belonged to constitutionally separate spheres. In June 2006, after

Serbia and Montenegro separated into two countries, the Ministry of Human and Minority Rights ceased to exist. Most of the responsibilities of the former Ministry of Human and Minority Rights were transferred to a newly-formed Agency for Human and Minority Rights, including, according to Agency staff, the responsibility for Decade coordination.

Implementation of Roma-related policies, including the Decade, currently falls under the authority of the Secretariat for Roma within the Agency for Human and Minority Rights. The Secretariat was set up as part of an OSCE project, funded by the European Agency for Reconstruction and Development, that sought to assist with the implementation of the National Strategy. The coordinator of the Roma Decade League was appointed as deputy head of the newly established structure. Some of the Secretariat's four employees, including the head of the Secretariat, are themselves Roma, and this indicates an openness toward including Roma in government structures. But this positive sign of openness is overshadowed by the fact that the Secretariat itself has no authority or autonomy within government structures, and its status beyond the terms of the OSCE project has not been clarified. Another reason for concern is that no additional funding—and, more specifically, no funding under the Decade—has been allocated to the Secretariat, beyond the grant from the European Agency for Reconstruction.

Until the creation of the Agency, there appears to have been little coordination on Decade implementation between the various responsible line ministries, but government officials have indicated that an interministerial group on the Decade is supposed to be set up in the near future, and that the Secretariat for Roma is in the process of developing a system for meeting with relevant line ministries once every three months. After what appeared to be a long period of inaction, on the initiative of the Secretariat working groups on the implementation of the DAP were set up in four ministries. Thus, by the end of 2006, working groups, which included the deputy head of the Secretariat for Roma and Roma NGO representatives, had been set up in the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor), the Ministry of Health, and the Ministry for Capital Investment. As of this writing, it is too early to assess the effectiveness of these working groups.

There is no official monitoring mechanism for activities under the Decade as of this writing. Authorities have indicated that such a mechanism would be established within the Secretariat for Roma, and in April 2007, the Secretariat for Roma initiated a process financed by the European Agency for Reconstruction and implemented by the OSCE Mission—that is also aimed at "monitoring." But, as of this writing, there is no clear timeline for developing this monitoring mechanism. In this situation, there is no official report against which to compare the findings of this report, and the Roma Decade League appears to be the only public source of information on Decade activities (Minority Rights Center, Yearly Report). The National Council of Roma, a representative political structure that has offices in 10 towns in Serbia and is supposed to represent the interests of Roma, has yet to become a partner in Decade implementation and monitoring. The mandate of the current body has expired, and no elections have been held as of this writing.

Another obstacle in the implementation of the DAP has been the absence of adequate funding. No specific funding for the Decade has been included in the state budgets. Moreover, as will be reported in the subsequent sections, many of the Decade activities in Serbia were in fact introduced and financed by external donors and partners, and not the government. Ministries were supposed to allocate funds for the Decade from the approved budgets, but there is no mechanism to ensure enforcement of such reallocation requests. At best, funding for specific short-term projects was obtained under the Decade, but there is no commitment to long-term systemic changes. Representatives of ministries interviewed for this report indicated that the following budget allocations have been made under the Decade: Ministry of Health, EUR 700,000; Ministry of Labor, EUR 400,000; Ministry of Education and Sports (hereinafter, the Ministry of Education), no specific figure is cited, but it appears that significant funding has been allocated to Roma programs; Ministry of Capital Investments, no budget allocations appear to have been made.

#### FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

There is no regularly collected and nationally representative data about enrolment and educational attainment among Roma. Nonetheless, individual surveys provide snapshots on the challenges the Serbian authorities face in bridging the gaps in educational outcomes for Roma. Roma children in Serbia have significantly lower levels of education than the majority population, and they encounter discrimination in all areas of the school system. Preschool education became compulsory only in the fall of 2006. Before that, preschools indirectly discriminated against Roma by giving enrolment priority to children of parents in full-time employment. Consequently, a 2003 study published by the Roma Children's Center (Rakovic and Miljevic, Roma and Education) revealed that less than 7 percent of Roma children attended preschool, as opposed to 27 percent of non-Roma children.

Alarmingly, many Roma children do not go to school: Data from the Serbia Survey of Living Standards (hereinafter, SLS) from 2003 reveals that 35 percent of Roma children (ages 7-20) are not enroled in school at all, compared to a rate of 2 percent for non-Roma (Bodewig and Sethi, Poverty). The survey furthermore shows that, in 2003, while the net enrolment rate for primary schooling among non-Roma was 98.5 percent, for Roma it was 72.2 percent. There are similar differences for secondary education, with the secondary school net enrolment rate for Roma at 16.7 percent, compared to 64.2 percent for non-Roma. Serbian administrative data from the Ministry of Education confirms high Roma student drop-out rates between the first and eighth grades of elementary school (Mihajlovic, Needs Assessment).

Many Roma children are never enroled in school. One obstacle, found in almost 50 percent of the cases researched by the Minority Rights Center and Argument (Minority Rights Center and Argument, *Roma and the Right to Legal Subjectivity*), is that Roma families cannot afford school-related expenses, such as clothing or supplies. Another obstacle is that some Roma children do not have the necessary documents to register, such as birth records, official registration of residence or medi-

cal certificates, which have to be obtained for a fee. The absence of such documentation was recorded in 20 percent of the cases researched by the Minority Rights Center and Argument. Internally displaced Roma, as well as refugees and returnees, are at a particular disadvantage, because they often lack the necessary documents to access the school system. Moreover, a systemic gap in the education system prevents unenroled children older than 8½ from registering in school until they reach the age of 16, when they become eligible for adult education. Consequently, according to the Minority Rights Center and Argument, 62 percent of all Roma have not completed their primary education, and only 9.6 percent continued beyond primary school. The National Roma Council reports that, between 2003 and 2005, only 240 Roma enroled in high school education, and 180 of these followed through to higher education, where their tuition is covered by the state (EUMAP, Equal Access).

Segregation into special schools affects large numbers of Roma students in Serbia. While official figures on this phenomenon are not available, unofficial estimates of Roma students included in special schools range between 50 and 80 percent of the total Roma population in school, and as high as 80-85 percent of the total in Belgrade (Mihajlovic, Needs Assessment). Administrators often justify streaming Roma students to special schools by saying that Roma children do not have a sufficient command of Serbian to enter mainstream education. Inadequate procedures for assessment and evaluation of school-readiness also contribute to this situation. And provisions for families whose children attend special schools, such as free meals and textbooks and small social care subsidies, may also increase the number of Roma in special schools. Once in special schools, Roma children study a reduced curriculum and fall even further behind their non-Roma peers. Transfers from special schools to mainstream schools are virtually unheard of. Even in mainstream schools, Roma are often segregated into separate classes or separate sections within regular classrooms, often at the back of the class (Minority Rights Center). Neither the education system as a whole, nor individual teachers are prepared to support inclusive education or to foster the kind of multicultural environment that would be more conducive to school success for Roma.

There has been little indication thus far that the government is willing to invest in long-term policies aimed at improving the educational status of Roma. There have only been some shorter-term projects, initiated in cooperation with civil society organizations and funded by outside donors.

The Ministry of Education is involved in two areas of policy: promoting enrolment and opposing segregation. Together with the National Roma Council, the ministry has been providing free textbooks for Roma children in primary education and promoting affirmative action in supporting enrolment of Roma in secondary and tertiary education. About 2,500 Roma children have received the textbook support, to the tune of RSD 30 million (approximately EUR 400,000). The ministry also sent schools instructions that highlight the negative impacts of segregated classes and provide guidance on how to avoid them (Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education*).

Most activities, however, are launched and funded by external sources, such as the Roma Education Fund or the European Agency for Reconstruction and Development. These activities are supposed to be implemented in cooperation with the National Council for Roma, NGOs and local authorities. For instance, the Roma Education Fund supported a preschool project ("Expanding Access to Preschool Education for Roma Children") initiated during the 2005-2006 school year. The project provided grants to 24 educational institutions in 24 municipalities and allowed 600 Roma children, aged 5-8, to attend preschool programs. Initial evaluations show encouraging results in terms of school-readiness and school performance, but independent observers have noted that the number of children included in the project by local implementers is much lower than expected. The experience with the pilot is being taken into consideration in a follow-up Roma Education Fund project targeting 1,400 children in 42 municipalities.

Similarly, the Roma Education Fund supported three other pilot projects in cooperation with the Ministry of Education: (i) development of a second-chance education program for Roma who have not completed compulsory primary education; (ii) design of a needs-assessment methodology and of a regional strategy for improving the educational status of Roma in Vojvodina; and (iii) Minority Rights Center training in anti-discrimination issues for regional inspectors

and human rights monitors (Roma Education Fund). Another program, which seeks to pilot the introduction of Roma teaching assistants in Serbian schools and preschools, has been funded beginning with 2006 by the European Agency for Reconstruction. Through this project, implemented in cooperation with the OSCE, the Ministry of Education declared for this report that it expected 20 teaching assistants to begin working during the second term of the 2006-2007 school year. Another 54 assistants were expected to begin training around the same time.

Other programs are run entirely by NGOs and international donors. Such efforts include the provision of preschool education in 30 settlements, through a program of the International Red Cross, and an inclusive education project run by Save the Children UK.

#### 2.2 Employment

As with education, when it comes to employment outcomes for Roma, there is no regularly collected, nationally representative data. Again, individual independent surveys provide snapshots: SLS data shows that almost 32 percent of Roma living in settlements were unemployed in 2003, while the unemployment rate among non-Roma is 15 percent (Bodewig and Sethi). Though significantly fewer Roma in older age cohorts participate in the labor market, labor force participation and employment rates among young Roma, aged 15-24, are higher than for the general population. This situation likely reflects comparatively low school enrolment for Roma children and youths, who are often engaged in various income-generating activity rather than attending class. The 2003 SLS data reveals a strong gender disparity in employment. While the Roma male employment rate is only slightly below that of non-Roma (66.8 percent compared to 69.9 percent), the female Roma employment rate of 34.5 percent is significantly lower than the rate of 54 percent for non-Roma.

There are many reasons for these discrepancies: For one thing, lower levels of education among Roma lead to higher rates of long-term unemployment and push Roma into low-qualification, temporary employment, often in the so-called gray economy. Meanwhile, Roma experience both indirect and direct discrimination in the employment sector. For instance, Roma who live in

informal settlements, and consequently do not have an officially registered residence, cannot register with the National Employment Service, so they cannot access the services and programs available to the unemployed. According to research conducted by Argument and the Minority Rights Center, 35.5 percent of Roma in Belgrade are not registered at all on the labor market (Minority Rights Center and Argument). The Ministry of Labor reports that a new law regulating the registration of unemployed persons, which should remedy this situation, is currently being drafted in Serbia. Along with this indirect discrimination, Roma overwhelmingly report direct discrimination by employers, particularly in the private sector (Jaksic and Basic, The Art of Survival). No programs to combat discrimination in employment have been launched by the Serbian government. In the absence of a comprehensive anti-discrimination law in this area, the international instruments to which Serbia is a part and the declarative protections in the Constitution do not offer effective defense for victims of discrimination. The Serbian DAP provides for the adoption of such legislation, but no progress in developing it can be reported to date.

The Law on Employment and Insurance in the Case of Unemployment, adopted in 2003, introduced affirmative action measures for certain categories suffering from a higher risk of unemployment, including minorities, though Roma are not specifically mentioned. The DAP commits the government to make use of these affirmative action provisions. Initial anecdotal evidence suggests that this is the case for participation in employment and training programs. In addition, Roma are explicitly targeted by policy documents, such as the National Employment Strategy for 2005–2010, the National Action Plan for Employment (2006–2008), the Work Plan for the National Employment Service, and the schedule of funds use and transfer for the purposes of active employment support.

In line with DAP commitments, affirmative action measures are being implemented in a self-employment program developed by the Ministry of Labor. The program gives additional points to Roma applicants, but the beneficiary numbers remain very low. The Ministry of Labor distributed the announcement of this program to Roma NGOs in the course of 2006, and, as of December 2006, 224 out of 7,864 applicants for the program reported by the National Employment

Service were Roma (Minority Rights Center). Only 20 self-employment agreements were signed by Roma as a result of this program (Minority Rights Center).

Other attempts to stimulate Roma employment by the Ministry of Labor include public works for improving the infrastructure of Roma settlements. The first major program of this kind was announced in August 2006, but Roma organizations complained that poor communication with the ministry prevented them from reacting to the program announcement in a timely manner. Funds for a similar program are allocated in the state budget for 2007, and it is hoped that the initial communication problems will not recur.

Subsidies for stimulating employment among national minorities are provided for in the 2003 Law on Employment and Insurance in Case of Unemployment, but no data is available as to how this provision has affected Roma—if at all. Similarly, microenterprise loans are available through the National Employment Service, but they cannot be accessed by most Roma because they require real estate as a collateral guarantee.

#### 2.3 Health

There are a number of studies and surveys on Roma health status and access to healthcare (Bodewig and Sethi; Oxfam, Health Status), but there is no systematic and regular data gathering by the authorities. Overall, the reports reveal that the health situation of Roma is significantly bleak as compared to the general population. For one thing, Roma life expectancy is lower: According to independent estimates, less than one percent of Roma live past the age of 60, as compared to 30 percent of the general population. Infant and maternal mortality are high, and Roma women can expect to have more than 13 abortions on average over their lifetime. Roma children fall ill three to 10 times more often than their non-Roma peers. Health determinants that underlie such outcomes include poor living conditions, lack of health education, lack of family planning and lack of basic medical attention.

Household survey data on health have to be treated with caution, because they reflect self-reported health status only. If only a minority of Roma visit the doctor for regular medical check-ups, such self-reporting may

underestimate the true incidence of health problems. Still, the 2003 Serbia SLS provides some telling information on reported health status among Roma in comparison with non-Roma: 17.4 percent of Roma aged 25-44 reported chronic illnesses, compared to a mere 6.8 percent among the non-Roma. Moreover, half of the Roma aged 40-55 report chronic illnesses compared to 25.9 percent of non-Roma. Although significantly more Roma report chronic illnesses in the survey, except for Roma above 70 years of age, significantly fewer of them actually receive healthcare. Similarly, while more Roma suffered from an acute illness than non-Roma survey respondents, fewer Roma actually utilized health services (Bodewig and Sethi).

A survey of Roma settlements (Oxfam) shows that Roma children often go without immunization: For example, 9 percent of children in surveyed households were never vaccinated while the vaccination status was unknown for 27 percent. Moreover, 68 percent of Roma women reported having visited a gynecologist for child birth, but 80 percent did not go for regular check-ups. In the case of sickness or injury, Roma visit primary care physicians 62 percent of the time, while in 14 percent of the cases Roma treat themselves, and in the majority of the other cases, some serious health conditions were not treated when diagnosed. A total of 80 percent of respondents said they visit a dentist only for tooth extraction.

Under-utilization of the health system can be explained by under-reporting of illnesses and failure to seek health services or to receive them when requested. Access to health services is constrained by systemic barriers, such as non-registration, lack of information or language skills. Moreover, Roma often report that healthcare practitioners discriminate against them—letting them wait until all non-Roma have been treated, or dismissing them after only a cursory look and a rebuke that suggests that Roma bring their own health problems on themselves (Antic, *Roma and the Right to Health Care*).

Since the launch of the Decade, the Serbian Ministry of Health has taken a proactive role in implementing the health goals of the DAP, openly cooperating with civil society and local authorities in order to facilitate proper implementation. Consequently, optimism about the health goals of the DAP runs high, and the budget allotted to 2007 Roma-related activi-

ties of the Ministry of Health has doubled as compared to 2006. The Ministry of Health has allocated EUR 700,000 for health programs focusing on health education, reproductive health, and women's health activities, to be implemented in cooperation with NGOs in about 45 municipalities in Serbia.

Some of the goals set by the DAP have not been achieved within the planned period of time. This is the case with a survey of the health situation of Roma that was supposed to have been completed by the end of 2005. If completed, the survey would have provided an invaluable baseline against which the government could design further policies and measure progress.

Serbia does not have a health-mediator system. Health mediators are mentioned in the DAP, but no actions toward setting up a system of health mediators has been taken to date.

#### 2.4 Housing

There is no official, regularly collected and nationally representative data on the housing situation of Roma in Serbia. However, there are individual surveys that describe the current picture. For example, according to a study published by the Institute of Philosophy and Social Theory in 2005 (Jaksic and Basic), there are 593 Roma settlements, fairly evenly distributed between cities and more rural areas. Of these, 72 percent are not properly legalized. More than half of all Roma settlements do not have basic infrastructure, such as asphalt roads, water supplies or sewage systems. Thirty-five percent of these settlements do not have electricity, and most are more than one kilometer away from public services like clinics, schools or stores. Displaced Roma from Kosovo and southern Serbia, and the more than 10,000 returning unsuccessful asylum seekers, have made this situation even more acute in recent years, particularly in the more developed cities toward which these people gravitated. For instance, a study conducted by the NGO YUROM in Nis revealed that housing conditions for Roma in that city are detrimental to the Roma residents' health (Minority Rights Center). Fortunately, the local government there reacted swiftly to the news and allocated funds to build a sewage system and other infrastructure elements needed in Roma neighborhoods.

Unfortunately, not all relevant authorities in Serbia are as quick to react to the housing situation of Roma. Indeed, Roma housing is listed in a number of policy documents, such as the Poverty Reduction Strategy, and the draft National Strategy for Integration and Empowerment of Roma. However, there is no national policy with concrete measures and financing attached, and any action has been limited to individual municipalities taking the initiative. Moreover, in the absence of clear coordination and implementation mechanisms, too few of the measures listed in the above-mentioned policy documents have been enacted on a local level.

Similarly, housing laws have been slow to show effects on the ground, especially where Roma are concerned. A 2003 Law on Planning and Construction was supposed to re-launch the process of legalizing unregistered settlements, but implementation was stalled, partly because the process of land reform and land registration in Serbia is not yet completed, partly because local authorities still impose unrealistic conditions for including Roma houses in urban plans, and partly because the potential beneficiaries of the law were not properly informed about its existence.

A draft law on social housing has been in the making since 2004, but, as of late 2006, there was no specific timeline for its adoption by the government, much less for its submission to the parliament. This legal gap, however, has not prevented some local authorities from developing social housing projects in locations where enough political will and support could be found. That is why, for instance, 1,200 social housing apartments, which are also open for distribution to Roma families upon completion, were being built in Belgrade as of this writing.

One other important housing issue is forced evictions of Roma. These are still reported on a fairly regular basis. According to current legal provisions, evictions can be carried out based solely on municipal orders, without a court decision. Appeals can be filed only through administrative procedures, and they have no impact on the actual carrying out of evictions. Roma evicted in this way are not provided with alternative accommodation.

Outside of funding allocated for public works to improve conditions in Roma settlements, the Ministry of Capital Investments did not allocate any funds for DAP implementation in 2006. The outcomes of the

public works project announced in August 2006 are not known as of this writing. Meanwhile some movement has finally been recorded, with the establishment of the working group for Decade implementation in the Ministry of Capital Investments, which also set priori-

ties for 2007. For example, the Ministry adopted the "Guiding Principles for the Legalization of Roma Settlements," an operational guide for local self-governments. According to the Roma Secretariat, there is also funding for 2007 activities allocated from the state budget.

## Slovakia

#### 1. INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

#### 1.1 Drafting of the DAP

The Slovak Decade Action Plan (hereinafter, DAP) was finalized during a two-day thematic workshop in which a number of Roma representatives participated with government representatives from most of the relevant ministries. The prevailing feeling among Roma leaders in Slovakia, however, is that the government has done too little to inform Roma about the Decade of Roma Inclusion during the preparatory phase. According to these leaders, the government seems to assume that Roma activists will come into play primarily as monitors, rather than co-designers, of government inputs into the Decade.

Most information about the preparatory phases of the Decade was spread through Roma participants to the thematic workshop and through unofficial channels such as the Roma Press Agency and the newspaper *Romano nevo lil*. The Open Society Foundation in Bratislava facilitated the participation of Roma leaders in the DAP drafting process by assisting with communications among the members of the Roma forum. This ensured that they had considerable input into the development of the DAP within each sectoral working groups which held several meetings through mid-2004. The conclusions of the working groups were forwarded to the government's Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities, which is one of the official drafters of the DAP.

#### 1.2 DAP Content

The adopted DAP, which is available online, contains two sections: A narrative section gives an overview of goals and measures included in the framework of the Decade, and a section with a matrix-style table has headings for goals, tools or measures, indicators, data, deadlines and financing. The table lists which ministries are responsible for monitoring progress on particular objectives. The DAP was adopted through a government resolution which also tasks the Deputy Prime Minister for European Integration, Human Rights and Minorities, together with the Minister of Education, the Minister of Labor, Social Affairs and Family, the Minister of Health, and the Minister of Constructions and Regional Development to coordinate and monitor the implementation of the action plan.

The Slovak DAP, however, does not explain coordination mechanisms and the roles that various state agencies are called to play in relation to each other in implementing the goals listed under the Decade. Moreover, specific deadlines are missing; thus, 2015, the end of the Decade, is listed as the deadline for most of the listed actions, making it difficult to trace the way in which various actions are phased in relation to each other and to monitor DAP implementation on an ongoing basis.

Most of the indicators are formulated in absolute terms, rather than in relation to the situation of non-Roma, with the one exception being the indicator relating to vaccination rates. Moreover, the relationship between government inputs and indicators is sometimes

tenuous. This is the case with indicators relating to the age of mothers at first birth and the age of youngsters beginning their sex life, which are supposed to measure improvements in the "sexual health" of Roma.

Funding is also an area that is often problematic in the DAP, as the allocation mechanisms, and often the available financing, are not made explicit in the official document. The education section leaves the funding column for all line items blank, explaining financial costs in a separate commentary under the table, which mentions only a contribution from the Roma Education Fund. In the employment section, the share of the state budget that would actually reach Roma is not clarified, as it only lists overall figures intended for broader categories, such as disadvantaged groups.

Finally, the text of the Slovak DAP exhibits many of the negative reflexes of recent Slovak policies for Roma: It includes problematic formulations such as "native predispositions" in relation to the health situation of Roma. It explicitly links Roma culture to poor housing conditions when citing the "cultural level" of Roma as a presumed reason for their lack of adequate housing and as a justification for building housing for Roma to a "lower standard." It similarly links the provision of public utilities, such as running water, sewage and sanitation, to "improving social and cultural conditions" in settlements. It talks about "low motivation" as a reason for unemployment and suggests that "working habits" need to be changed. And it sets low expectations for Roma students by not even considering higher education as a potential area of government action for Roma inclusion.

Slovakia has not adopted priority action plans, but there are internal short-term strategies that guide the work of individual line ministries in the four focus areas of the Decade, and ministries write annual reports on progress under the Decade. Moreover, the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities is working on the regional level for the adoption of regional polices to implement Decade goals. Still, the Slovak public is not adequately informed about the Decade, and confusion still reigns about the relationship between the DAP and various other governmental programs and strategies.

### 1.3 Decade coordination and Implementation

Pal Csaky, deputy prime minister for European integration, human rights and minorities, was appointed by the prime minister as Decade coordinator. In turn, Deputy Prime-Minister Csaky appointed Klara Orgovanova, head of the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities of the Slovak Republic, to be a member of the Steering Committee of the Decade.

In 1995, in the wake of racially motivated violence, the government created the office of the Plenipotentiary for Citizens Requiring Special Care. At the same time, a Secretariat of the Plenipotentiary was also created within the Ministry of Labor, Social Affairs and Family. After a series of changes in the structure and leadership of the office, in 2001 Klara Orgovanova was appointed Plenipotentiary of for Roma Communities. The Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities has five regional branch offices. Since 2001, the office has developed and coordinated the implementation of governmental strategies for Roma, and has evaluated the effectiveness of these policies, advocating for course corrections as necessary. In recent years, tensions appeared between the office of the Plenipotentiary and the cabinet itself, so that the Plenipotentiary's influence over government decisions and policies appears to have significantly decreased in practice.

Most of the day-to-day work relating to the Decade is done by the office of the Plenipotentiary. The office has a rather large staff, primarily due to that fact that it has several regional branches in addition to a small core staff in Bratislava. The office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities also has coordinating, though not managerial, functions for the activities of the relevant line ministries engaged under the Decade: the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Labor, Social Affairs, and Family (hereinafter, the Ministry of Labor), the Ministry of Constructions and Regional Development, and the Ministry of Health. This coordination is done on two levels: On the one hand, specialists in the office of the Plenipotentiary liaise with relevant employees in line ministries responsible for specific focus areas under the Decade framework. On the other hand, the Plenipotentiary has initiated an inter-ministerial commission on the affairs of Roma communities, giving that commission the task of advising the government on specific policies.

#### FOCUS AREAS

#### 2.1 Education

No regularly updated and nationally compiled representative data on Roma education in Slovakia is available. The Slovak government's Institute of Information and Prognoses for Education collects some enrolment data, but the methodology for gathering the data appears inconsistent, which makes the resulting information unreliable as a baseline. Most of the information on the educational situation of Roma, therefore, comes from independent but non-representative human rights reports, which paint a rather bleak picture.

Roma in Slovakia are frequently segregated into special schools, so much so that many special schools appear to be attended exclusively by Roma. Diagnostic and assessment procedures that test school readiness and intellectual abilities are flawed at best. Families and students report that evaluation tests are complicated, demanding, lengthy and culturally biased, which partly accounts for the massive overrepresentation of Roma among students directed toward special schools. Other factors may also play a role, including anti-Roma bias, from those charged with conducting the tests, from school administrators and from teaching staff. Special schools offer substandard education in often substandard conditions, and they make it virtually impossible for their graduates to move on to regular secondary schools. Additionally, schools close to larger Roma settlements tend to be all-Roma. As a consequence, generations of young Roma grow up in isolation from their non-Roma peers, a situation that can only contribute to perpetuating the high levels of racial animosity in Slovakia (Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education; European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata; EUMAP, Rights of People).

The Slovak government has shown itself more willing to deal with segregation in recent years, and it has initiated the implementation of a series of measures aimed at promoting integration. Thus, the Slovak government has taken a number of measures aimed at reducing the number of children from disadvantaged backgrounds, including Roma, placed in special schools, most notably by redesigning and testing new diagnostic and assessment methodologies. Thus, according to information

provided by the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities for the purposes of this report, the Child Psychology and Pathopsychology Research Institute prepared new psychodiagnostic methodologies as part of the 2001 PHARE project "Reintegration of Socially Disadvantaged Children from Special Schools into Standard Elementary Schools." The new methodologies were distributed by the Ministry of Education and tested in pedagogical and pshychological counselling centers, where an initial evaluation showed that they are positively received.

The Slovak government has also developed some programs aimed at increasing school attendance among Roma. For example: social assistance for families with children is tied to attendance of compulsory primary education institutions; subsidies for school supplies and school lunches are offered; and a one-year drop-out reduction pilot program was implemented until May 2006.

Another important measure was the development of so-called "zero classes," which typically consist of a preparatory preschool program affiliated with an elementary school. This measure should help increase the school readiness of Roma children. However, since per-capita funding was introduced in the Slovak school system, many such preschool programs had to be closed down, because they lacked sufficient funds to continue their activity. As a result, many children who suddenly had to commute farther to attend such "zero classes" did not actually do so. To remedy this situation, preschool programs were organized in some Roma communities—but such efforts reportedly often suffered from the usual problems associated with segregated education: poor quality education and teaching conditions, as well as low expectations and low motivation for teachers and students alike. According to the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities, a recent study by the Institute of Information and Prognoses of Education has shown that the number of pupils who attend the zero classes at state and private elementary schools and the schools with zero classes has increased tremendoulsy between 2001 and 2006.

Slovakia also adopted the "Teacher's Assistants model," which was implemented in preschools, primary schools and special schools. According to information provided by the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities for the purposes of this report, at pres-

ent there are approximately 1,000 such teacher's assistants in the Slovak Republic. In practice, however, these teacher's assistants are typically hired on short-term, one-year contracts, which may affect their motivation. Moreover, teacher's assistants are selected individually by school directors, which in practice means that they are often chosen on the basis of their relationship with school administrators, not on the basis of their relationship with Roma parents and students (European Roma Rights Centre, *Stigmata*; Roma Education Fund).

Other measures that could impact Roma education include: the development of vocational education and second-chance programs for students who did not complete primary education; the provision of higher education scholarships, through the office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities with the administrative support of the Open Society Foundation—Bratislava; and the provision of minority language and cultural education, such as the Roma studies program in a bilingual (Slovak-English) grammar school in Bratislava, a private grammar school in Kosice and the "Ghandi" grammar school in Zvolen for gifted and talented students from the Roma minority.

Many of these areas of action, however, are not included in the education section of the Slovak DAP, which merely skims over the surface of needed education reforms without providing the necessary detail for effective action. Objectives and targets are listed in general terms. For example, an objective such as "to improve the education-related achievements of Roma population" has as its only goal that "all Roma boys and girls pass elementary school." The DAP often does not give any indication as to the manner in which these general goals are supposed to come about, and it does not mention the complexity of the issue and the need for an integrated approach.

#### 2.2 Employment

A study by the World Bank published in 2005 estimates that the overall unemployment rate among Roma in 2004 was 78.9 percent (World Bank, *Quest for Equitable Growth*), but many of the larger settlements have 100 percent unemployment rates.

Mainstream governmental employment policies have not, for the most part, addressed the situation of Roma directly. Instead, they have focused on the broader category of vulnerable groups, which includes people with disabilities, the elderly, recent school leavers younger under 25 years of age, parents taking care of three or more children, and long-term unemployed persons. The real effect of such broad policies on Roma has not been tracked due to a lack disaggregated data collected by ethnicity in Slovakia. The Social Development Fund, a state-funded grant-making agency, estimates that about one-third of its funding has gone to programs targeting Roma, but it is not clear whether this estimate measures funding directly reaching Roma or funding reaching broader categories, which also include Roma.

National employment programs developed by the Ministry of Labor have included vocational training, subsidized employment, and public works projects, funded both from the state budget and from the European Social Fund. No information as to the actual number of Roma beneficiaries is available.

Some of the specific smaller programs have explicitly targeted Roma by seeking to employ Roma in particular positions, like community social workers or assistant teachers, but the scope of these programs appears to be very limited. Moreover, some of the larger government employment programs programs funded by the European Social Fund were subcontracted, through public tenders, as smaller projects handled by external organizations. These smaller projects could then be specifically dedicated and tailored to Roma. However, other good models developed in the civil society sector-such as a number of Roma-staffed career counseling centers set up in Eastern Slovakia by the nongovernmental organization People in Need-have not been taken up for replication by government agencies and subcontractors.

Public works have therefore presented by far the biggest opportunity for employment for Roma. But the employment gained in this manner is usually only short-term, so the numbers of the long-term unemployed remain unchanged.

Other measures have also had only limited impact: Some self-employment support programs, are being implemented through, for instance, the First Contact Centers, the Regional Consulting and Information Centers and the Business Innovation Centers (all of them sponsored by the Ministry of Economy). Subsidies

are being offered on a needs basis, and target Roma among other categories of beneficiaries, but the numbers of actual Roma applicants are not tracked. Some programs seeking to revive traditional crafts were also introduced—for instance, a carpet-making enterprise funded by the Equal Community Initiative in Presov. But opportunities for small business development for Roma are limited. Very little microfinancing is available—most of it through the Integra foundation, in partnership with Citibank—and the majority of business loans involve commercial bank credit, for which Roma usually do not qualify. Some not-for-profit business incubators have begun to function as NGO initiatives, but, again, the numbers of their beneficiaries are extremely low.

Meanwhile, measures designed as positive actions have sometimes had adverse effects. For instance, a Ministry of Agriculture grant-making scheme that gives preferential treatment to Roma applicants has actually increased tensions between Roma and non-Roma in certain localities. The impact on Roma beneficiaries otherwise is as yet unknown.

Following much debate and a number of false starts, in 2004, Slovakia passed anti-discrimination legislation, which was intended to harmonize domestic regulations with European Council directives in the field. The adopted legislation largely follows the requirements of the European directives, but it is still mostly unknown to employers, and has yet to be tested. The first court case under this law—a case relating to access to public accommodations for Roma—was only brought in August 2006, and the reporters have no knowledge of any cases filed in the area of employment.

The employment section of the DAP contains little more detail on how the general Slovak policies relating to employment for disadvantaged groups would be applied to Roma. Following a first target, to provide anti-discrimination training to state employees, most other measures listed in the DAP are almost verbatim transcripts of various provisions included in national employment programs developed by the Ministry of Labor. There is no mention of specific mechanisms to ensure that resources actually reach Roma beneficiaries, or that outcomes for Roma are measured.

#### 2.3 Health

Largely because many Roma live in conditions of poor environmental hygiene and in isolated settlements without readily available access to healthcare assistance, the health outcomes of Roma are overall poorer than for the rest of the population. In addition, healthcare providers in Slovakia often discriminate against Roma, and even segregate Roma from the rest of the patient population in healthcare facilities. Emergency services are often reluctant to go to Roma neighborhoods, with sometimes tragic consequences.

Under these circumstances, the measures listed in the health section of the DAP—which comprise an epidemiological study, several information campaigns in Roma communities and the hiring of temporary healthcare assistants—appear woefully inadequate. They appear to identify Roma ignorance on health issues as the most important area of government intervention, and fail to address even in passing the problem of rampant discrimination against Roma in the healthcare system.

All citizens with permanent places of residence in Slovakia have access to healthcare coverage. However, Roma who do not have a registered permanent address (as is the case of Roma living in illegal settlements) or are otherwise lacking identity documents have difficulties accessing the healthcare system. Moreover, until September 2006, doctor's visit fees and other out-of-pocket expenses placed sometimes insurmountable obstacles to accessing healthcare services for the indigent, including Roma. In September 2006, however, the fee system was replaced by a small SKK 60 (approximately EUR 1.7) flat co-payment for first aid clinical services only, and a SKK 5 (EUR 0.1) co-payment for medicine and nutritional supplements.

While some programs aimed at improving health outcomes for a host of vulnerable groups, theoretically including Roma, have been enacted in Slovakia in recent years, they have failed to have any known direct effects on Roma so far. Roma-specific programs have been few and far between, and have dealt mostly with personal and environmental hygiene. Thus, in 2005 the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities adopted a project aimed at providing exterminators for 50 settlements, and the Ministry of Labor is funding the building of personal hygiene and laundry facilities in some Roma communities.

A PHARE project aimed at improving the access to healthcare for selected area with high Roma population in Slovakia was implemented between 2004 and 2006 (Overview). The project included several components. A first component was the training of health field workers who acted as health mediators and assisted with developing preventive education and vaccination programs, as well as with registering Roma without health coverage within the Slovak health insurance system. A second component of the program was the establishment of eight small health centers in areas with limited access to healthcare facilities. Finally, the program provided for mobile health units (sanitary cars) for areas with large Roma populations that are not in close proximity to regular healthcare facilities; this component has yet to be implemented. A similar program, developed by the Public Health Authorities in cooperation with the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities, is expected to be adopted in 2007.

#### 2.4 Housing

The overwhelming majority of Slovak Roma live in substandard conditions, often within informal settlements at the outskirts of towns or in inner-city ghettos. Most such settlements lack basic infrastructure, like roads, or utilities such as sewage or electricity. These settlements are often excluded from other public services and public transportation. Environmental hazards prevail. The settlements are often located in flood zones and waste often seeps into drinking water, and toxic waste abounds (European Roma Rights Centre, Written Comments; Zoon, On the Margins).

In one well-publicized case, in the settlement of Patoracka outside Rudnany, the houses are located right on the grounds of a former mine contaminated with mercury. According to information provided by the office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities for the purposes of this report, the government has sponsored the construction of 58 new flats for 495 inhabitants of this settlement between 2001 and 2006; but there are still about 150 inhabitants living in an area exposed to environmental hazards.

Despite the attempts to resolve this problem, the housing situation of marginalized Roma populations remains alarming. This is due to the extent of the prob-

lem (according to the Ministry of Construction as many as 4,000 new flats are needed to cover the needs of Roma living in improper conditions in settlements), and to the limited leverage that the central government has upon the actions of municipalities with respect to housing.

With a view to obtaining comprehensive data on the living conditions and situation of Roma in individual Slovak municipalities, their needs and the approach of local authorities to addressing Roma problems, the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities designed and financed a sociographic mapping of Roma communities (Institute for Public Affairs, *Sociographic Mapping*). The outcomes of the mapping are used by the relevant ministries in designing policies for Roma communities. Thus, the central government has adopted a number of programs aiming to improve housing conditions for Roma, but their implementation by local authorities has been at best limited and problematic.

For instance, government measures that are supposed to facilitate the renovation of housing have been used to forcibly evict Roma from buildings located in the center of town and relocate them to the outskirts. In one example, through an abusive interpretation of legislation relating to building safety, Roma were almost entirely removed from the center of Presov to a newly built ghetto on the outskirts of the municipality. The apartments formerly inhabited by these Roma were subsequently renovated and turned into high-end residential properties. Given such abuses, and the fact that the Slovak DAP does not associate any funding with the measure relating to housing renovations—"higher housing standards for Roma within the urban agglomerations"—there is reason for concern about the government's commitment to actually enact the measures as designed.

Forced evictions have risen sharply in recent years. They were partly facilitated by 2001 amendments to the Civil Code, which weakened the legal position of tenants in publicly-owned housing. Evictions no longer require a court order; the local authorities' obligation to provide alternative housing has been significantly reduced; and tenants who fall behind on their rent or on their utility payments can be more easily evicted, with no obligation to provide alternative accommodation. Unemployed Roma thus often find themselves thrown into the street—and suspicions linger as to the

existence of an unfair practice of billing Roma tenants excessively for utilities, as a cover for utility company debts or losses (European Roma Rights Centre, *Written Comments*).

Some new housing for Roma was built in recent years. According to information provided by the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities for the purposes of this report, between 2001 and 2006, the Ministry of Construction has funded the construction of 1,793 flats in 68 municipalities. However, there are concerns with respect to the quality and adequacy of these flats. Because of favorable subsidy rates, most of what has been built so far consists of 40-square-meter flats, which are too small for most Roma families. Even worse, the minimum standards—which were inexplicably low to begin with, as indicated by the name of the original government program, "housing to a lower standard"—are constantly lowered. As of this writing, the minimum standards included only indoor running cold water sources, but no bathroom or heating.

Moreover, this program has also been criticized for increasing segregation and creating new Roma ghettos, as far away from the majority population as possible. One of the most egregious examples is provided by the municipality of Letanovce, which moved Roma to a newly built area so far away from the center of town that it borders another nearby town, where the dislocated Roma became de facto, if not de jure, residents (European Roma Rights Centre, *Written Comments*).

Programs for improving the infrastructure for Roma neighborhoods and segregated settlements have

also been implemented. Thus, government officials interviewed for the purposes of this report estimated that between 2000 and 2006, the Slovak government provided subsidies of approximately EUR 5 million for the construction of sewage systems, access roads, etc., in around 100 areas inhabited by Roma. A 2001 PHARE program for improving infrastructure in Roma settlements also provided approximately EUR 16.7 million for similar projects in 29 counties. Some criticsm, however, was raised with respect to the quality of the work done on a local level; in particular, Roma have complained that many public utilities were installed only pro forma, often at the edges of the settlements, which made them difficult to access for many of the intended users.

One other problem with the DAP is that it mentions the legalization of settlements and the clarification of property issues, but it fails to provide any funding for such work. A 2003 regulation also provides for the possibility of property exchanges, and other compensation for land owners. Some movement in this area has been registered—a few settlements have been legalized, mostly at the initiative of the Office of the Plenipotentiary for Roma Communities. The Slovak government tasked the Ministry of Agriculture with developing measures for the legalization of informal settlements. But the Ministry of Agriculture declined to develop a nation-wide policy, as the legalization of informal settlements can only be done on a local level, often only with the involvement of and upon the consent of private landowners.

# Sources

#### **GENERAL**

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html.

Council of Europe, *Housing of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe: Facts and Proposals*, paper prepared by Samuel Delepine (2006), available at: http://www.coe.int/t/dg3/romatravellers/documentation/housing/Housing ofRomaMay2006\_en.asp.

Dzeno Association, *Forced Out: The Problem of Roma Evictions in Europe* (2006), available at http://www.dzeno.cz/docs/Evictions\_Report\_Eng.doc.

Dzeno Association, The Position of Roma in Economy (2005), available at http://www.dzeno.cz/?r\_id=234.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Equal Access to Quality Education for Roma, Volume 1: Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Serbia* (2007), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/roma\_education/report/vol1.pdf.

European Commission, *The Situation of Roma in an Enlarged European Union* (2004), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/publications/2005/ke6204389\_en.html.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children:* A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

Holtmaat, Rikki, Catalysts for Change? Equality Bodies According to Directive 2000/43/EC—Existence, Independence, and Effectiveness (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3642.html.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Network Public Health Program/Open Society Institute, *Mediating Romani Health: Policy and Program Opportunities* (2005), available at http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/roma/articles\_publications/publications/romanihealth\_20051201.

Public Interest Law Initiative, Separate and Unequal: Combating Discrimination against Roma in Education. A Source Book (2004), available at http://www.pili.org/en/content/view/350/53/.

Ringold, Dena et al., *Roma in an Expanding Europe: Breaking the Poverty Cycle* (Washington, D.C.: The World Bank, 2004), available at http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/wb/1489/2004/0000001/0000001/art00001.

UNDP, At Risk: Roma and the Displaced in Southeast Europe (2006), available at http://europeandcis.undp.org/?menu=p cms/show&content id=A3C29ADB-F203-1EE9-BB0A277C80C5F9F2.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

United Nations, Millenium Development Goals (2000), available at http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/.

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Romania, Bulgaria, and Macedonia (With a Supplement on Housing in the Czech Republic) (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

#### **BULGARIA**

"Amalipe" Center for Interethnic Dialogue and Tolerance, *The Roma Strategies in Bulgaria on the Eve of EU Accession* (2006), available at http://www.osce.org/documents/odihr/2006/10/21538\_en.pdf. [This publication was one of the primary sources for the DecadeWatch country report on Bulgaria.]

Angelov, Georgi and Bogdaov, Luchezar, "The Intergration of Roma in Bulgaria: The Necessary Reforms and Their Econimic Effects" (forthcoming paper).

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html.

Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, Five Years Later: Non-Governmental Projects of Desegregation of Roma Education in Bulgaria (2006), available at http://www.bghelsinki.org/index.php?module=resources&lg=en&id=330.

De Koning, Jaap et al., Mid-Term Evaluation of the Program From Social Assistance to Employment (2005, unpublished).

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Equal Access to Quality Education for Roma, Volume 1: Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Serbia* (2007), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/roma\_education/report/vol1.pdf.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Rights of People with Intellectual Disabilities: Access to Education and Employment—Bulgaria* (2005), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/inteldis/reports/national/bulgaria/id\_bul.pdf.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children: A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

Global Fund to Fight Aids, Tuberculosis and Malaria, Bulgaria project information available at http://www.theglobalfund.org/programs/countrysite.aspx?lang=en&CountryId=BUL.

Government of Bulgaria, Decade Action Plan, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Government of Bulgaria, Framework Program for Equal Integration of Roma in Bulgarian Society, available under "Basic Documents" at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/en/index.html.

Government of Bulgaria, *National Housing Strategy*, available in Bulgarian at http://www.mrrb.government.bg/doctypes.php?P=5&;T=17.

Government of Bulgaria, *National Program for Improving the Living Conditions of Roma in Bulgaria*, available under "Basic Documents" at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/en/index.html.

Government of Bulgaria, *National Program for Improving the Living Conditions of Ethnic Minorities in Urban Areas*, available at http://www.undp.bg/publications.php?id=1498.

Government of Bulgaria, *Operational Program "Human Resources Development" 2007-2013*, available in Bulgarian at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/index.html.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Law on Protection Against Discrimination, available under "Basic Documents" at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/en/index.html.

Ministry of Education and Science, *Regulations of the Center for Educational Integration*, available in Bulgarian at http://www.minedu.government.bg/opencms/opencms/left\_menu/documents/regulations/.

Ministry of Education and Science, *Strategy for Educational Integration of Children and Students from Ethnic Minorities*, available under "Basic Documents" at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/en/index.html.

Ministry of Education, *National Program for the Development of School Education and Pre-School Upbringing and Instruction*, 2006–2015, available in Bulgarian at http://bglog.net/Obrazovanie/6778.

Ministry of Health, Health Strategy Concerning People in Disadvantaged Positions Belonging to Ethnic Minorities and associated 2005–2007 Action Plan, available under "Basic Documents" at http://www.ncedi.government.bg/en/index.html.

Ministry of Health, *Letter Regarding the Employment of Health Mediators* (number 08-00-34 from 26 February 2007) to 28 Municipalities in Bulgaria.

Ministry of Labor and Social Policy, *From Social Assistance to Employment*, available in Bulgarian at http://www.az.government.bg/Projects/Prog/NPSPZ/Frame\_SPomZaet.htm.

Ministry of Labor and Social Policy, National Employment Plan 2006.

Network Public Health Program/Open Society Institute, *Mediating Romani Health: Policy and Program Opportunities* (2005), available at http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/roma/articles\_publications/publications/romanihealth 20051201.

Nounev, Yosif, "Analysis of the Current Status of Schools with Roma Enrolment," in *Strategies for Policy in Science and Education, Special issue 2002.* 

Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education of Roma in Bulgaria* (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund. hu/.

USAID, *The Labor Market in Bulgaria 2001–2007*, project information available at http://bulgaria.usaid.gov/labor-market-project/page.html.

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Romania, Bulgaria, and Macedonia (With a Supplement on Housing in the Czech Republic) (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

#### **CROATIA**

Act on Education in the Language and Script of National Minorities in the Republic of Croatia ("Zakon o odgoju i obrazovanju na jeziku i pismu nacionalnih manjina") OG 51/2000.

Act on the Use of the Language and Script of National Minorities in the Republic of Croatia ("Zakon o uporabi jezika i pisma nacionalnih manjina u Republici Hrvatskoj") OG 51/2000.

Amendments to the Law on Obligatory Health Insurance in Official Gazette 118/2006 from 2 November 2006.

Amnesty International, False Starts: The Exclusion of Romani Children from Primary Education in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia and Slovenia (2006), available at http://web.amnesty.org/library/Index/ENGEUR05002200 6?open&of=ENG-HRV.

Banovac, Boris, "Ethnic Distance and Social (Dis)integration of Local Communities," in *Sociological Review* 1-2/2006.

Constitutional Act on the Rights of National Minorities ("Ustavni zakon o pravima nacionalnih manjina") OG 155/2002.

Croatian Employment Bureau, Measures From the Yearly Plan for Stimulation of Employment for the Year 2006 According to National Program for Roma and Action Plan of Decade for Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 (2006), available at http://www.hzz.hr/default.aspx?id=5063.

Croatian Employment Bureau, Report on implementation of National Program for Roma and Action Plan of Decade for Roma Inclusion 2005–2015 (unpublished, 2006).

Education Support Program/ Open Society Institute, *Monitoring Education for Roma: A Statistical Baseline for Central, Eastern, and South Eastern Europe* (2006), available from http://www.soros.org/initiatives/esp/articles\_publications/publications/monitoring\_20061218.

European Commission Against Racism and Intolerance, *Third Report on Croatia* (2004), available at http://www.coe.int/t/e/human\_rights/ecri/1-ecri/2-country-by-country\_approach/Croatia/.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Rights of People with Intellectual Disabilities: Access to Education and Employment—Croatia* (2005), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/inteldis/.

European Roma Rights Center, Shadow Report Submitted to the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women Concerning the Situation of Romani Women in the Republic of Croatia (2005), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2136.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

Government of Croatia, Decade Action Plan, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Government of Croatia, *Decade Action Plan 2005*, available in Croatian at http://www.vlada.hr/nacionalniprogram-romi/apdzr\_O05.htm.

Government of Croatia, Decade of Roma Inclusion information available at http://www.vlada.hr/nacionalniprogramromi/apdzr.htm.

Government of Croatia, *National Program for Roma* (2003), available at http://www.vlada.hr/default.asp?gl= 200304100000003.

Government of Croatia, Report from the Workshop on the Preparation of the Draft Action Plan on Education in the Frame of the Decade of Roma Inclusion in Republic of Croatia, Varazdinske Toplice, September 13-14, 2004, available at http://info.worldbank.org/etools/docs/library/64474/REPORT%20on%20Education%20workshop.doc.

Government of Croatia, *Reports from the meetings of the Commission for Monitoring Implementation of the National Program*, available from http://www.vlada.hr/nacionalniprogramromi/npzrsjednice.htm.

HINA, "Posebni razredi za Rome nisu neustavni" in Metro Express from 2 February 2007.

Institute for the Development of Education, "Conclusions of Symposium 'The Role of the Human Right to Education in Democratising Croatian Higher Education'" (2006), available at http://www.iro.hr/pno/simpozij.php.

Kusan, Lovorka and Zoon, Ina, Report on Roma Access to Employment (2004).

Kusan, Lovorka, Report About the Position of Roma in Croatia (Zagreb: Croatian Law Center, 2005).

Law on Health Protection of Foreigners, OG 114/1997.

Law on Health Protection, OG 121/2003.

Law on Mediation in Employment, OG 32/2002.

Law on Obligatory Health Insurance, OG 85/2006.

Liegeois, Jean-Pierre and Gheorghe, Nicolae, *Romal Gypsies: A European Minority* (London: Minority Rights Group, 1995).

Mesic, Milan and Baranovic, Branislava, "National Minority Education in Croatia," in Genov, Nikolai (editor), Ethnicity and Educational Policies in South Eastern Europe (Munster: LIT, 2005).

Ministry of Science, Education, and Sport, Odluka o elementima i kriterijima za izbor kandidata za upis u srednje skole ("Decision on the Elements and Criteria for Selection of Candidates for Enrolment in Secondary School") from 4 April 2006.

Ministry of Science, Education, and Sport, *Report for on Decade Implementation 2005-2006*, made available to the authors in Croatian (2006, unpublished).

Ministry of Science, Education, and Sport, Za Hrvatsku pismenost—put do pozeljne buducnosti—Desetljece pismenosti u Hrvatskoj 2003-2012 ("For Croatian Literacy—a Road to Desirable Future—Decade of Literacy in Croatia 2003-2012").

Ministry of Health and Social Work, Report to Office for National Minorities on Implementation of National Program for Roma and Action Plan of Decade for Roma Inclusion (unpublished, 2006).

Munjin, Bojan, "Romani Potemkin's Villages," in *ZamirZine* May 18, 2005, available from http://www.zamirzine.net/spip.php?article2335.

Office for National Minorities, *Draft Report on the Implementation of the Action Plan of Decade for Roma Inclusion for the Year 2005 and the First Nine Months of the Year 2006* (unpublished, 2006).

Office for National Minorities, *Draft Report on the Implementation of the National Program for Roma for the Years 2004 and 2005* (unpublished, 2006).

Open Society Institute–Croatia, Roma Education Pilot-Project Beli Manastir: Report of the Evaluation and Monitoring Team for the Academic year 2004 / 2005 (2005).

Pokos, Nenad, "A Demographic Analysis of the Roma Based on the Central Bureau of Statistics Data," in Stambuk, *How do Croatian Roma Live?* (2005).

Roma Education Fund, *Needs Assessment for the Roma Education Fund: Background Paper—Croatia*, (2004), available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTROMA/Resources/NAReportFinalCroatia.pdf.

Roma Education Fund, Situation in the Area of Roma Education and Working Strategy of Roma Education Fund (unpublished draft 2007).

Stambuk, Maja (editor), How Do Croatian Roma Live (Zabgreb: Institute of Social Sciences "Ivo Pilar," 2005).

State Budget of the Republic of Croatia for 2005 ("Drzavni proracun Republike Hrvatske za 2005 godinu") OG 171/2004.

State Budget of the Republic of Croatia for 2006 ("Drzavni proracun Republike Hrvatske za 2006 godinu") OG 148/2005.

Strategic Marketing Research, Draft Research on Attitudes towards Roma in Croatia (unpublished).

UNDP, At Risk: Roma and the Displaced in Southeast Europe (2006), available at http://europeandcis.undp.org/?menu=p\_cms/show&content\_id=A3C29ADB-F203-1EE9-BB0A277C80C5F9F2.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

UNDP, Human Development Report Croatia 2006—Unplugged: Faces of Social Exclusion in Croatia (Zagreb, 2006).

Uzelac, Slobodan et al., *Struktura romskih obitelji i poimanje sadrzaja roditeljstva u njima* (Zagreb: Croatian Bureau for Protection of Family, Motherhood and Youth, 2002).

Zoon, Ina, Report on Obstacles Facing the Roma Minority of Croatia in Accessing Citizenship, Housing, Health and Social Assistance Rights, available at http://www.coe.int/t/dg3/romatravellers/stabilitypact/activities/Croatia/housing andsocialrights2002\_en.asp.

#### CZECH REPUBLIC

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html

Dzeno Association, *Forced Out: The Problem of Roma Evictions in Europe* (2006), available at http://www.dzeno.cz/docs/Evictions\_Report\_Eng.doc.

Dzeno Association, The Position of Roma in Economy (2005), available at http://www.dzeno.cz/?r\_id=234.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Rights of People with Intellectual Disabilities: Access to Education and Employment—Czech Republic* (2005), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/inteldis/.

European Network Against Racism, *Shadow Report 2005: Racism in the Czech Republic*, available at http://www.enareu.org/en/national/czechrep/Czech\_Republic\_2005.pdf.

European Roma Rights Centre, *Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe* (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children: A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

Gabal Analysis and Consulting, Analysis of Socially Excluded Roma Localities and Communities and the Absorbtion Capacity of Subjects Operating in the Field (2006), available in Czech at http://www.esfcr.cz/mapa/index.html and http://www.gac.cz/documents/brozura\_4.pdf.

Government of the Czech Republic, *Concept for Roma Integration in the Czech Republic*, available at http://www.mzv.cz/wwwo/mzv/default.asp?ido=12754&idj=2&amb=1&trid=1&prsl=&pocc1=5.

Government of the Czech Republic, *Decade Action Plan*, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php? content=1.

Government of the Czech Republic, *Report on the Decade Implementation in 2005*, available in Czech at http://www.vlada.cz/cs/rvk/rzrk/dekadaromskeinkluze/zprava2005/default.html.

Government of the Czech Republic, *Report on the Decade Implementation in 2006*, available in Czech at http://www.vlada.cz/scripts/detail.php?id=22727.

Government of the Czech Republic, *Report on the Situation of Romani Communities in 2006*, available in Czech at http://www.vlada.cz/scripts/detail.php?id=20262.

Government of the Czech Republic, Seventh Periodic Report to the UN Committee for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (2006), available at http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/(Symbol)/e914200cf95623bcc12571980060 f682?Opendocument.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Information about the Decade of Roma Inclusion available in Czech at http://www.vlada.cz/cs/rvk/rzrk/dekadarom-skeinkluze/cojedekada/default.html.

Kerecek, Stanislav, "Roma and Relevant Questions of the Dwelling Law," available in Czech in Socioklub, *Romove ve meste* (Prague: Socioklub, 2002).

Krecek, Stanislav, "The Brief Course of the Occupational Law," available in Czech in Socioklub, *Romove, bydleni, souziti* (Prague: Socioklub, 2000).

Machova, Hana, "The Most Frequent Issues in Occupational Dwelling," available in Czech in Socioklub, *Romove, bydleni, souziti* (Prague: Socioklub, 2000).

Janeckova et al., "The State of Health of Romany Population in the Czech Republic," available in *Central European Journal of Public Heath* 3/8/2000.

Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, *Early Childhood Education Concept*, available in Czech at http://www.msmt.cz/vzdelavani/koncepc.

Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, *Long-Term Strategy for Educational Development in the Czech Republic*, available in Czech from http://www.msmt.cz/files/PDF/JTDlouhodobyzamer05\_appx.pdf.

Ombudsman of the Czech Republic, *Report on the Coercive Sterilisation of Romani Women in the Czech Republic*, available at http://www.ochrance.cz/documents/doc1135861291.pdf.

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in the Czech Republic: Country Assessment and the Roma Education Fund's Strategic Directions (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

School Act 561 from 2004 on Preschool, Basic, Secondary, Tertiary Professional and Other Education, available in Czech at http://www.sagit.cz/pages/sbirkatxt.asp?zdroj=sb04561&cd=76&typ=r.

Socioklub, Romove ve meste (Prague: Socioklub, 2002).

Socioklub, Romove, bydelni, souziti (Prague: Socioklub, 2000).

STEM Trendy, Informace z vyzkumu 4 (2006), available from http://www.stem.cz/clanek/1112.

UN Committee for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, *Concluding Observations and Recommendation to the Czech Republic*, available at http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cerd/docs/CERD.C.CZE.CO.7.pdf.

UNDP, *Tvare chudoby, tvare nadeje* (2005), available at http://www.vlada.cz/assets/cs/rvk/rzrk/dekadaromskein-kluze/vyzkumundp/v\_zkum\_undp\_ceska\_republika.doc.

Winkler, Jan et al., Analysis of the Needs of Roma Integration on Czech Labour Market, (2004), unpublished research report in Czech available from the Governmental Council of Roma Community Affairs.

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Romania, Bulgaria, and Macedonia (With a Supplement on Housing in the Czech Republic) (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

#### HUNGARY

Act CXXV of 1993 Equal Treatment and Equal Opportunities, available with subsequent moditifications at http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/E.C.12.HUN.3-Annex3.pdf.

Act LXIII of 1992 on the Protection of Personal Data and Public Access to Data of Public Interest, available with subsequent modifications at http://abiweb.obh.hu/dpc/index.htm.

Act LXXIX of 1993 on Public Education, available with subsequent modifications at http://www.okm.gov.hu/letolt/nemzet/naric/kozokttv\_angol.pdf.

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html.

Berliner Institut fur Vergleichende Sozialforschung, Economic Aspects of the Condition of Roma Women (2006).

Bodrogi, Bea and Danka, Anita, "Litigating Discrimination in Access to Employment in Hungary," in *Roma Rights* 1/2006, available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2542&archiv=1.

Debrecen University School of Public Health, Telepek and Telepszeru Lakohelyek: A KKF-1281/2002 szamu palyazat kutatasi beszamoloja a Kornyezetvedelmi Miniszterium Kornyezetbiztonsagi es Kornyezetegeszseguyi Foosztalya szamara (2004).

Delphoi Consulting, *Differences in Access to Primary Healthcare: Structures, Equal Opportunities and Prejudice* (2003), available from http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2017&archiv=1.

Education Support Program/ Open Society Institute, *Monitoring Education for Roma: A Statistical Baseline for Central, Eastern, and South Eastern Europe* (2006), available from http://www.soros.org/initiatives/esp/articles\_publications/publications/monitoring\_20061218.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Equal Access to Quality Education for Roma, Volume 1: Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Serbia* (2007), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/roma\_education/report/vol1.pdf.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Rights of People with Intellectual Disabilities: Access to Education and Employment—Hungary* (2005), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/inteldis/.

European Commission, *The Situation of Roma in an Enlarged European Union* (2004), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/publications/2005/ke6204389\_en.html.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, *Housing Rights in Hungary* (2005), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk =2247&archiv=1.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children:* A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

Farkas, Lilla, "Will the Groom Adopt the Bride's Unwanted Child? The Race Equality Directive, Hungary and its Roma," in *Roma Rights 1-2/2003*, available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1386&archiv=1.

Government of Hungary, *Draft Decade Action Plan*, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Government of Hungary, Government Program to Promote the Social Inclusion of Roma and Its Related Measures, Governmental Decree 1021/2004 (III,18), available in Hungarian at http://www.kulugyminiszterium.hu/kum/en/bal/Ministry/departments/Dr\_Marta\_Fekszi\_secretary/laszlo\_szoke\_state\_sec/human\_rights.htm.

Government of Hungary, *Light Update of the First Hungarian National Action Plan on Social Inclusion 2004–2006*, available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/docs/2005/hu\_en\_pdf.

Government of Hungary, *National Action Plan for Employment 2004*, available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/employment\_strategy/nap\_2004/nap2004hu\_en.pdf.

Government of Hungary, *National Development Plan 2004–2006*, available at http://www.rec.hu/sdconference/doc/NDP\_Hungary.pdf.

Government of Hungary, *Revised National Lisbon Action Programme for Growth and Employment 2006*, available at http://www.lex.unict.it/eurolabor/documentazione/altridoc/pnr2006/Ungheria06.pdf.

Holtmaat, Rikki, Catalysts for Change? Equality Bodies According to Directive 2000/43/EC—Existence, Independence, and Effectiveness (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3642.html.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Kadet, Erno, "Creative Accounting: State Spending on Programmes for Roma in Hungary," in *Roma Rights* 2–3/2001, available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1748&archiv=1.

Ministry of Economy and Transportation, A hazai roma mikro-, kis-, es kozepvallalkozasok piaci eselyeit es verseny-kepesseget javito fejlesztesek es beruhazasok tamogatas, available at http://www.gkm.gov.hu/feladataink/kkv/tamforras.

Ministry of Economy and Transportation, *A roma valallkozasfejlesztesert – eredmenyek es tervek* (2005), available at http://www.gkm.gov.hu/sajtoszoba/sajtoanyagok/2005\_evi/2005november/roma\_vallalk.html?query=Roma.

Ministry of Education, *Decree 2/2005*, available in Hungarian at http://www.magyarorszag.hu/kereses/jogsza-balykereso.

Ministry of Education, Statistical Yearbook of Education (2006), available at http://www.om.hu.

Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor, *Interim Evaluation Report of the Housing and Social Integration Program (HSIP)* in Hungary: A Learning Analysis of First Outputs and Results (2006).

Ministry of Social Affairs and Labor, *National Strategy Report on Social Affairs and Social Inclusion 2006–2008*, available at www.szmm.gov.hu/download.php?ctag=download&docID=13845.

Mohacsi, Viktoria, "Government Initiatives: Hungary's School Integration Program," in Public Interest Law Initiative, *Separate and Unequal: Combating Discrimination against Roma in Education. A Source Book* (2004), available at http://www.pili.org/en/content/view/350/53/.

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in Hungary (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

Roma Education Fund, *Expected Long-Term Budgetary Benefits to Roma Education in Hungary* (2006), available at http://www.itweb.hu/partners/RomaEducationFund/documents/Kertesi-Kezdi-BudgetaryBenefits.pdf.

Szendrely, Orsolya, *Short Summary of the Hungarian Educational Integration/Desegregation Programme* (2005), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

# **MACEDONIA**

European Roma Rights Centre, *Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe* (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre and National Roma Centrum, Written Comments of the European Roma Rights Centre and the National Roma Centrum Concerning the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/db/01/EE/m000001EE.pdf.

Foundation Open Society Institute–Macedonia, *Annual Report 2005*, available at http://www.osim.cg.yu/fosi\_rom\_en/english/a\_report\_2005.htm.

Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, *Grant Performance Report MKD-506-G02-T* (2007), available at http://www.theglobalfund.org/search/docs/5MKDT\_1136\_449\_gpr.pdf.

Government of Macedonia, Decade Action Plan, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Government of Macedonia, Program for Building and Maintaining of Flats in Possession of Republic of Macedonia (2006).

Law for Buildings and Construction, in Official Gazette of the Republic of Macedonia 51/2005.

Law on Primary Education, in Official Gazette of the Republic of Macedonia 55/2005 and 81/2005.

Macedonian Center for International Cooperation, Progress Report 2001–2005 (2006).

Ministry of Labor and Social Policy, Operative Plans for the Decade of Roma Inclusion for 2006–2008, available in Macedonian at http://www.mtsp.gov.mk/proekti/Operativen\_obrazovanie.xls, http://www.mtsp.gov.mk/proekti/Operativen\_zdravstvo.xls, http://www.mtsp.gov.mk/proekti/Operativen\_vrabotuvanje.xls, and http://www.mtsp.gov.mk/proekti/Operativen\_domuvanje.xls.

Ministry of Labor and Social Policy, *Strategy for Roma in the Republic of Macedonia* (2004), available at http://www.ecmirom.org/dawnload/Roma%20Strategy%20English.pdf.

Minority Rights Group International, *Micro Study: Policies for Improvement of the Employment of Roma in Macedonia* (2005), available at http://www.minorityrights.org/admin/Download/pdf/RomaMacedoniaMicro2005.pdf.

National Employment Agency, *Review of Unemployed Persons by National Background* (2006), available in Macedonian at http://http://www.avrm.gov.mk.

Roma 2002, Strategy for the Development of the Roma Community (2004), available in Macedonian at http://www.rnvoroma2002.org.mk/index.php.

Roma 2002, Strategy for the Development of the Roma NGO Sector (2002).

Roma Education Fund, *Advancing Education of Roma in Macedonia* (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund. hu/.

UNDP, At Risk: Roma and the Displaced in Southeast Europe (2006), available at http://europeandcis.undp.org/?menu=p\_cms/show&content\_id=A3C29ADB-F203-1EE9-BB0A277C80C5F9F2.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

World Bank, *Needs Assessment Study for the Roma Education Fund, Background Paper, Republic of Macedonia* (2004), available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTROMA/Resources/NAReportFinalMacedonia.pdf.

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Romania, Bulgaria, and Macedonia (With a Supplement on Housing in the Czech Republic) (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

# **MONTENEGRO**

Bodewig, Christian and Sethi, Akshay, *Poverty, Social Exclusion and Ethnicity in Serbia and Montenegro: The Case of the Roma* (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2005), available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTROMA/Resources/SAM\_Roma\_Poverty\_Discussion\_Paper.pdf.

Centre for Roma Initiatives, *Research on the Position of Roma Women in Niksic* (2005), available at http://www.osim.cg.yu/fosi\_rom\_en/download/research\_roma\_nk.pdf.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

Government of Montenegro, Decade Action Plan, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Government of Montenegro, *Economic Reforms Agenda*, available at http://www.vlada.cg.yu/eng/biblioteka.php?key= &row=30.

Government of Montenegro, *National Action Plan for Children's Rights* (2005), available at http://www.vlada.cg.yu/eng/minrada/vijesti.php?akcija=rubrika&rubrika=51.

Government of Montenegro, *National Action Plan on Housing Policy* (2005), details available at http://enhr2006-ljubljana.uirs.si/publish/W02\_Radulovic.pdf.

Government of Serbia and Montenegro, *Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper* (2003), available at http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2004/cr04120.pdf.

International Committee of the Red Cross, *The Situation of Internally Displaced Persons in Serbia and Montenegro–Issues Paper* (2005), available at http://www.icrc.org/Web/eng/siteeng0.nsf/htmlall/serbia-montenegro-displaced-310505/\$File/icrc-serbia-montenego-idp-issues-05-2005-eng.pdf.

International Committee of the Red Cross, *The Situation of Internally Displaced Persons in Serbia and Montenegro—Household Economy Assessment* (2005), available at http://www.icrc.org/Web/eng/siteeng0.nsf/htmlall/serbia-montenegro-displaced-310505/\$File/feg-hea-serbia-montenego-04-2005.pdf.

ISSP (Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses) and UNDP, *Household Survey of Roma, Ashkaelia and Egyptians, Refugees and Internally Displaced People* (2003), available at http://www2.undp.org.yu/montenegro/files/reports/Household%20Survey%20ISSP\_UNDP\_eng.pdf.

Law on Building Constructions, details available at http://enhr2006-ljubljana.uirs.si/publish/W02\_Radulovic.pdf.

Law on Employment of Foreigners, available at http://www.gom.cg.yu/files/1175075336.pdf.

Law on Employment, available at http://www.gom.cg.yu/.

Permanent Mission of Serbia and Montenegro to the OSCE, *Creation of the Secretariat for Roma National Strategy of Serbia and Montenegro*, project details available at http://tandis.odihr.pl/index.php?p=country,scg,pi.

Roma Education Initiative/Open Society Institute, *Final Report* (2006), available at http://www.soros.org/initiatives/esp/articles\_publications/publications/reifinal\_20070116.

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in Montenegro: Country Assessment and the Roma Education Fund's Strategic Directions (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

UNDP, At Risk: Roma and the Displaced in Southeast Europe (2006), available at http://europeandcis.undp.org/?menu=p\_cms/show&content\_id=A3C29ADB-F203-1EE9-BB0A277C80C5F9F2.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

UNHCR/UN OCHA, Analysis of the Situation of Internally Displaced Persons from Kosovo in Serbia and Montenegro: Law and Practice. A Legal Analysis prepared by the IDP Interagency Working Group, Belgrade (2004), available at http://www.unhcr.org/home/RSDLEGAL/42120e554.pdf.

UNICEF Montenegro, *Research on Inclusion of Roma Children in the Educational System* (2006), available at http://www.sosnk.org/site\_files/1157281246.pdf.

## **ROMANIA**

Andruszkiewicz, Maria, School Desegregation—Progress and Challenges; Experiences from PHARE 2003 "Access to Education for Disadvantaged Groups" Project, available as Desegregarea scolilor—progrese si provocari. Experientele Programului PHARE 2003: "Access la educatie pentru grupurile dezavantajate" (2006) at http://www.edu.ro/index.php/articles/6758.

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html

Centre for Health Policies and Services, *The Health Status of the Roma Population and Its Access to Health Services*, edited by Cace, Sorin and Vladescu, Constantin (Bucharest: Expert Publishing House, 2004).

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Equal Access to Quality Education for Roma, Volume 1: Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Serbia* (2007), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/roma\_education/report/vol1.pdf.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children:* A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

Focus Consultancy, Assessment of the Roma Strategy Implementation Mechanism, Evaluation Report (2005), available at http://www.anr.gov.ro/docs/rapoarte/Focus\_Final\_Evaluation\_Report\_181.pdf.

Gergely, Dezideriu, "Anti-discrimination Legislation in Romania: Moving Toward Enforcement and Implementation," in Public Interest Law Initiative, *Separate and Unequal: Combating Discrimination against Roma in Education. A Source Book* (2004), available at http://www.pili.org/en/content/view/350/53/.

Government of Romania, *Decade Action Plan* (2004), draft available at http://www.romadecade.com/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_download&gid=15.

Government of Romania, European Commission, *Joint Memorandum on Social Inclusion of Romania* (2005), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/social\_inclusion/docs/jim\_ro\_en.pdf.

Government of Romania, *National Anti-Poverty and Social Inclusion Plan* (2002), available as *Planul National Anti-Saracie si Promovare a Incluziunii Sociale* at http://www.guv.ro/obiective/afis-index-diversedoc-arh.php?idrubrica=2.

Government of Romania, *National Employment Plan* available as *Strategia Nationala pentru ocuparea fortei de munca 2004-2010* at http://www.mmssf.ro/website/ro/legi/ocupare.jsp.

Government of Romania, *National Strategy to Improve the Status of Roma in Romania* (2001, amended 2006), available at http://www.anr.gov.ro/site/Politici\_Publice.html.

Holtmaat, Rikki, Catalysts for Change? Equality Bodies According to Directive 2000/43/EC—Existence, Independence, and Effectiveness (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3642.html.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Ionescu, Mariea and Cace, Sorin, Employment Policies for Roma (Bucharest: Expert Publishing House, 2006).

Ionescu, Mariea and Cace, Sorin, *Public Policies for Roma. Evolutions and Perspectives*, (2006), available at http://www.anr.gov.ro/docs/Publicatii/Public\_policies\_for\_roma.pdf.

Ministry of Education and Research, *Notification 29323 of 20 April 2004 on Banning the Segregation of Roma*, available as *Notificarea 29323 din 20 aprilie 2004 privind interzicerea segregarii romilor* at http://www.edu.ro/index.php/met\_rep\_reg\_ins\_etc/3449.

Ministry of Education and Research, *PHARE Program for Access to Education for Disadvantaged Groups*, available as *PHARE RO: Accessl la educatie pentru grupurile dezavantajate* at http://www.edu.ro/index.php/articles/c115.

Ministry of Education and Research, *School Participation of Roma Children: Problems, Solutions, Actors*, available as *Participarea la educatie a copiilor romi*—*probleme, solutii, actori* (Bucharest: Marlink Publishing House, 2002).

Ministry of Transportation, Construction and Tourism, *Housing and Environment Plans of Action 2006*, available as *Politica privind amenajarea teritoriului: Plan de actiuni pentru anul 2006* at http://www.mt.ro/.

National Agency for Roma, Progress Report on the Implementation of the Government Strategy for Improving the Situation of Roma, April 2003–June 2005, available as Raport privind progresele inregistrate in implementarea Strategiei Guvernului de imbunatatire a situatiei romilor in perioada aprilie 2003 iunie 2005 (2005) at http://www.anr.gov.ro/site/Rapoarte.html.

National Agency for Roma, *The Decade of Roma Inclusion—One Year of Romanian Presidency July 2005–June 2006*, available at http://www.anr.gov.ro/docs/Raport\_un\_an\_de\_Presedentie-deceniu%20\_(en).pdf.

Network Public Health Program/Open Society Institute, *Mediating Romani Health: Policy and Program Opportunities* (2005), available at http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/roma/articles\_publications/publications/romanihealth 20051201.

Open Society Foundation–Romania, *Roma Inclusion Barometer* (2007), available at http://www.osf.ro/en/publicatii. php.

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in Romania (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

Romani CRISS, Report on Educational Segregation in Cehei, available as Romani CRISS vs. Inspectoratul Scolar Judetean Salaj si Scoala Cehei—Simleul Silvaniei: Separarea copiilor romi in scoala romaneasca, at http://www.romanicriss.org/pdf/CRISS%20vs.%20ISJ%20Salaj.pdf.

Surdu, Mihai, "School Segregation and Social Reproduction of Inequalities" available as "Segregare scolara si reproducerea sociala a inegalitatilor" in *O Noua Provocare: Dezvoltarea Sociala* (Iasi: Polirom Publishing House, 2006).

Weber, Renate, Report on Measures to Combat Discrimination (2003), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/infopages/2216.html.

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Romania, Bulgaria, and Macedonia (With a Supplement on Housing in the Czech Republic) (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

# **SERBIA**

Antic, Petar, Roma and the Right to Health Care in Serbia (Belgrade: Minority Rights Centre, 2005).

Bodewig, Christian and Sethy, Akshay, *Poverty, Social Exclusion and Ethnicity in Serbia and Montenegro: The Case of the Roma* (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2005), available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTROMA/Resources/SAM\_Roma\_Poverty\_Discussion\_Paper.pdf.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Equal Access to Quality Education for Roma, Volume 1: Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Serbia* (2007), available at http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/roma\_education/report/vol1.pdf.

European Roma Rights Centre, Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

Government of Serbia, *Decade Action Plan*, available at http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Jaksic, Bodizar and Basic, Goran, *The Art of Survival: Where and How Roma Live in Serbia* (Belgrade: Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory, 2005).

Law on Employment and Insurance in Case of Unemployment, available in Serbian at http://www.minrzs.sr.gov.yu/cir/indexh.php?iduser=1&path=homepage.

Law on Planning and Construction, available in Serbian from http://www.mki.sr.gov.yu/.

Law on the Protection of Rights and Liberties of National Minorities, available at http://www.humanrights.gov.yu/eng-lish/dokumenta/index.htm.

Mihaljlovic, M., *Needs Assessment Study for the Roma Education Fund: Serbia* (2004), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

Ministry of Capital Investments, *Guiding Principles for the Legalisation of Roma Settlements*, available in Serbian from http://www.mki.sr.gov.yu/.

Ministry of Human and Minority Rights and Ethnicity Research Centre, *Roma Settlements, Living Conditions and Possibilities for Integration of Roma People in Serbia* (2002), available at http://www.humanrights.gov.yu/english/dokumenta/index.htm.

Ministry of Human and Minority Rights, *National Strategy for the Integration and Empowerment of Roma*, available at http://www.humanrights.gov.yu/english/sektori/manjinska/roma/strategija/nacrt-strategije/strategy.htm.

Ministry of Human and Minority Rights, *National Strategy for the Integration and Empowerment of Roma*, available at http://www.humanrights.gov.yu/english/sektori/manjinska/roma/strategija/nacrt-strategije/strategy.htm.

Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy, *National Action Plan for Employment 2006–2008*, available at http://www.espserbia.org/eng/capacity.htm#NEAP.

Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy, *National Employment Strategy 2005–2010*, available in Serbian at http://www.minrzs.sr.gov.yu/cir/indexh.php?iduser=1&path=homepage.

Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy, *Work Plan for the National Employment Service*, available in Serbian at http://www.minrzs.sr.gov.yu/cir/indexh.php?iduser=1&path=homepage.

Minority Rights Center and Argument, Roma and the Right to Legal Subjectivity (Belgrade 2006).

Minority Rights Center, Yearly Report League for the Decade 2006 (Belgrade, 2007).

Oxfam, *Health Status, Health Needs and Utilisation of Health Services of Roma Population (2001)*, project information available at http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/rwb.nsf/db900SID/ACOS-64DDLC?OpenDocument.

Permanent Mission of Serbia and Montenegro to the OSCE, *Creation of the Secretariat for Roma National Strategy of Serbia and Montenegro*, project details available at http://tandis.odihr.pl/index.php?p=country,scg,pi.

Rakocevic, N. and Miljevic, A., Roma and Education (Belgrade: Roma Children's Center, 2003).

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in Serbia (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/.

# **SLOVAKIA**

Bell, Mark et al., Comparative Analysis: Developing Anti-Discrimination Law in Europe (2006), available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/documents/3640.html.

EUMAP/Open Society Institute, *Rights of People with Intellectual Disabilities: Access to Education and Employment—Slovakia* (2005), available at http://www.eumap.org/group1/silva2/topics/inteldis/index.

European Roma Rights Centre, *Ambulance Not on the Way: The Disgrace of Health Care for Roma in Europe* (2006), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2632.

European Roma Rights Centre, Stigmata: Segregated Schooling of Roma in Central and Eastern Europe. A Survey of Patterns of Segregated Education of Roma in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia (2004), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=1892.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Glass Box: Exclusion of Roma from Employment* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2727.

European Roma Rights Centre, *The Impact of Legislation and Policies on School Segregation of Romani Children: A Study of Anti-Discrimination Law and Government Measures to Eliminate Segregation in Education in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia* (2007), available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2743.

European Roma Rights Centre, Written Comments Concerning the Slovak Republic for Consideration by the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, available at http://www.errc.org/cikk.php?cikk=2138.

Government of the Slovak Republic, *Decade Action Plan*, available http://www.romadecade.org/index.php?content=1.

Human European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, *Comparative Analyses on National Measures to Combat Discrimination*, edited by McColgan, Aileen et al. (2006), available at http://ec.europa.eu/employment\_social/fundamental\_rights/pdf/pubst/stud/mapstrand1\_en.pdf.

Institute for Public Affairs, *Sociographic Mapping of Roma Communities in Slovakia*, project details available at http://www.ivo.sk/buxus/generate\_page.php?page\_id=3835.

Overview of PHARE Projects, available at http://www.government.gov.sk/english/dokumenty\_zoznam.php3?id\_stranky=21.

Roma Education Fund, Advancing Education of Roma in Slovakia: Country Assessment and the Roma Education Fund's Strategic Directions (2007), available at http://romaeducationfund.hu/

Salner, Andrej (editor), Roma Children in Slovak Education System (Bratislava: Slovak Governance Institute, 2005).

World Bank, *The Quest of Equitable Growth in the Slovak Republic: A World Bank Living Standards Assessment, Policy Note 1* (2005), available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTSLOVAKIA/Resources/PolicyNote1.pdf.

UNDP, Faces of Poverty, Faces of Hope: Vulnerability Profiles of Roma Population in Decade of Roma Inclusion Countries (2005), available at http://vulnerability.undp.sk/.

Vasecka, Michal et al. (editors), Cacipen pal o Roma: A Global Report on Roma in Slovakia (Bratislava, Institute for Public Affairs, 2003).

Zoon, Ina, On the Margins: Roma and Public Services in Slovakia (New York: Open Society Institute, 2001).

**DecadeWatch** is the first assessment of government action to implement the commitments expressed under the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005–2015.

The Decade aims to give Roma a voice in the process of inclusion. This assessment—which reviews the period from the launch of the Decade in early 2005 until the end of 2006—has been conducted by coalitions of Roma NGOs and activists from all countries participating in the Decade.

DecadeWatch is a contribution by Roma activists toward making the Decade of Roma Inclusion a success.

DecadeWatch is supported by the Open Society Institute and the World Bank.